Signal rewiring in Met-dependent cancers

by

Yaakov Elisha Stern

A thesis in preparation for submission to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the

requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

© Yaakov E. Stern, 2020

Department of Biochemistry

McGill University

Montreal, QC, Canada

ABSTRACT

The Met receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) plays critical roles in mammalian development and physiology. Met has been shown to activate diverse intracellular signaling pathways that modulate an invasive growth program upon stimulation with its ligand, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF). The Met RTK was initially discovered as a component of an oncogenically transforming fusion protein, TPR-Met, and elevated expression of Met has been associated with advanced and aggressive breast, lung, esophagogastric, colorectal and renal cancers. Attempts to improve patient outcomes in the clinic by targeting Met activity have not, however, improved patient outcomes in the majority of cases. Retrospective analyses have identified genetic aberrations that lead to Met constitutive activation, including MET gene amplification, as predictive of patients who are most likely to respond to Met-directed therapy in a clinical setting. Most epithelial and solid cancer derived cell lines undergo cell scattering or migration and invasion upon stimulation with HGF, but constitutive Met activity in MET-amplified cell lines has been shown to drive cell proliferation. Cancer-derived cell lines carrying MET genomic amplification have thus been established as a model system for studying oncogenic signaling in Met-dependent cancers.

Heterotypic activation of other receptor tyrosine kinases has been observed in *MET*-amplified cells, particularly those of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) family. Combinatorial targeting of EGFR and Met has been proposed as a mechanism of potentiating the effects of inhibitors against either receptor on its own, and while this so far is poorly successful in the clinic, preclinical models support that crosstalk between Met and EGFR-family RTKs contributes to

cancer-associated signaling downstream of Met. The manner in which heterotypic signaling between Met and EGFR family RTKs contributes to cancer cell fitness remains unclear.

We hypothesized that elevated Met kinase activity in *MET*-amplified cells leads to signal rewiring to promote a proliferative outcome over cell migration and invasion. This was examined using a panel of *MET*-amplified cancer cell lines to show that signaling between Met and EGFR family RTKs converges on HER3, a member of the EGFR family with impaired catalytic function that is thought to act as a pseudokinase. Depletion of HER3 by RNA interference impairs proliferation and early tumour outgrowth in *MET*-amplified cells, supporting a central role for Met-HER3 signaling in *MET*-amplified and Met-dependent cancers. While canonical Met-dependent intracellular signaling pathways are not impaired by loss of HER3, we identify a novel HER3-interacting protein, MPZL3, whose expression is HER3-dependent in *MET*-amplified cancer cells. Overexpression of MPZL3 partially rescues the loss of proliferation upon HER3 depletion, and loss of MPZL3 phenocopies loss of HER3. We conclude that a contribution of HER3 to proliferation in *MET*-amplified cells proceeds through a novel MPZL3-dependent signaling mechanism.

To identify candidate Met-dependent phosphosites that could additionally contribute to proliferative signaling we used mass spectrometry-based phosphoproteomics. We have observed the Met-dependent phosphorylation of several RTK-interacting proteins not previously associated with Met signaling as well as the phosphorylation of adhesion and junctional proteins, including the MPZL3 homologue MPZL1. In this thesis we also report the development of substrate-labeling mutants of the Met receptor as a tool to discover new substrates for the Met RTK. These results support a model in which the induction of noncanonical Met-dependent signaling is critical in promoting Met-dependent oncogenesis.

RÉSUMÉ

Le récepteur tyrosine kinase Met joue un rôle fondamental dans le développement et l'homéostasie tissulaires. L'activation par son ligand, l'HGF (*hepatocyte growth factor*), induit une variété de réponses biologiques telles que la prolifération et la migration cellulaire. L'implication de Met dans la tumorigenèse a été suggérée dès sa découverte en tant que protéine chimérique issue de la fusion avec le gène *Tpr*. De plus, la surexpression de Met est observée dans les cancers du sein, du poumon, colorectal, gastrique et rénal. Diverses altérations génétiques du gène *MET* peuvent induire une telle surexpression dont l'amplification du gène lui-même, favorisant ainsi une activité kinase constitutive et indépendante de sa stimulation par son ligand. Plusieurs stratégies d'inhibition de Met ont été développées par les laboratoires pharmaceutiques, considérant la surexpression de Met est patients reste à démontrer. Étant donné que l'activité constitutive de Met est fortement associée à la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses, des modèles cellulaires dérivés de cancers où le gène *MET* est amplifié ont été développés afin de caractériser la signalisation cellulaire oncogénique régulée par Met.

Une observation de ces modèles est l'influence du dialogue entre Met et les récepteurs tyrosine kinase comme l'EGFR (*epidermal growth factor receptor*), dont les réseaux de signalisation sont très similaires. Il a été montré que l'activation de Met permet de compenser l'inhibition de l'EGFR. Par conséquent, plusieurs essais cliniques visent à évaluer la combinaison d'inhibiteurs de ces deux récepteurs. Cependant, le dialogue complexe et dynamique entre Met et les autres récepteurs tyrosine kinase est loin d'être bien compris.

Nous proposons que l'activité constitutive de Met dans les cancers arborant une amplification du gène *MET* favorise les voies de signalisation cellulaire impliquées dans la prolifération plutôt que dans la migration. Nous avons démontré que le dialogue entre Met et l'EGFR converge vers HER3, un récepteur tyrosine kinase dépourvu d'activité kinase, dans une variété de lignées cellulaires cancéreuses. En effet, l'inhibition de l'expression de HER3 par interférence à l'ARN altère la prolifération et diminue la croissance de xénogreffes de cellules cancéreuses arborant une amplification de *MET*, identifiant l'importance du dialogue Met-HER3 dans ce contexte. Bien que les voies de signalisation classiques de Met ne soient pas altérées par l'inhibition de HER3, nous avons identifié une nouvelle protéine associée à HER3, appelée MPZL3, dont l'expression est régulée par HER3 dans les cellules cancéreuses ayant une amplification du gène *MET*. De plus, nous avons démontré que la surexpression de MPZL3 permet de rétablir partiellement la prolifération cellulaire lorsque HER3 est inhibé, et que la diminution de l'expression de MPZL3 phénocopie l'inhibition de HER3. Ces résultats suggèrent que la régulation de la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses avec amplification de *MET* requiert la contribution MPZL3, un nouvel acteur dans le dialogue Met-HER3.

Afin de mieux caractériser les mécanismes impliqués dans la régulation de la prolifération par Met, nous avons réalisé une analyse du phosphoprotéome par spectrométrie de masse. Nous avons identifié la phosphorylation de plusieurs protéines associées aux récepteurs tyrosine kinase mais dont la relation avec Met n'a jamais été rapportée, incluant la protéine MPZL1 homologue de MPZL3. Nous avons développé une nouvelle approche moléculaire pour l'identification de substrats de la kinase Met basé sur le marquage par thiophosphate. Ces résultats mettent en lumière un réseau de signalisation cellulaire distinct dans un contexte d'amplification du gène *MET*, qui implique un dialogue entre Met, HER3 et MPZL3 et joue un rôle dans la prolifération des cellules cancéreuses.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Morag Park, for all of the support, motivation and scientific mentorship she has shown me over the years. I could not be the scientist I am today without the challenging but exhilarating research training I have had in your lab, and you have always pushed me to stay sharp and propel my work forward.

I would like to thank the members of my research advisory committee: Dr. Sidong Huang, who was always available to offer guidance and encouragement, and who showed me a deep sense of comradeship in research; and Dr. Bhushan Nagar, who generously opened his laboratory to me as a guest member and helped me learn how to think about my project from a biophysical angle, and who similarly always had an open door for thought-provoking discussion.

I deeply appreciate the friendship and collegial support I have received from my colleagues in the Park laboratory over the years. I have been privileged to work with fantastic scientists throughout my time as a student and have gotten to experience a diverse range of approaches to science through the changing environment of the laboratory as new people joined. I would particularly like to thank Monica Naujokas, Nancy Lateurrer, Camby Chhor and Valentina Ramos for all of your assistance as lab managers over the years—if I have helped anyone as much as each of you has helped me, I have done something right. I would like to thank Dr. Veena Sangwan for always showing an interest in my science and my thinking, and for all the mentorship and support she has offered over the years. I would like to thank Drs. Serhiy Havrylov, Pascal Peschard, Mat Gigoux, Tina Gruosso, Elena Kuzmin, Genevieve Deblois, Hellen Kuasne, and Anne-Marie Fortier for endlessly fascinating discussion, scientific expertise, friendship, encouragement and camaraderie. You have all been role models for me in many ways as a scientist and a professional, and your advice has proved invaluable in helping me navigate the world of biomedical research. Et merci beaucoup à Anne-Marie pour la traduction de mon résumé !

I would like to thank all the current graduate students in the Park laboratory for your comradeship and support over the years we have spent together. I have been very fortunate to learn from each of you, and I look forward to seeing more of your research in the future. To Tunde, thank you for your ferociously loyal friendship, and for always being there to hear about how things were going with me. To Bruce, thank you for the sharp insights and challenging questions—it is always a pleasure to hear how you see new data and ideas in science and other walks of life. Thank you both for always being willing to talk about Met, and for critical reading of my thesis introduction. To Paula, thank you for always being there to hash out complex science questions, to help with imaging and cell biology questions, and for critical reading of my results section. To Gabe, thank you for your enthusiasm, your straightforward and pragmatic approach and the great care you have shown for any responsibility you take on—it has been rewarding to see you push both science in our laboratory and student life in the Centre to new heights. To Coni, thank you for your friendship and enthusiasm both inside and outside the laboratory, and for the unique perspective you bring to science as a clinician. To Marina, thank you for being a great desk-neighbor and a good friend, and for carrying on with GCSS.

I would like to extend a special thank-you to Drs. Abdulhameed Al-Ghabkari and Stephanie Duhamel. You have really helped me shape the MPZL3 story into a stronger manuscript, and I am excited to move forward with the analogue-sensitive kinase with you. I have learned a lot from the process of working together and am excited to share our work with the world.

To Colin Ratcliffe, Vanessa Sung, Andrea Lai, Emily Bell, Paul Savage and Charles Vincent Rajadurai—over the years I shared with you in the Park lab, you have all been teachers, role models, good friends and exceptional colleagues. In writing this work, I have had occasion to turn to each of your theses and could not have written any of this without the guidance and examples you set for me. It is my great hope that I have contributed to the body of work you built in a way that carries it forward to the next generation with the grace that you have shown me over the course of my career as a scientist.

I would like to thank the extended Goodman Cancer Research Centre community and the Department of Biochemistry at McGill for providing so much support and so many avenues for development as a scientist. To Drs. Arnim Pause, Thomas Duchaine and Jason Young, thank you for all your guidance and support as teachers, both when I first learned from you in the introductory biochemistry course and when I later taught it alongside you. To Matthew Dankner, thank you for your constant enthusiasm, interest and challenging questions. I always look forward to our very public discussions about everything from science to the news. To Drs. Harvey Smith, Shane Caldwell, Nathaniel Robichaud, Maxwell Shafer and Katherine Stewart, it has been such an honour to have you as colleagues, mentors and role models over my time as a student. I have greatly appreciated the support the faculty, administration, staff and trainees have collectively shown over the years to support student-led initiatives I have been involved in, from Research Day and the start of the Goodman Cancer Centre Students' Society to fundraising runs to science and climate marches. Thank you to Petra Gaiser, Ginette Berube, Daniel Caron and Dr. Magdalena Maslowska for your dedication to making sure our efforts received the support they needed. I am particularly grateful for the opportunities I have been afforded to share my research through travel awards, internal conferences, talks within the Centre and Department, and the collegial atmosphere that has enabled me to develop relationships with fantastic scientists across the department. It is important that graduate students develop skills and a sense of professional community along multiple axes, and the support I have received along the way in an institutional sense has significantly helped my career.

I am very grateful for the financial support I have received over the course of my graduate education from Défi Canderel, the McGill Integrated Cancer Research Training Program, the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Dr. Victor S. Lui, the Charlotte and Leo Karassick Foundation, the Goodman Cancer Research Centre and the Department of Biochemistry. It has been a privilege to study in Canada, and the support I received to enable this has laid the foundation of my career as a scientist. I would like to thank the Canadian Institue of Health Research for supporting the Park laboratory and the research I conducted as a member of the group as well.

To my parents, thank you for everything. You instilled in me the values and commitment that define my life and have always nurtured the curiosity that drove my entry into the scientific endeavour. Your support has enabled my education and my ability to pursue my interests, and I am grateful every day for the privilege you have afforded me through your work and caring. I am particularly proud to carry on work my father contributed to understanding through the incidental, meandering path of scientific research.

To my sisters Merav and Mimi, thank you for sitting through a few too many family video calls or dinners that turned into science discussions, and for keeping me grounded through all this. To the extended Stern and Rosenbluh families, thank you for the support and loving warmth you have shown me throughout my life, and for how much effort you have put in to make visits work with all the international distance involved. To Emil, Thomas, Sasha, Shai, Naomi and Maxine, thank you for your loving friendship, and for putting up with my egregious lack of keeping in touch enough through all of this. You are my closest friends, and I deeply cherish the encouragement and support you have each shown me along the way.

I would like to extend my enormous gratitude to my friend and roommate Liz. You have been family to me for my entire McGill career, and I could not have done this without you (especially with those broken limbs). It has been an honour, a privilege and a hell of a great time living together through all of this education, and I'm glad it helped shape the student, scientist and person I am.

To Sofia, thank you so much for all of your loving support and for your great patience—I am so glad you became part of this journey, and I look forward with excitement to the next one together.

PREFACE

This thesis is written in the traditional format. It is divided into five chapters as follows:

Chapter 1: Literature review Chapter 2: Results Chapter 3: Discussion Chapter 4: Materials and methods

Chapter 5: References

Contribution to original knowledge

The work in this thesis describes signaling output of the Met RTK in the gene-amplified setting. We show that crosstalk between Met and the EGFR family of RTKs is a convergent feature of *MET*-amplified cells, and demonstrate that this primarily involves a Met-HER3 signaling axis. We further identify novel HER3-dependent transcripts in the *MET*-amplified setting, notably including the gene MPZL3, which is required for proliferation downstream of HER3 in *MET*-amplified cells. We further identify a novel protein-protein interaction between HER3 and MPZL3, as well as a large number of novel candidate Met-dependent phosphosites in *MET*-amplified cells. We show that HGF stimulation of *MET*-amplified cells elicits accelerated tumour growth and actin cytoskeletal remodeling in a manner that is not dependent on increasing Met-dependent phosphorylation, but may instead impact receptor trafficking. Finally, we generated and characterized novel Met mutants capable of utilizing modified ATPγS analogues for substrate-labeling assays.

Publications arising from this thesis

Chapter 2 contains material presented in the following articles:

Stern YE, Duhamel S, Al-Ghabkari A, Monast A, Fiset B, Walsh LA, Park M. Met-HER3 crosstalk supports proliferation via MPZL3 in *MET*-amplified cancer cells. *Manuscript in preparation*.
Stern YE, Duhamel S, Al-Ghabkari A, Park M. Novel substrates of the Met receptor via oncogenic gene amplification. *Manuscript in preparation*.

Contribution of authors

A. Monast performed the injections, measurments and necropsies for the *in vivo* experiments described in Figures 2.7 and 2.20. The patient-derived xenograft (PDX) GCRC1994 described in Figure 2.8 was collected by J. Spicer of the McGill University Health Centre and banked by M. Souleimanova and H. Zhao. PDX GCRC1994 tumours and tumour-derived cell line were generated by M. Dankner and P. Siegel. Initial characterization of Met protein levels and phosphorylation in PDX tumour lysates was performed by T. Golenar. Library preparation and RNA sequencing described in Figure 2.10 was performed by the Centre d'Expertise et de Services at Génome Québec, and sequencing data was aligned by B. Fiset and L. Walsh. Protein extraction and trypsinization, phosphotyrosine or titanium dioxide (Ti₂O) enrichment, mass spectrometry, and peptide mapping described in Figure 2.16 were performed by E. Kanshin and P. Thibault of the Université de Montréal. Haemotoxylin and eosin staining described in Figure 2.20 was performed by the Goodman Cancer Research Centre at McGill University. Immunofluorescence and cell-surface biotinylation described in figure 3.2 was performed by E. Bell. All other experiments described in this thesis were performed by Y. Stern.

Additional publications:

Sung VYC, Duhamel S, Knight JF, Johnson RM, **Stern YE**, Saleh SM, Savage P, Monast A, Zuo D, Park M. Co-dependency for MET and FGFR1 in mesenchymal basal triple negative breast cancers. *Manuscript under review*. Kuasne H, Fortier AM, Pisano P, Zhao H, **Stern YE**, Zuo D, Souleimanova M, Pilon V, Monast A,

Ramírez CM, Issac M, Bertos N, Bailey S, Cools-Lartigue J, Bass A, Ferri L, Sangwan V, Park M. 3D organoids drug screening for the identification of combined therapeutic strategies in esophagogastric adenocarcinoma. *Manuscript in preparation*.

ABSTRACT	н
RÉSUMÉ	IV
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VI
PREFACE	IX
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	х
ADDITIONAL PUBLICATIONS	XI

Table of contents

CHAPTER 1	: LITERATURE REVIEW 1
1.1	The discovery of receptor tyrosine kinases and their roles in mammalian biology2
1.2	RTKs comprise a conserved gene family with functional homology 2
1.3	CTKs interact with RTKs and other extracellular cues4
1.4	The discovery of tyrosine kinases as transforming viral
1.5	Receptor tyrosine kinases encode proto-oncogenes with diverse roles in development7
1.6	Oncogenic RTK activation induces cancer in mouse model systems 9
1.7	Genetically engineered and spontaneous mutations in mice differentiate roles for RTKs in mammalian development and cancer10
1.8	Discovery of TPR-Met, an RTK-derived oncogene identified in human cells12
1.9	The Met and Ron RTKs are structurally homologous and comprise an RTK family13
1.10	The Met RTK initiates an invasive program during animal development
1.12	HGF-Met signaling regulates wound healing in adult homeostasis17
1.12	Mechanisms of RTK-dependent signaling18
1.13	RTK activation is regulated by extracellular signals through ligand binding19
1.14	Kinase domain activity is tightly regulated by intra- and intermolecular constraints

	1.15	Heterotypic mechanisms of RTK activation	23
	1.16	The pseudokinase HER3 is phosphorylated in a heterotypic manner	26
	1.17	Recruitment of signaling effector proteins to the activated RTK	
		complex	27
	1.18	Activation of downstream signaling effectors by RTKs	31
	1.19	Structure-function and genetic experiments delineate the Met-dependent	
		signaling pathway	34
	1.20	Met signaling dynamics and output are regulated by endocytosis and	
		degradation	38
1.21	RTKs	in human cancer	39
	1.22	RTKs as targets of precision medicine in cancer	40
	1.23	MET alterations in human cancer	44
	1. 2 4	The Met receptor tyrosine kinase as a target in cancer	47
	1.25	Antibody-based targeting of Met-dependent signaling in cancer	49
	1.26	Tyrosine kinase inhibitors targeting the Met RTK in cancer	51
	1.27	Stratification of likely responders has remained a challenge for Met-directe	ed
		cancer therapies	53
	1.28	MET gene amplification is a well-studied model of Met-dependent cancer	55
	1.29	RTK crosstalk in the MET-amplified setting	57
1.30	Ratio	nale	59
СНАР	TER 2: I	RESULTS	61
2.1	Cross	talk between Met and EGFR family RTKs in <i>MET</i> -amplified cancer cell lines	62
	2.2	Building a panel of MET-amplified cell lines with constitutive Met	
		phosphorylation	62
	2.3	Characterization of Met-EGFR family crosstalk in MET-amplified cell lines	64
	2.4	Met-dependent EGFR family phosphorylation is not dependent on robust R	ТК
		heterointeraction	66
	2.5	Canonical substrate binding sites in Met and HER3 are not required for HER	? <i>3</i>
		phosphorylation	67
	2.6	Kinases canonically upstream of HER3 are dispensable for its activation	72
	2.7	Depletion of HER3 by shRNA impairs proliferation of MET-amplified cells	 75
	2.8	HER3 depletion delays tumour outgrowth in vivo	76
	2.9	A cell line established from a metastatic lung cancer with constitutive Met	
		phosphorylation exhibits Met-HER3 crosstalk	77



	2.11	Signaling pathways that promote oncogenic Met-dependent proliferation are
	2.12	Gene expression profiling identifies MPZL3 as a novel HER3-dependent \$2
	2 1 3	MD713 contributes to HER3-dependent proliferation in MET-amplified cells 84
	2.15	MPZI 3 and HER3 interact in a Met-dependent manner in MET-amplified cells 85
	2.14	A new protein-protein interaction assay suggests a direct interaction between
	2.13	HFR3 and MP713
	2.16	MPZI 3-V5 does not accumulate at the plasma membrane in MFT-amplified
	2.20	cells
	2.17	Expression of MPZL3 is elevated in RTK-amplified cancer cell lines and RTK-
		associated cancers
2.18	Expan cells	ded Met-dependent phosphorylation is observed in proliferative <i>MET</i> -amplified
	2.19	MET-amplified Katoll cells show high sensitivity to multiple Met-directed TKIs
	2.20	SILAC phosphoproteomics identifies a Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation
	2 21	MP711 is phosphorylated upon co-expression with Met 107
	2.22	HGE accelerates tumour outarowth in MFT-amplified cells through additional
		mechanisms
2.23	A bio-	orthogonal approach to validating Met substrates and Met-dependent
	phosp	hosites
	2.24	Mutation of gatekeeper residues in the Met kinase domain facilitate ATP
		analogue binding
	2.25	Met Leu1157Ala is capable of selective autolabeling in vitro using N6-modified
		<i>ATPγS</i> 114
СНАР	TER 3: C	DISCUSSION 118
3.1	Summ	nary119
	3.2	HER3 as a central node for crosstalk between Met and the EGFR family
		RTKs
	3.3	HER3 promotes cancer cell proliferation through novel non-canonical
		signaling123

3.4	A role for MPZL3 in promoting cancer cell proliferation	126
3.5	The biology of the HER3-MPZL3 axis is consistent with an intracellular	
	mechanism of action	127
3.6	HGF-dependent internalization of Met promotes early tumour outgrowt	h and
	actin reorganization in MET-amplified cells	128

	3.7	Met Leu1157Ala selectively undergoes autophosphorylation in situ using N	V6-
	20	Modified ATP 3	1.152
	3.8	Signal rewiring in WEI-amplified cancer cells	135
	3.9	Predicted and known danesion receptors play central roles in WE1-amplific	ea
		Cells	139
3.10	Concl	lusions	141
СНАР	TER 4: I	MATERIALS AND METHODS	143
	4.1	Antibodies and reagents	144
	4.2	Cell cultures, transfections and lentiviral transduction	145
	4.3	Gene expression constructs and RNAi	146
	4.4	Immunoprecipitation and Western blotting	147
	4.5	Proliferation and colony-forming assays	150
	4.6	Subcutaneous xenograft experiments	150
	4.7	Flow cytometry	151
	4.8	RNA sequencing	151
	4.9	Quantitative RT-PCR	152
	4.10	Immunofluorescence	153
	4.11	Cell-surface biotinylation	154
	4.12	SILAC labeling	154
	4.13	Phosphoproteomic profiling	155
	4.14	Substrate-labeling kinase assays	155
	4.15	Statistical Analysis	. 156
СНАР	TER 5: I	REFERENCES	158

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1

Figure 1.1: Receptor tyrosine kinase activation is characteristically driven by ligand-induced	
receptor clustering	3
Figure 1.2: Met domain structure	15
Figure 1.3: Heterotypic mechanisms of RTK activation	25
Figure 1.4: HER3 exemplifies heterotypic signaling within the EGFR family	28
Figure 1.5: SH2 domains mediate the recruitment and activation of effectors downstream of	
RTKs	.32
Figure 1.6: HGF-dependent signaling activated by the Met RTK	.34
Figure 1.7: Mechanisms of MET oncogenic activation in cancer	49

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1: Elevated Met protein predicts constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation in MET-	
amplified cells6	5

Figure 2.2: Met-dependent phosphorylation of EGFR, HER2 and HER3 in <i>MET</i> -amplified cell lines
Figure 2.3: Met-dependent EGFR family phosphorylation does not require robust RTK
Figure 2.4: Canonical substrate binding sites in Met and HER3 are not required for HER3
phosphorylation
Figure 2.5: EGFR, HER2 and Src activity are not required for HER3 phosphorylation in <i>INET</i> -
amplified cells
Figure 2.6: HER3 depiction impairs proliferation in <i>IVIE1</i> -amplified cells
Figure 2.7: HER3 depiction impairs the outgrowth of <i>NET</i> -amplified cells <i>In Vivo</i>
Figure 2.8: A patient-derived tumour model snows Met-dependent HER3 prosphorylation80
Figure 2.9: Canonical Met- and HER3-dependent signaling is intact in HER3-depieted MET-
amplified cells
Figure 2.10: MPZL3 is a HER3-regulated transcript in multiple <i>ME1</i> -amplified cell lines
Figure 2.11: MPZL3 contributes to HER3-dependent proliferation
Figure 2.12: MPZL3 and HER3 interact at the protein level
Figure 2.13: The SIMPL assay suggests a direct HER3-MPZL3 interaction
Figure 2.14: MPZL3-V5 does not localize to the cell surface in <i>MET</i> -amplified cells
Figure 2.15: MPZL3 expression is elevated in cancer cell lines with RTK amplification and cancers
with recurrent RTK amplification95
Figure 2.16: PHA-665752 and crizotinib inhibit cell proliferation in <i>MET</i> -amplified Katoll cells98
Figure 2.17: Enrichment of phosphopeptides by anti-pTyr immunoaffinity and TiO ₂ 104
Figure 2.18: Met-dependent phosphosites cluster in signaling and adhesion networks106
Figure 2.19: MPZL1 is phosphorylated upon Met overexpression and MPZL3 co-
immunoprecipitates with pro-Met108
Figure 2.20: HGF accelerates tumour outgrowth in <i>MET</i> -amplified cells111
Figure 2.21: Mutation of Leu1157 gatekeeper residue in Met expands the ATP binding
pocket115
Figure 2.22: Met Leu1157Ala selectively utilizes N6-modified ATPyS analogues in substrate-

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1: Non-canonical HER3-dependent signaling through MPZL3 promotes	
proliferation	.125
Figure 3.2: HGF increases Met internalization in MET-amplified cells	.131
Figure 3.3: Met Leu1157Ala selectively utilizes N6-modified ATP analogues in situ	.133
Figure 3.4: Met signal rewiring upon MET amplification	.137
Figure 3.5: FRS2 is phosphorylated in a Met-dependent manner in MET-amplified cell lines	.138
Figure 3.6: Met-dependent phosphosites enrich for atypical cell adhesion and junctional	
pathways	.140

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 1

Table 1.1: FDA-approved TKIs by kinase	42
Table 1.2: Met-directed therapies in clinical trials	48

Chapter 2

Table 2.1: <i>MET</i> -elevated and -amplified cell lines	63
Table 2.2: Doubling time in regular (RPMI), light, medium and heavy SILAC media	99
Table 2.3: Isotopic ratios in equal numbers of mixed, SILAC-labeled cells	99
Table 2.4: Phosphosites identified by anti-pTyr immunoaffinity	101
Table 2.5: Phosphorylation sites identified by Ti ₂ O enrichment	102

Chapter 4

Table 4.1: Primers used for site-directed mutagenesis	148
Table 4.2: Pooled HER3-targeting siRNA duplexes	148
Table 4.3: shRNA hairpins used for HER3 and MPZL3 depletion	149
Table 4.4: Primers used for gRT-PCR	153

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND NOMENCLATURE

Gene names are italicized while protein names are not, unless otherwise specified (in Table 1.1). Human gene names are capitalized, and are used unless a specific viral, murine or avian gene is referred to.

Α	alanine
Ala	alanine
ALK	anaplastic lymphoma kinase
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ARF6	ADP ribosylation factor 6
Arg	arginine
Asn	asparagine
Asp	aspartate
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
АТР	adenosine triphosphate
ΑΤΡγS	adenosine-5'-O-(3-thiotriphosphate)
BCR	breakpoint cluster region
BRAF	v-Raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B, gene encoding the B-Raf kinase
BRC	Bioresource Research Center
BSA	bovine serum albumin
С	cysteine
C-	carboxy (terminal)
Cbl	casitas B-lineage lymphoma

CCLE	Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia
cDNA	complementary DNA
CEP7	centromere of chromosome 7
CML	chronic myelogenous leukemia
COSMIC	Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer
Crk	C10 regulator of kinase
CrkL	C10 regulator of kinase-like
СТК	cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase
Cys	cysteine
D	aspartate
Δ	delta (lost)
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	deoxyribosenucleic acid
E3	enzyme 3 (of the ubiquitin ligase system)
ECL	electrochemiluminescence
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGTA	egtazic acid
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
ERRB2	Erb-B2 receptor tyrosine kinase, the gene encoding HER2
ERBB3	Erb-B3 receptor tyrosine kinase, the gene encoding HER3
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	fibroblast growth factor receptor
FLT3	fms-like tyrosine kinase 3
FLT4	fms-like tyrosine kinase 4, the gene encoding VEGFR3
FRS2	fibroblast growth factor receptor substrate 2
G	glycine
Gab1	growth factor receptor binding protein-2 associated binder 1
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GGA3	Golgi-associated, gamma adaptin ear containing, ARF-binding protein 3
Gln	glutamine
Gly	glycine
Grb2	growth factor receptor binding protein-2
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
н	histidine
H&E	hematoxylin and eosin
HEPES	(4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HER2	human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HER3	human epidermal growth factor receptor 3
His	histidine

HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
HGNC	HUGO gene nomenclature committee
HGS	the gene encoding hepatocyte growth factor receptor substrate
HRS	hepatocyte growth factor receptor substrate
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
I	isoleucine
lg	immunoglobulin
IGF1	insulin-like growth factor 1
IL	interleukin
lle	isoleucine
IRS2	insulin receptor substrate 2
JNK	Jun N-terminal kinase
К	lysine
kDa	kilodalton
KDR	kinase insert domain receptor, gene encoding VEGFR2
ΚΙΤ	proto-oncogene c-KIT, the gene encoding the c-Kit/stem cell factor RTK
KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma gene, encoding the K-Ras protein
L	leucine
LC-MS/MS	liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry
Leu	leucine
Lys	lysine
М	molar
MEM	modified Eagle medium
mg	milligram
μg	microgram
mM	millimolar
μM	micromolar
MMTV	murine mammary tumour virus
ml	milliliter
μl	microliter
MET	Met proto-oncogene, the gene encoding Met receptor tyrosine kinase
Met	Met receptor tyrosine kinase (or hepatocyte growth factor receptor)
MNNG	methyl-N'-nitro-N-nitroso-guanidine
MPZL1	myelin protein zero-like 1
MPZL3	myelin protein zero-like 3
MSP	macrophage-stimulating protein
MST1R	macrophage-stimulating protein 1 receptor
Ν	asparagine
N-	amino (terminal)
N-WASP	neural Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
N6	adenine nitrogen 6
N6-Et-ATPγS	N6-phenethyl-adenosine-5'-O-(3-thiotriphosphate)
N6-Fu-ATPγS	N6-furfuryl-adenosine-5'-O-(3-thiotriphosphate)

N6-Ph-ATPγS	N6-phenethyl-adenosine-5'-O-(3-thiotriphosphate)
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
Nck	non-catalytic region of tyrosine kinase adaptor protein
NGF	nerve growth factor
nM	nanomolar
NSCLC	non-small-cell lung cancer
Р	proline
PAX3	paired box gene 3
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDGFR	platelet-derived growth factor receptor
PDK1	PIP ₃ -dependent kinase 1
PDX	patient-derived xenograft
PHA	PHA-665752
РІЗК	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
РІКЗСА	phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3 kinase catalytic subunit alpha
PIP ₃	phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate
РКА	protein kinase A
PNBM	<i>p</i> -nitrobenzyl mesylate
Pro	proline
pS	phosphoserine
pSer	phosphoserine
PSI	plexin, semaphorin and integrin
рТ	phosphothreonine
РТВ	phosphotyrosine-binding
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
pThr	phosphothreonine
PTP1B	protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B
PTPRZ1	receptor-type tyrosine-protein phosphatase zeta
pTyr	phosphotyrosine
PVDF	polyvinylidene fluoride
pY	phosphotyrosine
РуМТ	Py papovavirus middle T protein
Q	glutamine
qRT-PCR	real-time quantitative reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction
R	arginine
RET	ret proto-oncogene
RPMI	Rosa Parks Memorial Institute 1640 medium
RNA	ribosenucleic acid
RON	Recepteur d'Origine Nantais
ROS1	proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase ROS
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
Shc	Src homology-2 domain-containing

shRNA	short hairpin RNA
SILAC	stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture
SIMPL	split intein-mediated protein ligation
siRNA	short interfering RNA
SH2	Src-homology 2
SH3	Src-homology 3
SHP2	Src-homology 2 domain-containing phosphatase 2
SOS1	son of sevenless 1
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TBST	Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20
TGH	Triton-glycerol-HEPES lysis buffer
TiO₂	titanium dioxide
ТКІ	tyrosine kinase inhibitor
TPR	translocated promoter region
TrkA	tropomyosin receptor kinase A
Tyr	tyrosine
V	valine
Val	valine
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR	vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
Y	tyrosine

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 The discovery of receptor tyrosine kinases and their roles in mammalian biology

Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) are a well-studied type of cell receptor with prolific and pleiotropic roles in metazoan biology. RTKs share structural homology and exhibit conserved mechanisms of action, and their aberrant activation has frequently been implicated in human disease pathology. The Met RTK, discovered as a component of a transforming fusion oncoprotein, is implicated in aggressive and advanced human cancers and has been an active target for drug development for over twenty years. This is supported by a large body of research demonstrating how RTKs in general, and Met in particular, operate in mammalian development, physiology, and disease.

1.2 RTKs comprise a conserved gene family with functional homology

RTKs comprise a major family of genes involved in signal transduction in the metazoan lineage. Humans and other mammals have 58 RTKs grouped in 20 families by both structural and genomic similarity, most of which have 1-4 paralogous members due to multiple rounds of genome duplication in the vertebrate lineage (Brunet et al., 2016; Holland and Ocampo Daza, 2018; Lemmon and Schlessinger, 2010). Related cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases (CTKs) comprise an additional 32 genes, bringing the total human tyrosine kinome to 90 genes (Manning, 2002). RTKs are characterized by the presence of an extracellular ligand-binding domain, a single-pass transmembrane helix, and a highly conserved cytoplasmic tyrosine protein kinase domain flanked by less-ordered juxtamembrane and C-tail regions (Lemmon and Schlessinger, 2010). RTKs are characteristically activated by the binding of soluble ligands to the extracellular ligand-binding domains, inducing receptor clustering at the membrane to promote kinase domain activation

(Schlessinger, 2014). This causes the *trans*-activation of the dimerized kinase domains, which has been shown to involve multiple mechanisms, including *trans*-phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the kinase activation loop as well as the stabilization of the active kinase conformation through allosteric interactions involving the kinase and juxtamembrane domains (Hubbard et al., 1994; Jura et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2006). RTK kinase activity promotes the further phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the C-tail and juxtamembrane regions of the RTK. These serve as recruitment sites for proteins containing SH2-domains or other phosphotyrosine-binding motifs, which themselves frequently



Figure 1.1: Ligand-induced receptor clustering activates RTK signaling

Figure 1.1: Receptor tyrosine kinase activation is characteristically driven by ligand-induced receptor clustering. The extracellular domains of the receptor bind exogenous protein ligands such as growth factors to stabilize dimerized or oligomerized conformations of the cognate RTK. This induces the juxtaposition of the kinase domains in a conformation allosterically promoting kinase activation through interactions between the kinase and juxtamembrane domains of the receptors. The active kinase domains phosphorylate tyrosine residues in the cytoplasmic domains of the RTK, further stabilizing the activated conformation of the kinase and serving as recruitment sites for proteins containing SH2 and other phosphotyrosine-binding proteins. These can in turn be tyrosine phosphorylated, either modulating the activity of recruited substrates or serving as further binding sites to cluster and activate intracellular signal transduction proteins.

contain tyrosines capable of being phosphorylated by the receptor (Lemmon and Schlessinger,

2010). The consequence of this series of actions is the recruitment of protein complexes to the

plasma membrane upon RTK activation, and the subsequent activation of recruited intracellular signal transduction proteins through a variety of mechanisms (Figure 1.1).

1.3 CTKs interact with RTKs and other extracellular cues

In contrast to RTKs, CTKs lack transmembrane domains and do not directly transduce extracellular cues. CTKs do not comprise a monophyletic class of tyrosine kinases themselves, and instead are broadly grouped into two sister clades, each of which also contains an RTK (Brunet et al., 2016; Manning, 2002). CTKs are generally characterized by the presence of SH2 and SH3 domains, facilitating their respective recruitment to phosphorylated tyrosine residues or proline-rich motifs in other cytoplasmic proteins. As these motifs are frequently found in RTKs or proteins recruited to the activated RTK, CTKs can themselves be recruited to activated RTK complexes to regulate their own tyrosine kinase activity. This can serve to enhance RTKdependent tyrosine phosphorylation and downstream biological output, as observed in the recruitment of Src to the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (Maa et al., 1995; Tice et al., 1999). An additional role for CTKs downstream of RTKs may be to phosphorylate sequences inaccessible to the RTK itself. This may be due to the ability of CTKs to translocate to the nucleus or other cellular compartments more easily than RTKs (reviewed in Bagnato et al., 2020). In addition to this, differential substrate specificity for the CTKs ZAP-70 and Lck is critical to the sequential phosphorylation of substrates in T-cell receptor signalling, raising the possibility that CTKs expand the repertoire of tyrosine phosphorylation downstream of RTKs by activity towards weak substrates of the RTK itself (Shah et al., 2016). Thus, CTKs and RTKs are collectively responsible for catalyzing protein tyrosine phosphorylation in the eukaryotic cell and cooperate to achieve this at the molecular level.

1.4 The discovery of tyrosine kinases as transforming viral oncoproteins

Tyrosine kinases were initially discovered through the study of viral oncogenes, defined as genes capable of inducing cancer-like growth upon their expression in cells. Utilizing murine and avian viruses capable of inducing sarcomas in infected animals, biologists in the 1970s identified and characterized several genes capable of transforming cells upon viral transduction (Hunter, 2015). Among the genes initially identified by this method were the gene encoding the Py papovavirus middle T (PyMT) antigen and the gene encoding avian Rous sarcoma virus v-Src-transforming protein (v-Src) (Beemon and Hunter, 1977; Brugge and Erikson, 1977; Collett and Erikson, 1978; Hutchinson et al., 1978; Ito, 1979; Treisman et al., 1981; Turler, 1980). The phosphorylation of proteins to modulate their activity had been long established, but at the time this was thought to occur exclusively on serine and threonine residues. Tyrosine phosphorylation was first demonstrated in PyMT (Eckhart et al., 1979). The transforming activity of v-Src was linked to its enzymatic activity using proteins derived from viral subclones carrying temperature-sensitive mutations and transcribed in vitro, and this activity was shown to promote tyrosine phosphorylation of v-Src and its substrates, including PyMT (Erikson et al., 1980; Levinson et al., 1978). It was subsequently shown that the transforming capacity of PyMT was derived from the recruitment and activation of c-Src in transformed cells (Courtneidge, 1986; Courtneidge and Smith, 1983).

While the characterization of v-Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation and its transforming capacity progressed, the v-Src gene was discovered to have derived from an avian gene encoding a soluble protein tyrosine kinase with orthologues in the mammalian lineage (Stehelin et al., 1976). This cellular version of Src (*c-Src*) had been rendered constitutively activate upon its

inclusion in the viral genome. This was due to the loss of a tyrosine in the C-tail that inhibits the kinase upon its phosphorylation (Sefton and Hunter, 1986). In parallel to this work, a number of other murine and avian viral genomes were searched for transforming genes with tyrosine kinase activity (Hunter, 2015). One of these, the Abelson-murine leukemia virus, was also shown to encode a tyrosine kinase (Witte et al., 1980a; Witte et al., 1980b). This was similarly mapped to a gene found in humans, *c-Abl*, which was similarly shown to have lower kinase activity than the viral kinase (Witte et al., 1979) (Konopka et al., 1984). The convergent identification of tyrosine phosphorylation as a transforming event in these model systems led to an intensive effort to identify additional tyrosine kinases oncogenically transformed by viral capture and led to the identification of a number of potentially oncogenic tyrosine kinases.

The discovery that oncogenic murine viruses could transform cells using activated mutants of mammalian genes led to a search for additional mammalian proto-oncogenes that, upon activation, could transform cells. Of particular interest was the search for oncogenes in human cancers, which were known to be caused by genetic lesions within the human genome in the absence of viral transduction. The human orthologues of the cellular Ras proto-oncogenes were shown to transform human cells when overexpressed in 1982, confirming the discovery of the first human proto-oncogene (Chang et al., 1982). A second seminal discovery was that the Philadelphia chromosome, a translocation of chromosome 9q to chromosome 22 identified in patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML), involved the human orthologue of the *c-Abl* kinase translocating to chromosome 22. This translocation drives oncogenic transformation through expression of the resulting BCR-Abl fusion protein (Klein et al., 1982; Nowell and

Hungerford, 1960; Rowley, 1973). This showed that in CML patients, the induction of gene fusions due to chromosomal translocation could produce transforming oncogenes.

1.5 Receptor tyrosine kinases encode proto-oncogenes with diverse roles in development

Many additional genes capable of transforming cells were identified via these methods from avian or rodent tumour viruses. Some of these genes encoded tyrosine kinase proteins like v-Src and v-Abl, while others encoded tyrosine-phosphorylated transforming proteins without intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity similar to the PyMT. Due to their ability to transform cells, these were considered to be oncogenes, and carried mutations or deletions enhancing their mitogenic capacity compared to their genomic homologues (Reddy et al., 1982; Scolnick and Parks, 1973; Shih and Weinberg, 1982; Weinberg, 1983). Unlike v-Src and v-Abl, several kinases identified in this manner in avian and murine oncogenic viruses, including the kinases v-fms, v-ros and v-Erb-B, were mapped to mammalian or avian genes containing transmembrane domains (Bishop, 1983). Ongoing experiments in the 1980s would identify additional mammalian RTKs in oncogenic viruses, such as v-Sea, derived from the avian *Sea* gene, known in mammals as *MST1R* (Smith et al., 1989). These discoveries provided an important biological context for understanding RTK function and would help show the potential for targeting RTK genes as oncogenic drivers in cancer.

Additional discoveries using viral oncogenes elucidated some of the mechanics of RTK signaling in cancer, and their relationship to mitogenic signaling through growth factors. The v-Erb-B kinase was shown to be a truncated form of the transmembrane receptor for the soluble protein epidermal growth factor (EGF) (Downward et al., 1984). EGF was known at the time as a potent

inducer of early mouse eyelid opening, linked to an ability to induce cell proliferation during development (Cohen, 2008). Excitingly, the proliferative activity of EGF had already been linked to its transforming potential, and it had similarly been shown that this proliferative capacity was dependent on tyrosine kinase activity (Cohen, 2008; Ushiro and Cohen, 1980). The identification of the human homologue of v-Erb-B as the gene encoding EGFR thus presaged the discovery of critical roles for EGFR signaling a variety of human cancers. Concurrently, the transforming viral oncoprotein v-Sis was shown to have homology to a mammalian gene encoding platelet-derived growth factor (Doolittle et al., 1983; Favera et al., 1981; Waterfield et al., 1983). This showed that human growth factors, already known to be important for their roles in development and tumourigenesis, could induce cell proliferation in both contexts through the activation of RTKs.

Another important early discovery in the field of RTK biology was that the receptor for insulin, a hormone critical to physiological metabolic regulation in mature mammals including humans, was also a receptor tyrosine kinase related to EGFR and to other proto-oncogenes discovered in tumour viruses such as v-Src and v-Ros (Ebina et al., 1985; Ullrich et al., 1985). Insulin had already been shown to promote tyrosine phosphorylation of its receptor, but stimulation of cells with insulin did not affect cell proliferation in a manner similar to EGF, and it remained unclear whether the kinase activity was present in the receptor itself (Avruch et al., 1982a; Avruch et al., 1982b; Petruzzelli et al., 1982). While the related mitogen insulin-like growth factor I (IGF1) was already known to bind to an RTK, the discovery that the non-mitogenic action of insulin also utilized an RTK for signal transduction showed that RTKs can perform diverse biological functions in addition to regulating cell proliferation, and that there are important physiological roles for RTKs in mature mammals including humans.

1.6 Oncogenic RTK activation induces cancer in mouse model systems

By the early 1990s, significant evidence had accumulated implicating RTKs in diverse developmental and physiological roles as hormone receptors. In addition to the role of insulin in metabolic regulation and of EGFR in developmental cell proliferation, other molecules such as nerve growth factor (NGF), a potent inducer of neuronal ganglion outgrowth in development, in fact mediated its mitogenic activity through TrkA, another RTK (Cordon-Cardo et al., 1991). Clearly, RTKs played important and specific roles in development, although they shared common mitogenic properties and enzymatic activity. It was further known through the association of RTK activity with viral or overexpression-mediated transforming capacity that the mitogenic action of RTKs was capable of inducing neoplasms, and RTKs as well as several of their ligands had been observed to be overexpressed in human cancers (Ullrich and Schlessinger, 1990). The specific role of each RTK in development, however, and the ways in which these developmental functions could be co-opted to drive neoplastic growth, were poorly understood on the basis of these experiments alone.

Key insights into both the developmental roles of RTKs in mammals as well as their capacity to induce spontaneous mammalian tumours were derived from experiments using genetically engineered mouse models. The expression and phosphorylation of *c-neu*, an RTK with homology to EGFR, was known to be associated with its oncogenic mutation in rat tumours (Bargmann et al., 1986; Padhy et al., 1982). A genetic cassette was designed to transgenically express oncogenic *neu* from the murine mammary tumour virus (MMTV) promoter in mice. Mice expressing *c-neu* developed polyclonal tumours involving the entire mammary epithelium with accelerated kinetics compared to tumours driven by other known oncogenes, including activated forms of

Ras. Surprisingly, expression of *c-neu* in other tissues such as the epididymis failed to induce fully malignant tumours, indicating that tissue-specific expression of oncogenic RTK mutants was required for their tumourigenicity (Muller et al., 1988). When wild-type alleles of *c-neu* were expressed in transgenic mice under the MMTV promoter, tumours formed focally with long latency compared to oncogenic *c-neu*, as seen with tumours formed by oncogenic Ras and c-Myc expression (Guy et al., 1992). Similarly, when activating mutations found in oncogenic *c-neu* were introduced into its human homologue, the human EGFR 2 (HER2), expression of this transgene in mice under the MMTV promoter caused early lethality due to multifocal preneoplastic lesions across a multitude of tissues, including epididymal, renal and lung tissue (Stocklin et al., 1993). HER2 had already been observed to be overexpressed in many human cancers and was considered to be a strong candidate human oncogene (Di Fiore et al., 1987; Slamon et al., 1987). Taken together, these results showed that mutationally activated forms of receptor tyrosine kinases could act as potent oncogenes when overexpressed within the genome of mammals.

1.7 Genetically engineered and spontaneous mutations in mice differentiate roles for RTKs in mammalian development and cancer

Major insights into the developmental roles of RTKs were driven by experiments in which individual RTKs were deleted from the mouse genome to generate knockout models. The deletion of *EGFR* from the mouse genome decreased embryonic viability and placental growth, impaired weight gain, and delayed eyelid closure and reopening in neonatal mice (Miettinen et al., 1995). The deletion of the homologue of *c-neu* gene in mice, *ERBB2*, caused embryonic lethality at day 11 due to a failure to form the trabecular myocardium in the developing heart, while also severely impairing development of the neural crest and reducing axonal projection

from neural crest-derived cells (Lee et al., 1995). By contrast, deletions of the insulin receptor resulted in normal uterine development, but neonatal mice were consistently born underweight, and died within days of birth due to diabetic ketoacidosis and a concomitant failure to gain postnatal weight at the rate of their control littermates. This was seen as confirmation that the insulin receptor primarily acts as a regulator of metabolic physiology, and plays less important roles during embryonic development (Accili et al., 1996; Joshi et al., 1996).

Additional mouse models continued to elaborate diverse roles for RTK signaling in animal development. The development of methods to generate viable mice lacking RTKs required for early stages of development provided critical insights into the pleiotropic roles of many RTK genes. The KIT gene, encoding the stem cell factor RTK (c-Kit), which was identified as the genomic complement of the viral oncogene v-Kit, was mapped to the W genomic locus, longassociated with early lethality in mice (Chabot et al., 1988; Zsebo et al., 1990). The lethality associated with this mutation could be rescued by the transplantation of fetal liver tissue from wild-type mice, rescuing the macrocytic anemia that was killing neonatal pups, but this method of studying adult phenotypes of KIT-deficient mice was not an experimentally robust system (Bernstein et al., 1990). The identification of a naturally-occurring strain of mutants whose progeny survived to adulthood showed that KIT mutants also lacked B- and T-cells, showing that KIT played a major role in lymphoid precursor specification, and not just in expansion of the hematopoeitic lineage generally (Waskow et al., 2002). While the discovery of spontaneously occurring mutants enabled the elucidation of tissue-specific roles for signaling downstream of c-Kit, for most other RTKs tissue-specific physiological and developmental roles have been reported

using tissue-specific expression of gene-editing proteins (discussed below in the context of the Met RTK).

1.8 Discovery of TPR-Met, an RTK-derived oncogene identified in human cells

The Met receptor tyrosine kinase was discovered by an experimental strategy designed to identify additional human oncogenes. Human osteogenic sarcoma (HOS) cells treated with Nmethyl-N'-nitro-N-nitroso-guanidine (MNNG) were presumed to harbour numerous cancerassociated oncogenic lesions including chromosomal translocations, and human DNA isolated from these cells was screened for transforming potential by focus formation in NIH-3T3 cells to isolate oncogenes (Cooper et al., 1984a). A gene isolated from MNNG-treated HOS cells that could reproducibly transform NIH-3T3 cells was shown to have kinase activity and arise from a translocation between chromosomes 1 and 7 (Cooper et al., 1984b; Park et al., 1986). The fusion product was named TPR-Met, after the translocated promoter region (TPR) from chromosome 1 found fused to the kinase mutagenized by MNNG (abbreviated as Met). TPR encodes a leucine zipper that dimerizes the fused Met kinase domain, constitutively activating the kinase (Rodrigues and Park, 1993). The proto-oncogene from which TPR-Met was derived was determined to encode a receptor tyrosine kinase by sequence similarity to other growth factor receptors identified at the time (Park et al., 1987). Subsequent experiments showed that the Met RTK was the receptor for hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (Bottaro et al., 1991). HGF is an activator of cell proliferation in mature liver cells in cell culture and under wound-healing conditions (Nakamura et al., 1989; Nakamura et al., 1986). A separate line of research had led to the discovery of a fibroblast-derived secreted protein that induced epithelial cell scattering from colonies grown in tissue culture, with the concurrent downregulation of desmosomal junctions.

A majority of normal epithelial cell lines responded to stimulation with this "scatter factor," although tumour-derived cell lines largely did not exhibit this response (Stoker et al., 1987). It was discovered that both functions, the mitogenic capacity for which HGF was named and the scatter function assigned at the time to a "scatter factor," were activated by the same ligand binding to Met (Naldini et al., 1991). Met also showed high similarity to the avian viral oncogene *v-Sea*, derived from the avian gene *c-Sea*, which is similarly capable of transforming fibroblasts *in vitro* (Huff et al., 1993; Smith et al., 1989). The mammalian homologue of *c-Sea*, *MST1R*, encoding the RON RTK, regulate ciliary motility in response to their ligand macrophage stimulating protein, and together with Met constitutes one of the 20 RTK families conserved across vertebrates (Brunet et al., 2016; Lemmon and Schlessinger, 2010; Sakamoto et al., 1997). These results collectively confirmed that Met, similar to several other known RTKs, was a growth factor receptor capable of inducing cell proliferation through its tyrosine kinase activity upon activation by its ligand, HGF.

1.9 The Met and RON RTKs are structurally homologous and comprise an RTK family

The Met RTK, like all other members of the RTK family, is a single-pass transmembrane protein with an extracellular ligand-binding domain at the N-terminal portion of the mature protein, and a cytoplasmic region including a highly conserved tyrosine kinase domain (Figure 1.2). Met and RON share homology in their extracellular ligand-binding Sema domains and in their ligands, distinguishing them from other RTKs and characterizing the receptors as a family (Gaudino et al., 1994; Huff et al., 1993). The Sema domain contains a furin protease cleavage site, which is processed in the Golgi to generate a disulfide-linked heterodimer from the pro-Met peptide. The N-terminal alpha chain, consisting of part of the Sema domain, is required for the proper folding of the receptor (Komada et al., 1993). The Met Sema domain interacts with the C-terminal serine protease homology domain of HGF at low affinity, while a high-affinity binding site for N-terminal and Kringle domains of HGF has been mapped to the 3rd and 4th Ig-like domains (Basilico et al., 2008; Stamos et al., 2004). In addition to this, Met and RON share an uncharacteristically long juxtamembrane including a tyrosine required for receptor ubiquitination, and two tyrosines in the short C-tail region that are required for downstream signaling (Fixman et al., 1995; Iwama et al., 1996; Peschard et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 1994). While the full-length Met protein has not been characterized using biophysical approaches, the domain architecture of the protein has been well-established using sequence analysis and structure-function approaches, and the structure of most of the extracellular domain has been established using a combination of X-ray crystallography, nuclear magnetic resonance and homology-based modeling (Gherardi et al., 2003; Kozlov et al., 2004; Park et al., 1987). Met and RON comprise a conserved family within RTKs, and are known as class VI RTKs in the 20-class subdivision of RTK genes (Robinson et al., 2000).

Early experiments showed that the full-length Met RTK constituted two disulfide-linked polypeptide chains arising from a single precursor through furin-mediated proteolysis(Giordano et al., 1989; Komada et al., 1993). This cleavage occurs in the 500 amino-acid Sema domain, which requires both chains to fold properly into a beta-propeller structure (Gherardi et al., 2003; Stamos et al., 2004).


Figure 1.2: Met domain structure. The Sema domain mediates contacts with the serine protease-like domain of the Met ligand HGF (blue), while the N-terminal and first Kringle domains of HGF bind to the 3rd and 4th Ig-like repeats in Met (Basilico et al., 2008; Stamos et al., 2004). A conserved PSI domain connects the Sema domain to the 4 Ig-like repeats. A transmembrane alpha helix connects the highly structured extracellular portion of the Met RTK to the largely soluble juxtamembrane cytoplasmic domain, which contains the conserved Cbl binding site (Tyr 1003). The kinase domain of Met is highly conserved and extensively characterized, containing two tyrosines phosphorylated in the fully activated state shown in this figure (PDB ID: 4IWD). The short C-tail region contains two tyrosines (Tyr 1349 and 1356) that mediate the recruitment of SH2-domain-containing adaptors, scaffolds and signaling effector proteins.

Sema domains are primarily found in semaphorin secreted and transmembrane proteins involved

in axon guidance and other cellular motility and adhesion processes. Sema domains are also

found in transmembrane plexin molecules, which act as receptors for semaphorins, in addition

to Met and RON (reviewed in Alto and Terman, 2017). In the semaphorin-plexin signaling system, Sema domains of compatible proteins bind to each other to mediate heterophilic interactions. In the case of Met and RON, the Sema domain constitutes the primary binding site for their respective ligands, HGF and macrophage-stimulating protein (MSP) (Gherardi et al., 2004; Stamos et al., 2004). Met has also been shown to interact directly with plexin B1, leading to suppression of Met phosphorylation. The association between Met and plexin B1 may proceed through protein-protein contacts mediated by the Sema domains of both receptors, further establishing a critical role for this domain in regulating Met activity (Giordano et al., 2002; Lai et al., 2009; Soong and Scott, 2013).

1.10 The Met RTK initiates an invasive program during animal development

The activation of Met signaling by its ligand, HGF, also known as scatter factor, was initially studied *in vitro* using primary and immortalized cell lines, and primarily induced HGF-dependent cell dispersal in most epithelial cell lines (Stoker et al., 1987). Early experiments linked HGF-dependent epithelial cell scattering to cell invasiveness in cancer-derived cell lines, or to the formation of tubular structures in cells cultured in 3-dimensional collagen matrices with fibroblast-derived HGF (Montesano et al., 1991; Weidner et al., 1990). Further experiments showed that HGF could promote angiogenesis in endothelial cells, indicating a role for Met-dependent morphogenic signaling in homeostatic as well as developmental processes (Rosen and Goldberg, 1997). HGF-dependent angiogenesis was subsequently shown to synergize with signaling through vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) RTKs, and to play a role in tumour associated angiogenesis (Abounader et al., 2002; Xin et al., 2001). Conversely, VEGF-dependent activation of VEGFR2 suppresses Met phosphorylation and HGF-dependent tumour cell invasion

in glioblastoma, showing that HGF and VEGF can drive antagonistic biological outputs in some contexts (Lu et al., 2012). These experiments supported a role for dynamic HGF-Met signaling in the invasive biology of cancer cells associated with metastasis under pathological conditions, and with a likely role in tissue morphogenesis either during development or in adult homeostasis.

Genetically engineered knockout mice were used to confirm several roles for the Met RTK in mammalian development. Whole-body genetic deletion of *HGF* or *MET* results in early embryonic lethality with reduced proliferation and enhanced apoptosis in the liver, a failure of myogenic precursor cells to migrate from somites to the developing limb buds, and a failure of the trophoblast cells to invade the maternal decidua (Bladt et al., 1995; Schmidt et al., 1995; Uehara et al., 1995). Experiments using explant tissues from *HGF*-deficient mice further demonstrated that HGF acts as a chemoattractant for limb bud innervating axons, demonstrating a role for HGF-Met signaling in axon guidance as well (Ebens et al., 1996). Analysis of the expression of *HGF* and *MET* in the developing limb bud showed that *MET*-expressing epithelial somite cells were juxtaposed to *HGF*-expressing mesodermal tissue throughout their migration to the limb bud, and that deficient myogenesis in *PAX3*-deficient mice arises due to a lack of downstream *MET* expression (Yang et al., 1996). These collectively showed important roles for HGF-mediated Met signaling in promoting developmental invasion and chemotactic migration.

1.11 HGF-Met signaling regulates wound healing in adult homeostasis

The development of tissue-specific expression cassettes for the *Cre* recombinase system of gene editing permitted the study tissue-specific roles of essential genes in both development and adult homeostasis. This was particularly useful in elaborating the diverse developmental roles played

by essential RTK genes such as *EGFR* and *KIT*, and in identifying important roles for HGF-Met signaling in wound healing processes and immune function. Conditional expression of the *Cre* cassette in liver tissue was used to delete *MET* in adult mice, and wound-induced liver regeneration was impaired in *MET* knockout mice in comparison to controls, with a failure of liver cells to undergo proliferation (Borowiak et al., 2004).

In addition to its function in liver regeneration, HGF-dependent activation of Met has been shown to mediate the recruitment of neutrophils to murine tumours in mice with depletion of *MET* in the hematopoietic lineage. This effect has been shown to specifically occur in anti-tumour neutrophils, while inflammatory pro-tumour neutrophils are recruited by orthogonal signaling pathways (Finisguerra et al., 2015). Conditional deletion of *MET* in epithelial thymic cells has also been reported to impair the development of regulatory T cells (Su et al., 2018). The role of Met signaling in liver regeneration and in broader wound-healing processes has been extensively studied with the goal of therapeutic application. By contrast, the biology of Met signaling in the immune system is less fully understood and remains a priority for the field of cancer biology, given the increasing relevance of immunomodulatory agents in cancer therapy.

1.12 Mechanisms of RTK-dependent signaling

Coordinated action in biology requires the regulation of one domain of biological state by the conditions of a separate one; thus, mechanisms of signal transduction involve the capacity to sense biological changes in one dimension and relay this information to an orthogonal one. Kinases catalyze the phosphorylation of their various substrates, so they are capable of transmitting signals regulating their own activity into the induction of phosphorylation. Thus,

the variable mechanisms governing kinase activation determine what upstream information the kinase in question transduces, and the degree of phosphorylation, the identity of the substrates of the kinase, and the consequences of their phosphorylation collectively determine the signaling output of the kinase. RTKs operate by the transduction of extracellular signals, primarily via the binding of soluble protein ligands, to the cytosolic and nuclear domains of the cells expressing the receptor in question via the induction of tyrosine phosphorylation.

1.13 RTK activation is regulated by extracellular signals through ligand binding

RTK activation is characterized by the clustering of receptors at the plasma membrane in a manner promoting kinase domain *trans*-activation (Ullrich and Schlessinger, 1990). This was initially shown for EGFR using purified EGF and radiolabeled receptors *in vitro* (Yarden and Schlessinger, 1987). Early experiments showed that several modes of ligand binding existed among different RTK families, and that dimerization could be initiated either by ligand- or receptor-mediated interactions, but that receptor oligomerization was common to all RTKs. It was also established that this allowed for receptors to undergo heterodimerization with compatible RTKs, and hypothesized that such heterotypic RTK activation may alter signal output (reviewed in Ullrich and Schlessinger, 1990).

RTKs related to the insulin receptor are constitutively dimerized through disulfide bonds between receptor monomers formed in the secretory pathway, but insulin stimulation promotes receptor dimerization to activate the kinase domain in experimentally-dissociated insulin receptors (Sweet et al., 1987). Furthermore, chimeric receptors in which the insulin and EGF RTK ligand-binding and cytoplasmic domains were switched showed that both ligand-

binding modes could promote activation of the other cytoplasmic domain, confirming that the receptors share common mechanisms of activation (Ballotti et al., 1989; Riedel et al., 1989). This showed that RTKs require intermolecular association for kinase activation and indicated that even in the case of constitutively dimerized receptors, ligand binding could induce kinase activation through allosteric mechanisms. Recent advances in biophysical techniques have shown that binding of insulin or IGF1 to disulfide-linked receptors promotes a rearrangement of the kinase domains to promote their *trans*-activation through allosteric contacts (Cabail et al., 2015; Gutmann et al., 2018; Li et al., 2019). Ephrin receptors have similarly been shown to form oligomeric complexes of inactive receptors, but biophysical evidence again suggests that ligand binding is capable of rearranging kinase domain dimers within the complex to drive activation (reviewed in Taylor et al., 2017). In other cases, such as for the EGFR family, the existence of preformed inactive dimers has been reported, but these ligand-free dimers engage in a manner that inhibits kinase activity (Zanetti-Domingues et al., 2018). An elegant combination of cytometric, biophysical and molecular dynamics-based approaches were used by the Kuriyan and Shaw groups to show that EGF binding disrupts these autoinhibitory associations and promotes the formation of asymmetric, activating kinase dimers (Arkhipov et al., 2013; Nicholas et al., 2013). Thus, while RTKs can form dimeric or oligomeric complexes in the absence of ligand binding, ligand-driven dimerization remains the central mechanism of RTK activation. As described above (Figure 1.1), the activation of RTKs by their cognate ligands induces a conformational change in the receptor, leading to activation of the cytosolic tyrosine kinase

domain. Kinase domains are characterized by globular N- and C-lobes separated by a flexible peptide linker of variable length. The substrates of the phosphotransfer reaction catalyzed by

the kinase bind in the cleft between the N- and C-lobes. This was first demonstrated by solving the structure for the kinase domain of protein kinase A (PKA) using X-ray crystallography, and was later shown to operate by the same principle in tyrosine kinases with the crystallization of the kinase domain of the insulin RTK (Hubbard et al., 1994; Knighton et al., 1991a; Knighton et al., 1991b). Within the kinase domain, the catalytically active state is determined by the positioning of key residues to bind the beta and gamma phosphate groups of ATP near the catalytic His-Arg-Asp motif in the C-lobe, and the accessibility of both ATP and the substrate to the catalytic cleft between the lobes. Positioning of the ATP-binding residues is regulated by the movement of an alpha helix (alpha-C) in the N-lobe, while the positioning of the catalytic loop and access to the substrate binding site is regulated by a flexible loop without secondary structure called the activation loop. In many kinases, the activation loop contains serine, threonine or tyrosine residues that can be phosphorylated to maintain the "open" conformation of the loop, and the activity of the kinase (recently reviewed in Kim et al., 2017).

1.14 Kinase domain activity is tightly regulated by intra- and intermolecular constraints

Kinase domain activation can be regulated by a diverse array of intra- and intermolecular interactions. Within the kinase domain, rotation of the N-lobe toward the C-lobe, retraction of the activation loop, and extrusion of the alpha-C helix prevent the binding of substrates and fresh ATP, inactivating the kinase. Kinases can adopt a variety of "closed" conformations, as the tight evolutionary constraints required for catalytic activity are relaxed, with many stable inactive states for the kinase (Jura et al., 2011; Modi and Dunbrack, 2019). This has been exploited extensively in the development of selective ATP-competitive inhibitors, which can lock the kinase in a relatively unique inactive conformation instead of the common active, open state. Additional strategies for selectively directing small molecules to specific kinase domains involve targeting unique pockets in the substrate-binding clefts of certain kinases, or the utilizing the side chains of specific amino acids in less-conserved positions in the catalytic pocket of the kinase (Noble et al., 2004). In CTKs, intramolecular associations between the phosphotyrosine-binding SH2 domain and phosphorylated tyrosines in the C-terminal region were identified early on as a major mechanism of kinase inactivation (Sefton and Hunter, 1986; reviewed in Shalloway and Taylor, 1997; Sicheri et al., 1997; Xu et al., 1997). In contrast, autoinhibitory association with the juxtamembrane domain of the RTKs c-Kit, FLT3 and several other RTKs are relieved by the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues within that region, and the mutation of these residues has been shown to activate c-Kit and FLT3 in cancer (reviewed in Hubbard, 2004). Thus, intramolecular associations can stabilize inactive conformations of kinases in general, including RTKs, and the autophosphorylation of residues involved in these interactions can promote either kinase activation or inactivation.

Diverse intermolecular interactions have also been shown to play a major role in regulating kinase activity. The activity of many cytoplasmic protein kinases is regulated allosterically by protein ligands, most notably in the formation of the PKA and cyclin-dependent kinase holoenzymes (reviewed in Jura et al., 2011). Seminal experiments using the EGFR kinase domain showed that in the case of RTKs, the C-lobe of one kinase domain (the "activator" kinase) can act as the activating protein ligand for the second kinase (the "receiver" kinase) in a similar manner (Zhang et al., 2006). Thus, the ligand-induced dimerization of RTKs directly leads to the association of the cytoplasmic kinase domains in an activator-receiver dimer, illustrating a molecular mechanism whereby dimerization activates the kinase domain. Further associations of

residues within the juxtamembrane and kinase domains with the plasma membrane regulate the activity of EGFR family kinases, and similar models of kinase-membrane interactions regulating kinase activity have been proposed for the entire family of RTKs (Abd Halim et al., 2015; Arkhipov et al., 2013; Hedger et al., 2015; Michailidis et al., 2011).

1.15 Heterotypic mechanisms of RTK activation

In addition to their canonical mechanisms of activation by ligand binding and subsequent homotypic clustering and kinase activation, many RTKs can be activated in a heterotypic manner, with their activity dependent on another RTK in addition to or instead of their own ligand (reviewed in Paul and Hristova, 2019). In the simplest example of this, the activation of a single RTK may induce the transcription of ligands for other RTKs. Thus, activation of the one RTK can indirectly induce ligand-mediated activation of a second RTK (Figure 1.3A). This mechanism of RTK crosstalk is observed extensively in development and homeostasis. Alternatively, the requirement for a ligand for the second RTK may be circumvented through the activation of a CTK, or alternatively through the inhibition of tyrosine phosphatase activity restricting the activation of the second RTK (Figure 1.3B). In this example, a cytoplasmic shuttle mechanism can again indirectly induce the phosphorylation of a second RTK, either activating its kinase domain or using it as a scaffold for CTK-catalyzed phosphorylation of downstream substrates. While this mechanism of RTK transactivation has been less frequently demonstrated than the liganddependent, indirect mechanism described above, many examples of CTK-mediated phosphorylation of RTKs or their major scaffolding proteins have been reported, particularly in cancer cell lines. Examples include Src-mediated phosphorylation of EGFR, which potentiates EGFR-dependent signaling (Maa et al., 1995; Tice et al., 1999). Recruitment of Src to the HER2-

HER3 RTK heterodimer has also been shown to potentiate downstream signaling, although the mechanism whereby this occurs has yet to be determined (Ishizawar et al., 2007). Src also mediates phosphorylation of the Met RTK downstream of EGFR in the absence of the Met ligand HGF (Dulak et al., 2011). Src has also been shown to phosphorylate Gab1, a large multisite docking protein downstream of both Met and EGFR, and to potentiate RTK-dependent signaling through Gab1 as a scaffold for the recruitment of additional phosphotyrosine-binding proteins (Chan et al., 2003; Furcht et al., 2015). Thus, phosphorylation of RTKs or their substrates by Src-family CTKs is an established mechanism of canonical and heterotypic RTK signaling.

Additionally, RTKs have been shown to form heterodimers capable of transactivating both receptors (Figure 1.3C). Closely related RTKs, in particular homologous receptors, frequently have been reported to form functional heterodimers. An example of this can be seen in the VEGF RTK family, where VEGFR2/VEGFR3 heterodimer formation increases angiogenic sprouting and elaboration (Tammela et al., 2008). Met and Ron have been shown to form productive heterodimers capable of efficient *trans*-activation, presumably with both kinase domains contributing to RTK phosphorylation (Follenzi et al., 2000). Additionally, the association of Tie1 and Tie2 receptors is thought to promote Tie1 transactivation, and is required for vascular remodeling later in the angiogenic process (reviewed in Jeltsch et al., 2013). Extensive receptor heterodimerization within RTK families has also been reported for the Eph family of RTKs, and is a hallmark of the EGFR family of receptors in particular (discussed below) (reviewed in Taylor et al., 2017; Yarden and Sliwkowski, 2001).



Figure 1.3: Heterotypic mechanisms of RTK activation. (A) The activation of a second RTK (RTK B) by an upstream receptor (RTK A) can be accomplished by the induction of a ligand for RTK B upon RTK A activation, in a ligand-dependent, dissociated mechanism that depends on the kinase activity of RTK B. (B) RTK co-activation can also proceed through a cytoplasmic shuttle, in which a CTK can phosphorylate the intracellular domains of RTK B in a ligand-independent manner without interacting with RTK A. This can also be accomplished by the inhibition of cytoplasmic phosphatases. (C) The formation of RTK A:B heterodimers can lead to direct co-activation of both kinases, leading to crosstalk that is dependent on the interaction and kinase activity of RTK A and RTK B. (D) Alternatively, RTK A can recruit molecules of RTK B to the activated RTK A:A complex to act as a downstream substrate, in a mechanism that depends on RTK A:B complex formation but is independent of the kinase activity of RTK B.

Finally, heterotypic activation of RTK signaling can involve a second receptor used as a scaffold for an associated RTK (Figure 1.3D). This mechanism of crosstalk does not require activation of the kinase domain in the second RTK, and functions similarly to the cytoplasmic shuttle mechanism using CTKs to phosphorylate the receptor and associated proteins. As few experiments directly distinguish between cooperative heterodimerization by heterotypic RTKs and the use of a second RTK as an inert scaffold, this may in fact be a major mechanism governing heterotypic RTK signaling.

1.16 The pseudokinase HER3 is phosphorylated in a heterotypic manner

A key example of the recruitment of a second RTK as a scaffold is the activation mechanism for the EGFR family member HER3, an RTK lacking intrinsic kinase activity. HER3 was identified early as a homologue of EGFR and HER2 whose kinase domain contains substitutions in key conserved residues, impairing its catalytic activity (Kraus et al., 1989; Plowman et al., 1990). Unlike the other two receptors, which primarily contain binding sites for the Grb2 adaptor protein and the SHC family of adaptor proteins (SHC1-4), the HER3 C-tail predominantly contains binding sites for the p85 regulatory subunit of the growth-factor stimulated phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) complex (Figure 1.4A) (Hellyer et al., 1998). Experiments in cells expressing the *neu* oncogene showed that cooperativity between HER2 and HER3 underlies the potent oncogenic potential of the *neu* gene (Alimandi et al., 1995; Pinkas-Kramarski et al., 1996). HER3 recruits EGFR or HER2 in response to binding its own ligand, neuregulin, and can also be recruited to EGFR homodimeric complexes in response to EGF stimulation, or to the constitutively-activated HER2 upon its genomic amplification and overexpression (Junttila et al., 2009; Littlefield et al., 2014; Sliwkowski et al., 1994; Soltoff et al., 1994; Van Lengerich et al., 2017).

This has the effect of modulating the signal transduction downstream of different dimers, with EGFR homodimers or EGFR/HER2 heterodimers strongly activating their own phosphorylation and downstream Ras-mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling, while only transiently activating the PI3K-Akt pathway through HER3 as a scaffold. In contrast, neuregulin-induced EGFR/HER3 or HER2/HER3 heterodimers preferentially show HER3 phosphorylation and activation of the PI3K-Akt pathway (Figure 1.4B) (Van Lengerich et al., 2017). Some evidence exists for a catalytic role played by the HER3 kinase domain. HER3 has been shown to bind ATP

and catalyze phosphotransfer to dimerized RTKs *in vitro* (Shi et al., 2010; Steinkamp et al., 2014). Mice with a mutation in the ATP-binding pocket of HER3 preventing nucleotide binding are phenotypically normal, but show reduced outgrowth of neuregulin-dependent intestinal organoids, pointing to a role for HER3 catalytic activity in cancer-associated proliferation (Nguyen et al., 2020). In general, phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in HER3 requires association with EGFR or HER2 and their catalytic function, as the catalytically-impaired HER3 kinase domain is incapable of efficient tyrosine autophosphorylation or phosphorylation of exogenous substrates (Kovacs et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2010). Generally speaking, heterotypic activation of the EGFR family kinases is associated with diversifying and amplifying signal output, and can be considered as a model for obligate RTK crosstalk in physiology and disease (reviewed in Yarden and Sliwkowski, 2001).

1.17 Recruitment of signaling effector proteins to the activated RTK complex

RTKs mediate signal transmission to other molecules via tyrosine phosphorylation. All RTKs contain tyrosine residues in their own cytoplasmic regions that can be phosphorylated upon receptor activation (Lemmon and Schlessinger, 2010). Autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the activation loop of the kinase domain were identified early as major regulators of catalytic activity, and crystal structures of the insulin RTK showed that phosphorylation of these residues stabilized the open conformation of the receptor (Hubbard, 1997; Hubbard et al., 1994; White et al., 1988). In contrast to this mechanism, in which phosphorylation primarily induces conformational change through charge alterations, most signal transduction downstream of RTKs is mediated by the recruitment of intracellular signaling effector proteins upon RTK activation

(Kazlauskas and Cooper, 1989; Kazlauskas et al., 1990; Kypta et al., 1990; Margolis et al., 1989; Meisenhelder et al., 1989b).



Figure 1.4: HER3 activation exemplifies heterotypic signaling within the EGFR family. (A) EGFR and HER2 both efficiently recruit the Grb2 and Shc adaptor proteins to phosphorylated tyrosine residues in their C-tails, and primarily differ in that EGFR is ligandactivated, while HER2 is constitutively primed for dimerization and activation but has no known ligands. HER3, by contrast, preferentially recruits and activates the p85 activator of the PI3K complex. (B) Combinatorial signaling by different dimers within the EGFR family has differential signal output. The formation of particular dimers depends on RTK expression levels as well as the ligand inducing complex formation. HER3 can be recruited either as a scaffold to activated EGFR and HER2 or as an activator of the kinase domain of either RTK. EGF or other EGFR ligands are shown in green, the HER3 ligand neuregulin is shown in purple.

The recruitment of these proteins is predominantly induced by phosphorylation of tyrosines inside binding motifs for SH2 domains, a specialized phosphotyrosine-binding domain responsible for protein-protein interactions (Koch et al., 1991; Sadowski et al., 1986). SH2 domains comprise two antiparallel beta sheets sandwiched between short alpha helices. Conserved residues within each SH2 domain interact with the phosphorylated tyrosine itself as well as the amino acid side chains immediately C-terminal to the phosphorylated tyrosine (Figure 1.4A) (Cantley and Songyang, 1994). In addition to this, the more flexible loops within the SH2 domain contribute to binding specificity (Kaneko et al., 2010). Thus, different SH2 domains can selectively recognize distinct tyrosine-phosphorylated sequences based on side chain chemistry, thereby mediating selective recruitment to specific tyrosine phosphorylated motifs.

RTK activation results in the tyrosine phosphorylation of residues in the usually disordered juxtamembrane and C-tail regions flanking the kinase domain. In addition, tyrosines within proteins that are recruited to the receptor can recruit additional SH2-domain-containing proteins upon their phosphorylation by the active RTK (Lemmon and Schlessinger, 2010). Several additional domains have been shown to bind phosphorylated tyrosines using distinct mechanisms from the SH2 domain, including phosphotyrosine-binding (PTB) domains and a specialized SH2 domain known as the tyrosine kinase binding (TKB) domain, found in the Cbl family of E3 ligases. These engage tyrosine-phosphorylated substrates with a specificity for an Asn-Pro-X-pTyr sequence, with selectivity determined by the identity of the amino acid preceding the phosphotyrosine (Zhou and Fesik, 1995). Additional mechanisms of binding to phosphotyrosine have been reported in several cases. A family of related large multisite docking

proteins with mostly disordered structures containing many tyrosines are frequently recruited to activated RTKs to act as scaffolds for further protein recruitment. Structured N-terminal pleckstrin homology, phox homology or phosphotyrosine binding domains mediate recruitment of these proteins to the activated RTK at the membrane, while a unique linear sequence within the scaffold Gab1 has been shown to bind selectively to the Met RTK C-tail (Lock et al., 2003; Weidner et al., 1996). Phosphorylation of tyrosines within exposed loops of the disordered regions of these proteins expands the repertoire and concentration of tyrosine-phosphorlyated motifs in the activated receptor complex (reviewed in Liu and Rohrschneider, 2002; Simister and Feller, 2012). Thus, the activation of a particular RTK results in the recruitment of SH2-domaincontaining proteins specific to tyrosines within the receptor, as well as those recruited to phosphorylated tyrosines in other proteins recruited to the complex.

Additional mechanisms are involved in the recruitment of proteins to activated RTKs, and for the downstream activation of those proteins. While tyrosine phosphorylation can directly regulate the activity of a variety of kinases, it can also regulate the activity of RTK substrates by modulating SH2 domain interactions. Src-family CTKs are characterized by phosphotyrosine-dependent allosteric kinase inhibition, mediated by the binding of the CTK SH2 domain to a tyrosine in its C-tail (Figure 1.4B). Displacement of the CTK's SH2 domain by other phosphotyrosine motifs with better binding kinetics to release the inhibition of the kinase is known as a mechanism of Src-family CTK activation, and presumably occurs upon recruitment of these proteins to activated RTKs (Alexandropoulos and Baltimore, 1996; Filippakopoulos et al., 2009; Liu et al., 1993). The tyrosine phosphatase SHP2, recruited to many activated RTKs, can similarly be activated by the relief of allosteric inhibition upon engagement of their SH2 domains (Barford and Neel, 1998).

Thus, the recruitment of proteins via SH2 domains can directly facilitate their activation by an RTK.

1.18 Activation of downstream signaling effectors by RTKs

The clustering of SH2-domain-containing proteins can induce the association of activator and effector components of downstream signaling pathways. A key example of this is shown by the activation of MAPKs by the GTPase Ras. Ras is targeted to the plasma membrane by farnesylation and requires extrinsic activator proteins to exchange bound GDP for GTP, thereby activating the protein (Overbeck et al., 1995). Binding of the SH2-domain-containing protein Grb2 to an activated RTK induces recruitment of the Ras guanine exchange factor SOS1 to the RTK complex, through the constitutive association of SOS1 with Grb2 (Chardin et al., 1993; Egan et al., 1993; Gale et al., 1993). This is mediated by a Src-homology 3 (SH3) domain, also found in Src-family CTKs, that binds to exposed proline-rich motifs within proteins. In Src-family CTKs, this domain participates in the autoinhibition of the kinase with the SH2 domain (Figure 1.4B). SH3 domains mediate both constitutive interactions between proteins such as Grb2 and SOS1, or interactions that can be modulated by conformational change as seen in Src-family CTKs and some scaffold proteins (Simister and Feller, 2012).

Another example of this is observed in the activation of PI3K-dependent signalling downstream of RTKs. The PI3K enzyme activated by RTKs at the plasma membrane functions as a heteromeric complex composed of distinct catalytic and regulatory subunits. The recruitment the 85kilodalton (kDa) regulatory subunit, p85, to phosphorylated tyrosine residues in the RTK complex occurs via its SH2 domain. This clusters the regulatory subunit at the membrane and allosterically

relieves inhibition of the associated 110-kDa catalytic subunit, thus inducing local accumulation of phosphatidyl-inositol-3,4,5 triphosphate (PIP₃) (Burke and Williams, 2013; McGlade et al., 1992).



Figure 1.5: SH2 domains mediate the recruitment and activation of effectors downstream of RTKs. (A) SH2 domains bind phosphotyrosine residues and the downstream flanking sequence. Shown is the Src SH2 domain (red) binding the autoinhibitory tyrosine (Tyr527) in the Src C-tail (yellow) (1KSW). Residues in the SH2 domain determining sequence specificity, and the residues in the C-tail they interact with, are shown. (B) The Src SH2 domain (red) cooperates with the SH3 domain (green) to allosterically inhibit the kinase domain (blue) when it is engaged to the C-tail (yellow). Engagement of the SH2 domain with competing pTyr residues displace the autoinhibitory interactions, activating the kinase. (C) PI3K activation downstream of RTKs is also dependent on engaging SH2 domains in the p85 regulatory subunit to relieve allosteric autoinhibition of the catalytic domain, and to localize catalytic activity to the plasma membrane. Pools of PIP₃ at the membrane then recruit and activate downstream effectors including PDK1 and Akt.

As many proteins can be recruited to PIP₃-rich membrane regions through a variety of lipidinteracting domains, induction of PIP₃ at the membrane represents a further mechanism whereby RTKs can localize effectors of downstream signaling, such as the Akt serine-threonine kinase and its activating kinase, PDK1, to the membrane. RTKs also frequently induce the cleavage of membrane lipids into free inositol phosphate and diacylglycerol by the SH2-domaindependent recruitment of phospholipase C gamma to the plasma membrane. This can in turn induce calcium-dependent signaling through the opening of gated channels in the plasma membrane or endoplasmic reticulum (Hajicek et al., 2019; Margolis et al., 1989; Meisenhelder et al., 1989a; Morrison et al., 1990; Sekiya et al., 2004).

RTK signaling is characterized by the combination of the above mechanisms to broadly activate downstream signaling proteins. As many RTKs share downstream effectors, the specificity of the signal derived from activation of a particular RTK likely depends on the particular combination of effectors recruited to the active complex (Tan and Kim, 1999; Yarden and Sliwkowski, 2001). Tyrosine phosphorylation driven by the RTK can directly or indirectly activate RTK substrates, and it can also feed forward into alternative signaling mechanisms including serine or threonine phosphorylation, lipid phosphorylation and cleavage and the release of calcium into the cytosol. Thus, tyrosine-dependent recruitment of proteins to the active RTK complex mediates the activation of downstream signaling by diverse mechanisms.

1.19 Structure-function and genetic experiments delineate the Met-dependent signaling pathway

Signaling by the Met RTK depends on the recruitment of an array of downstream effectors through phosphotyrosine-dependent protein-protein interactions. The phosphorylation of two tyrosines in the activation loop of the kinase, Tyr1234 and Tyr1235, promotes a fully-active conformation of the kinase domain (Rodrigues and Park, 1994).



Figure 1.6: HGF-dependent signaling activated by the Met RTK. Activation of the Met kinase domain is driven by the binding of its unique ligand, HGF, and the dimerization-induced trans-autophosphorylation of tyrosines within the activation loop, including the twin tyrosines Tyr 1234/35. Subsequent tyrosine phosphorylation of Tyr 1003 in the juxtamembrane region and Tyr 1349 and 1356 in the C-terminal tail mediate recruitment of the major adaptor and scaffolding proteins known to interact with Met. Recruitment of the E3 ligase Cbl induces Met ubiquitination and signal termination, while Met-dependent signal output is largely dependent on the recruitment of Grb2 to Tyr1356 in the C-tail, and the Grb2-dependent recruitment and phosphorylation of the large multisite docking protein Gab1 as a scaffold. Phosphorylated tyrosines in Gab1 then serve as recruitment sites for effectors such as p85, SHP2 and Src-family CTKs, while Grb2-dependent recruitment of SOS1 contributes to Ras-MAPK activation directly. Gab1 also recruits additional adaptor proteins including those of the Crk family and mediators of actin dynamics such as NCK1/2 to the activated complex to promote cytoskeletal rearrangement required for cell dispersal and invasion.

Subsequent phosphorylation of Tyr1356 in the C-tail provides a consensus binding site for the recruitment of Grb2, the PTB-domain-containing SHC1 adaptor, and the majority of downstream effectors through these adaptors, including the E3 ubiquitin ligase Cbl and the scaffolding protein Gab1 (Fixman et al., 1996; Fixman et al., 1997; Ponzetto et al., 1994; Weidner et al., 1996). Mutants of TPR-Met in which the corresponding site was replaced with the non-phosphorylatable amino acid phenylalanine had no transforming capacity, while experiments with chimeric receptors showed that this site was required for cell invasion (Fixman et al., 1997; Fixman et al., 1995; Zhu et al., 1994). Grb2-dependent recruitment of Gab1 results its hyperphosphorylation and the recruitment of a large number of downstream effector proteins, including p85, the adaptor proteins Crk and CrkL, and the tyrosine phosphatase SHP2 (Lamorte et al., 2000; Maroun et al., 1997; Schaeper et al., 2000) (Figure 1.6).

Gab1 recruitment to Met also involves engagement of phosphorylated Tyr1349 in the C-tail of Met. A proline-rich linear motif referred to as the Met-binding site in Gab1 has been shown to associate uniquely with Met among a panel of RTKs by yeast-two-hybrid screen, and Gab1 is required for all known Met-dependent developmental signaling *in vivo* (Frigault et al., 2008; Lock et al., 2003; Lock et al., 2002; Lock et al., 2000; Sachs et al., 2000; Weidner et al., 1996). The Met-dependent phosphorylation of Gab1 is prolonged compared to the phosphorylation of Gab1 by other RTKs such as EGFR. This is associated with the efficient recruitment of Gab1 to PIP₃-rich regions at the plasma membrane upon Met activation, as ectopically targeting Gab1 to the membrane induces prolonged EGF-dependent Gab1 phosphorylation and the induction of Met-like cell invasion (Maroun et al., 1999a; Maroun et al., 1999b). Mass spectrometry identified distinct tyrosine phosphorylation patterns in Gab1 in response to EGF and HGF signaling, and

these correlated with activation of distinct downstream effectors (Johnson et al., 2013). Engagement of Tyr1349 with the Met binding motif in Gab1 may contribute to sustained Gab1 phosphorylation by stabilizing the open conformation of the Met C-tail and the Met-Gab1 interaction (Frigault et al., 2008; Lock et al., 2003; Lock et al., 2002).

A diverse array of proteins have been shown to be recruited to the activated Met RTK complex, primarily through Gab1-dependent mechanisms. Structure-function experiments demonstrated that Grb2- and SHC1-dependent activation of the Ras-MAPK pathway mediates cell transformation, and Gab1-dependent activation of the SHP2 tyrosine phosphatase by SH2 domain displacement is required for the sustained MAPK activation and efficient cell invasion (Fixman et al., 1996; Fournier et al., 1996; Maroun et al., 2000; Saucier et al., 2002). Gab1 contains three SH2-binding motifs corresponding to the p85 binding site, has been shown to contribute to PI3K -Akt activation upon EGF or NGF stimulation, and is required for PI3K-dependent functions downstream of Met (Fan et al., 2001; Holgado-Madruga et al., 1997).

Gab1 has also been shown to mediate interactions with a variety of proteins involved in the regulation of actin cytoskeletal dynamics. The regulatory proteins NCK1 and Pak4 and the actin nucleating factors cortactin and N-WASP are recruited to Gab1 in response to HGF and contribute to cell morphogenesis and invasion (Abella et al., 2010b; Paliouras et al., 2009; Rajadurai et al., 2012). Crk-family adaptor proteins are recruited to six sites in Gab1, and mediate activation of the JNK MAPK pathway to promote cell invasion and anchorage-independent growth through the regulation of adherens junctions and the actin cytoskeleton (Garcia-Guzman et al., 2000; Lamorte et al., 2002b). Crk expression is required for the sustained phosphorylation of Gab1 downstream of Met, and its overexpression promotes epithelial cell invasion in response

to EGF in a manner comparable to HGF (Lamorte et al., 2002a; Watanabe, 2006). Crk is required for invasion, migration and metastatic growth in breast cancer cell lines, and has been reported to play similar roles in pancreatic and bladder cancer (Fathers et al., 2012; Matsumoto et al., 2015; Uemura et al., 2020). Thus, in addition to activating the major pathways required for transformation downstream of Met, Gab1-dependent signaling contributes extensively to cytoskeletal remodeling and resultant invasion and metastasis.

In addition to these pathways, a number of other signaling effectors have been linked to Metdependent signaling. Src-family CTKs have been shown to phosphorylate Gab1 downstream of Met and EGFR as well as other receptors, and Src may cooperate with Met to regulate Gab1 phosphorylation (Chan et al., 2003; Chan et al., 2010; Furcht et al., 2015). Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), a signaling effector and transcription factor involved in immunomodulatory signaling, has been shown to bind Met and is required for Met-dependent proliferative signalling in cancer, although the precise mechanism of Met-dependent STAT3 phosphorylation in cancer is disputed and may depend on induction of autocrine or paracrine signaling through interleukin-6 (Boccaccio et al., 1998; Lai et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2009). Recent work by our group has shown that Met cooperates with the RTK FGFR1 to promote tumour initiating capacity in a murine model of Met-dependent breast cancer, and that this involves the phosphorylation of the Gab1-related large multisite docking protein FRS2 (Sung, 2019; Sung et al., In press). Thus, tyrosine phosphorylation of Met induces the activation of a diverse array of downstream signaling proteins that collectively mediate the biological response to Met activation, primarily through the recruitment and phosphorylation of the Grb2-Gab1 complex.

1.20 Met signaling dynamics and output are regulated by endocytosis and degradation

Like other RTKs, activation of Met induces negative feedback that is responsible for signal termination. The major mechanisms of signal termination impinging on Met involve trafficking of the receptor from the plasma membrane to intracellular compartments. Met activation promotes the recruitment and phosphorylation of Cbl and the subsequent phosphorylation of hepatocyte growth factor receptor substrate (HRS), a component of the ESCRT complex, which is responsible for the maturation of late endosomes to degradative multivesicular bodies (Abella et al., 2005; Fixman et al., 1997). Loss of the Cbl binding site in the juxtamembrane region flanking the kinase domain facilitates Met-dependent transformation, either through mutation of Tyr1003 to which Cbl is recruited or by exon skipping affecting the site (Peschard et al., 2001; Peschard et al., 2004; Peschard and Park, 2003). Indeed, in MET-amplified gastric cancer cells with no mutations uncoupling Cbl binding from Met, phosphorylation and degradation of Cbl is associated with Met-dependent transformation and renders the cells hypersensitive to EGFdependent signaling as well (Lai et al., 2012). Tyrosine phosphorylation is directly antagonized by phosphatase activity and Met activation has been shown to induce the trafficking of the phosphatase PTP1B to the membrane to attenuate Met-dependent phosphorylation and promote Met trafficking to endosomal sorting machinery (Sangwan et al., 2011; Sangwan et al., 2008; Stuible et al., 2010).

Internalized Met is not always directed to be degraded. Sorting in early endosomal vesicles directs Met to be recycled to the plasma membrane via engagement with the adaptor protein GGA3, which is required for the sustained activation of Met-dependent Ras-MAPK signaling in HeLa cells (Parachoniak et al., 2011). This is dependent on the activation of the GTPase ARF6,

whose regulation of RTK trafficking has also been linked to cell junction stability and crosstalk with the Wnt-β-catenin signaling pathway (Pellon-Cardenas et al., 2013). Activation of ARF6 through the guanine exchange factor cytohesin-2 is required for HGF-dependent cell migration, linking the recycling-dependent prolonged activation of signaling to known Met-dependent biology (Ratcliffe et al., 2019). Thus, the dynamic regulation of Met trafficking and degradation is critical to establishing signal output and plays a critical role in oncogenic transformation downstream of Met as well as other RTKs.

1.21 RTKs in human cancer

RTK signaling is implicated in a wide variety of roles in human cancer. Several RTKs are recurrently mutated or amplified in specific cancer types, including EGFR in lung cancer, HER2 in breast cancer, and c-Kit in gastrointestinal stromal tumours, and the presence of these genetic lesions generally predispose patients to respond to RTK-directed therapies. In this case, the mutated or amplified RTK is considered to act as a driver oncogene, and inhibition of its signaling output generally is associated with a loss of cell proliferation and an increase in apoptosis. Many additional recurrently mutated cancer genes, including notably the GTPase *KRAS*, the MAPK *BRAF* and the lipid kinase *PIK3CA* and phosphatase *PTEN*, encode activators of the cytoplasmic signaling pathways that are utilized by RTKs. The activation of wild-type RTKs is presumed to be required at some level for cancer-associated signaling through these pathways even upon their oncogenic mutation. Furthermore, RTK activation has been implicated in diverse secondary roles in cancer biology, notably including several of the "hallmarks of cancer": remodeling of the tumour microenvironment; the acquisition of invasive and migratory capacity required for metastasis; the process of neoangiogenesis required for tumour vascularization; the relief of contact

inhibition; the evasion of immune surveillance and induction of pro-tumour inflammatory signaling; and the reprogramming of tumour metabolism to an anabolic state (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000, 2011; Lemmon and Schlessinger, 2010). While our understanding of cancer continues to evolve, research continues to implicate RTKs in emerging features of cancer biology. Notable recent efforts include the suppression of the antitumour T-cell response in RTK-activated cancers, and the efficacy of checkpoint inhibtion in combination with RTK-directed therapies (Ahn et al., 2019; Hsu et al., 2019; Kasikara et al., 2019; Soo et al., 2018). Alternative mechanisms of activating each of these biological functions that are independent of RTKs are well known in cancer, but the relevance of RTK-dependent signaling processes to cancer biology has made the study of RTKs an important element of cancer research (Du and Lovly, 2018; Yamaoka et al., 2018).

1.22 RTKs as targets of precision medicine in cancer

RTKs and their ligands have been targeted both as oncogenic driver genes as well as in their secondary roles supporting tumour growth. Much of the evidence for the role of RTKs in advanced cancers comes from research in experimentally tractable model systems, in which RTK signaling can be selectively activated or inactivated in controlled settings, or from analysis of the expression of receptor, ligand or downstream signaling intermediates at steady-state in late-stage tumours. This has shown extensive evidence for RTK signaling in promoting tumour cell invasion and migration, and in regulating tumour cell state, including the regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metabolic reprogramming (Akalu et al., 2017; Appert-Collin et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2015; Graham et al., 2014; Nakada et al., 2020; Valiathan et al., 2012). While therapeutic interventions directed at oncogenic driver alterations in RTKs, as well as the

angiogenic functions of the VEGF ligand and its receptors, have been successfully developed for cancer patients, it remains unclear whether clinical intervention in other secondary functions of RTKs yields benefit for patients. This may be due to cellular plasticity in established cancers, enabling cells to bypass RTK-dependent routes to metastasis or cellular reprogramming; alternatively, the presence of heterogeneity within tumours implies that some cells may be predisposed to non-RTK-dependent induction of these biological functions.

Many of the virally-encoded oncogenes derived from RTKs are activated by recurrent point mutations in cancer. Recurrent mutations in RTK genes are found in the extracellular ligandbinding, transmembrane and juxtamembrane domains of RTKs, as well as within the tyrosine kinase domain in several well-characterized "hotspots" associated with elevated kinase activity (Du and Lovly, 2018; Lahiry et al., 2010). ATP-competitive tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) blocking kinase enzymatic activity were first approved for use against BCR-Abl in patients with CML positive for the Philadelphia chromosome (2001; Cohen, 2002; Druker and Lydon, 2000). This was the first successful example of an approach to cancer therapy then called rational drug design, and lead to a broad class of drugs targeting both tyrosine and the broader family of serine/threonine kinases (Roskoski, 2019; Woolfrey and Weston, 2002). Small-molecule inhibitors targeting RTKs were first approved for use in lung cancer patients with EGFR kinase domain mutations in 2004 (Lynch et al., 2004). Meanwhile, an alternate track of research and development lead to the FDA approval in 1998 of trastuzumab, an antibody raised against HER2 with activity in HER2-amplified breast cancer (1998). In the years since these landmark achievements at the turn of the century, the repertoire of RTKs as targets in cancer medicine has expanded to include 30 RTKs targeted by 33 FDA-approved small-molecule TKIs, notably including

all four members of the FGFR family, the pro-angiogenic RTKs VEGFR2 (*KDR*) and VEGFR3 (*FLT4*), the PDGFR family, and c-Kit (FDA, 2004b). While many TKIs are designed to be exquisitely selective for a particular target, molecules that efficiently inhibit multiple RTKs have proven effective in clinical trials, and the majority of FDA-approved TKIs can be used to target an array of altered genes (Table 1.1).

Table 1.1: FDA-approved TKIs by kinase. CTKs and inhibitors that only target CTKs are italicized. Met inhibitors are in bold.

FDA-approved TKIs	Kinases approved for indication
acalabrutinib	ВТК
afatinib	EGFR, ERBB2, ERBB4
alectinib	ALK, RET
avapritinib	CSF1R, KIT, PDGFRA, PDGFRB
axitinib	FLT1, FLT4, KDR, PDGFRB
baricitinib	JAK1, JAK2
bosutinib	ABL, HCK, LYN, SRC
brigantinib	ALK, EGFR, FLT3, ROS1
cabozantinib	AXL, FLT1, FLT3, FLT4, KDR, KIT, MET, NTRK2, TIE2
capmatinib	MET
ceritinib	ALK, IGF1R, INSR, ROS1
crizotinib	ALK, MET , MST1R, ROS1
dacomitinib	EGFR, ERBB2, ERBB4
dasatinib	ABL, EGFR, EPHA2, FYN , KIT, LCK, PDGFRB, SRC, YES
entrectinib	NTRK1, NTRK2, NTRK3
erdafitinib	FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3, FGFR4
erlotinib	EGFR
fedratinib	JAK2
fostamatinib	SYK
gefitinib	EGFR
gilteritinib	FLT3
ibrutinib	BTK
imatinib	ABL, KIT, PDGFRA, PDGFRB
lapatinib	EGFR, ERBB2
larotrectinib	NTRK1, NTRK2, NTRK3
lenvatinib	FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3, FGFR4, FLT1, FLT4, KDR, KIT, PDGFRA, RET

lorlatinib	ALK
midostaurin	FLT3, KDR, PDGFRA
neratinib	ERBB2
nintendanib	FGFR1, FGFR2, FGFR3, FLT1, FLT3, FLT4, KDR, PDGFRA, PDGFRB
osimertinib	EGFR
pazopanib	FGFR1, FGFR3, FLT1, FLT4, FMS, ITK, KDR, KIT, LCK, PDGFRA, PDGFRB
pexidartinib	CSF1R, KIT
ponatinib	ABL, EPH family, FGFR family, FLT1, FLT3, FLT4, KDR, KIT, PDGFRA,
	PDGFRB, RET, SRC family, TIE2
regorafenib	ABL, EPHA2, FGFR1, FGFR2, FLT1, FLT4, KDR, KIT, PDGFRA, PDGFRB,
	RET, TIE2
ruxolitinib	JAK1, JAK2
sorafenib	FLT1, FLT3, FLT4, KDR, KIT, PDGFRB, RET
sunitinib	AXL, CSF1R, FLT1, FLT3, FLT4, KDR, KIT, PDGFRA, PDGFRB, RET
toacitinib	JAK3
upadacitinib	JAK1
vandetanib	EGFR, EPH family, ERBB2, ERBB4, FLT1, FLT4, KDR, PTK2, RET, SRC
	family, TIE2
zanubrutinib	ВТК

In contrast to this, the generation of antibodies is inherently receptor-specific, as each antibody is raised to target a unique molecular epitope. In addition to trastuzumab, an antibody targeting EGFR, cetuximab, was approved for use in metastatic colorectal cancer in 2004, for use in all colorectal cancers lacking a *KRAS* activating mutation in 2009, and in metastatic head and neck cancer in 2011. Both EGFR and HER2 have been targeted with antibody-drug conjugates based on cetuximab and trastuzumab, respectively, in order to increase the cytotoxicity of these drugs in targeted cells. In addition to this, antibodies have been approved for use against VEGFR2 and its ligand VEGF-A to block angiogenesis in gastric, colorectal, hepatocellular and non-small-cell lung carcinomas (FDA, 2004a, 2014). An antibody raised against PDGFRA, olaratumab, was approved for use in sarcomas in 2016, but unfortunately was removed from US and European

markets in 2019 due to a lack of efficacy in subsequent clinical trials (FDA, 2016; Lilly, 2019). Intriguingly, burosumab, an antibody targeting the RTK ligand FGF23, was approved for use in pediatric patients with X-linked hypophosphatemia in 2018 (Carpenter et al., 2018). Treatment with burosumab antagonizes elevated FGF23 levels in these patients, relieving a blockade on phosphate reabsorption by the kidneys. As FGF23 overexpression also underlies tumour-induced osteomalacia in patients with phosphaturic mesenchymal tumours, it has been approved for use in patients suffering from this rare side-effect of cancer as well (Day et al., 2020). The diverse mechanisms for targeting aberrant receptor tyrosine kinase activity in cancer reflect the many roles these genes play in regulating the biology of cancer, and clinical trials undertaken to block RTK activity in human cancers number in the thousands (NIH). Ongoing efforts to expand the repertoire of targetable genes, to improve the efficacy of RTK-directed therapies, and to improve patient stratification for maximal efficacy remain key priorities in drug development as of this writing.

1.23 MET alterations in human cancer

The Met RTK has been implicated in human cancers since its discovery as a transforming oncogene upon chromosomal rearrangement (Gonzatti-Haces et al., 1988; Park et al., 1986; Park et al., 1987). Met protein overexpression and constitutive phosphorylation was associated early on with amplification of the *MET* gene in human cancer cell lines, and the early association of *MET* or *HGF* overexpression with poor prognosis in several human cancers indicated that Met-dependent biology was broadly implicated in cancer progression (Di Renzo et al., 1992; Ghoussoub et al., 1998; Hida et al., 1999; Kuniyasu et al., 1992; Oda et al., 2000; Siegfried et al., 1997; Tuck et al., 1996; Yamashita et al., 1994; Yonemura et al., 1997). Elevated *MET* expression

as well as the acquisition of activating mutations was observed in several metastatic cancers, implying that Met activity may be associated with advanced stages of cancer (Di Renzo et al., 1995; Di Renzo et al., 2000). Furthermore, the discovery of germline mutations in *MET* in familial renal carcinoma implicated Met activation in this disease and was a key early indicator of the potential utility of Met for therapeutic intervention (Schmidt et al., 1997). Mutation of the Cbl binding site, which was missing in the oncogenic TPR-Met fusion protein, was shown to be sufficient for Met-dependent transformation of cells *in vitro* (Peschard et al., 2001). Collectively, these observations showed that Met could play important roles in human cancer, including as an oncogenic driver of cell transformation (Peschard and Park, 2003).

Evidence of the role for Met activity in a variety of cancer-associated processes along with its association with poor prognosis and metastatic cancers helped drive the development of Metdirected therapies (Zou et al., 2007). The sensitivity of *MET*-amplified cell lines to Met-selective TKIs was strong evidence for the potential activity of these agents in patients with *MET*-amplified tumours (Smolen et al., 2006). Mutations in Met leading to the deletion of exon 14, encoding the Cbl-binding site, were discovered in lung and gastric cancers and cancer-derived cell lines, indicating that this may be a common mechanism of oncogenic Met activation, as well as one seen in other RTKs (Asaoka et al., 2010; Kong-Beltran et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2000; Peschard and Park, 2003). As these mutations mostly occur in intronic regions and cause exclusion of exon 14 in *MET*, they are not detected in analyses of cancer based on whole exome sequencing, and were long-undercounted in human cancers, even with the advent of modern high-throughput sequencing techniques. Exon 14 mutations frequently co-occur with amplification of *MET*, and are associated with advanced and metastatic cancers as well (Awad et al., 2016). The systematic molecular profiling of human cancers performed over the past decade as part of the Pan-Cancer Atlas and other international consortia has helped illuminate the prevalence of Met alterations in human cancer. MET gene amplification in the absence of other known driver gene alterations was observed in a minor population of both lung (2.2%) and stomach (4%) adenocarcinomas, in line with prior observations (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2014a, b) (Figure 1.7). Mutations affecting the splicing of exon 14 have been reported in lung adenocarcinomas as well as fusions with the RET, ROS1 and ALK RTK genes, cumulatively affecting 7% of patients (Cancer Genome Atlas Research, 2014b). Additionally, recurrent gene fusions involving MET, predominantly with the phosphatase gene PTPRZ1, have been reported in up to 10% of pediatric glioblastomas (International Cancer Genome Consortium PedBrain Tumor, 2016). While MET copy number gains or amplifications are not predictive of response to Metdirected therapy in glioblastoma, preclinical models show that autocrine secretion of HGF is capable of inducing Met-dependent transformation in the brain (Xie et al., 2012). HGF autocrine secretion has also been proposed as a mechanism of Met-dependent transformation in sarcomas and acute myeloid leukemia, but this has also primarily been shown using in vitro assays from explanted or cultured cell lines (Cortner et al., 1995; Kentsis et al., 2012). As a diagnostic test for human patients with HGF autocrine activation has not been established, it is difficult to predict how frequently this mechanism of Met-dependent activation occurs. Gene amplification of HGF, which occurs in 2-3% of lung, esophagogastric, liver, ovarian, and bladder carcinomas, as well as in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas, is predicted to predispose patients to autocrine Met activation (Weinstein et al., 2013).

1.24 The Met receptor tyrosine kinase as a target in cancer

The Met receptor tyrosine kinase has been assessed as a target of precision medicine both as monotherapy and in combination with other treatments. Targeting of Met is usually tested as a second- or third-line therapy after prior exposure to chemotherapy and other precision medicine, primarily targeting EGFR in lung cancer, but Met has also been assessed as part of a first-line therapeutic regimen (Table 1.2) (Catenacci et al., 2017). Met has been targeted using both antibodies directed at the extracellular domain and ATP-competitive TKIs. While promising objective responses have been observed in patients with genetic alterations including gene amplification, kinase domain mutation and exon 14 skipping, patients without these predisposing conditions rarely respond to Met inhibition. After setbacks related to poor patient stratification and worrisome developments using monoclonal antibodies, a number of experimental antibody-based therapies are under evaluation, and the Met-specific TKI capmatinib was recently approved for use in patients with exon-14-skipping mutations (Garber, 2014; Recondo et al., 2020b).

Drug	Class	Trials	Single- agent	Combination	Active	Concluded
AMG-208	TKI (multikinase)	2	2	0	0	1
AMG-337	TKI (Met- specific)	6	5	1	1	1
anlotinib	TKI (multikinase)	152	44	108	128	12
Cabozantinib	TKI (multikinase)	144	66	78	106	30
Capmatinib	TKI (Met- specific)	35	12	23	18	9

Table 1.2: Met-directed therapies in clinical trials (NIH)

Crizotinib	Type I TKI (multikinase)	108	48	60	61	32
EMD 1204831	Type I TKI (Met- specific)	1	1	0	0	0
Kanitinib	Type I TKI (multikinase)	2	2	0	2	0
merestinib	Type I TKI (multikinase)	11	5	6	5	6
glesatinib	Type I TKI (multikinase)	7	5	2	1	5
sitravatinib	Type I TKI (multikinase)	12	5	7	12	0
PF-04217903	Type I TKI (Met- specific)	1	1	0	0	0
PBL1001	Type I TKI (Met- specific)	4	4	0	2	2
SAR125844	Type I TKI (Met- specific)	3	3	0	0	3
savolitinib	Type I TKI (Met- specific)	27	13	14	14	11
tepotinib	TKI (Met- specific)	13	4	9	4	9
tivantinib	Allosteric TKI	46	26	20	1	39
TPX-0022	TKI (macrocycle) (multikinase)	1	1	0	1	0
ficlatuzumab	HGF-neutralizing mAb	10	2	8	2	3
JNJ-61186372	Bispecific antibody (EGFR)	2	0	2	2	0
onartuzumab	Met mAb	18	2	16	0	16
rilotumumab	Met mAb	16	4	12	1	10
Sym-015	Met mAb mixture	1	1	0	1	0
telisotuzumab	Met mAb drug conjugate	4	3	1	3	1
JNJ-38877605	Type I TKI (Met- specific)	1	1	0	0	0
REGN5093	Met mAb (bivalent)	1	1	0	1	0





1.25 Antibody-based targeting of Met-dependent signaling in cancer

Met has been targeted in clinical trials by antibodies directed at extracellular regions of the receptor or by tyrosine kinase inhibitors selective for the Met kinase domain over the majority of other tyrosine kinases. Antibodies targeting the Met receptor in clinical trials have primarily been directed at the ligand-binding function of the receptor. Initial clinical trials with both antibodies showed reasonable tolerance in patients with advanced cancer, and while a significant benefit was not observed, partial responses were observed in multiple patients during phase II trials with both antibodies (Scagliotti et al., 2013; Spigel et al., 2012). Unfortunately, the development of

both antibodies was halted during phase III clinical trials due to concerning trend towards earlier mortality in patients on antibody-treatment arms, and this method of targeting the Met receptor has largely been abandoned. Retrospective analysis of phase II trials had shown some benefit of ligand-competitive antibodies in patients with *MET* amplification, but this was not borne out in phase III trials with either antibody (Catenacci et al., 2017; Garber, 2014).

Extracellular antibody mixtures have been developed that target the Met receptor at multiple sites, inducing Met internalization in both HGF-dependent and -independent modes of activation (Grandal et al., 2017; Poulsen et al., 2017). This mixture is currently under preliminary assessment for safety and response in humans, but results have not been reported yet (Clinical trial number NCT02648724) (Camidge et al., 2019). An additional approach of targeting the Met pathway led to the development of ficlatuzumab, an HGF-neutralizing antibody (D'Arcangelo and Cappuzzo, 2013). Like antibodies directed at the extracellular ligand-binding domains of the Met receptor, this drug was well-tolerated by patients with advanced cancer in phase I trials, but did not show statistically significant benefit in combination with EGFR-directed TKIs in phase II trials (Mok et al., 2016; Patnaik et al., 2014; Tabernero et al., 2014). Ficlatuzumab is still under investigation in pancreatic and head-and-neck squamous cell carcinomas, but trials involving this drug in other diseases were terminated due to lack of expected response and poor enrollment. A bispecific antibody targeting Met and EGFR, JNJ-61186372, is also under active investigation in clinical trials, although it is being prioritized for patients with EGFR exon 20-skipping mutations over patients with MET alterations (Table 1.1).
1.26 Tyrosine kinase inhibitors targeting the Met RTK in cancer

Tyrosine kinase inhibitors comprise a much broader class of Met-directed therapeutic agents. While target specificity is central to the design of both therapeutic antibodies and smallmolecule ATP-competitive kinase inhibitors, the similarity between ATP binding pockets in kinase domains creates additional challenges in achieving selectivity by this method. For this reason, most TKIs, including FDA-approved kinase inhibitors, show activity against multiple kinases (Bishop et al., 1998; Davis et al., 2011; Knight and Shokat, 2005; Roskoski, 2010). While this is a major challenge in drug development, it does have the advantage of allowing welltolerated drugs to be repurposed for a wide variety of malignancies. This has proven to be extremely beneficial in the case of Met, which is effectively inhibited by the FDA-approved multikinase inhibitors crizotinib and cabozantinib.

Crizotinib was developed as a Met inhibitor but was discovered to have activity against the ALK and ROS RTKs *in vitro*, and responses to crizotinib in patients with *ALK* gene rearrangements were observed in phase I clinical trials (Camidge et al., 2012; Christensen et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2010). Clinical trials for crizotinib were initiated to target non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with ALK, ROS or Met expression by immunohistochemical scoring. Initial trials showed a significant benefit for patients with ALK positivity, most of whom had gene fusions oncogenically activating *ALK* (Camidge et al., 2012). Patients with high Met protein levels were not more likely to respond to treatment, but individuals with *MET* gene amplification were identified as exceptional responders (Landi et al., 2019; Lennerz et al., 2011; Ou et al., 2011). FDA approval was given for crizotinib based on its efficacy in ALK-rearranged patients, but given its recognized activity in *MET*-amplified tumours, Met alterations are included as an on-label indication for this drug (Camidge et al., 2012; FDA, 2011; Kazandjian et al., 2014; Solomon et al., 2018). Subsequent trials have shown elevated rates of response to crizotinib in patients with high-level amplification of the *MET* gene, consisting of at least a 2.2-fold increase in *MET* gene signal over the chromosome 7 centromere (CEP7) (Camidge et al., 2014). While definitive improvements in overall survival have not been reported in patients with *MET*-amplified tumours treated with crizotinib, its availability as an FDA-approved inhibitor of Met has led to the inclusion of *MET* amplification in many ongoing basket trials for patients with advanced cancers (Table 1.1).

Cabozantinib is another FDA-approved multikinase inhibitor with activity against Met. Unlike crizotinib, which was initially selected for development due to its activity against the Met kinase, cabozantinib has been developed largely as a potent inhibitor of the VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2) tyrosine kinase, encoded by the KDR gene, which is a major regulator of pathological angiogenesis in multiple human cancers (Shibuya and Claessonwelsh, 2006). Cabozantinib is approved for use in medullary thyroid cancer, metastatic renal clear cell carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma previously treated with the VEGFR2-targeting multikinase inhibitor sunitinib (COMETRIQ[®] and CABOMETYX[®] product labels). In preclinical models and patients treated off-label with cabozantinib, Met kinase inhibition has been shown to have direct clinical value distinct from its activity against other targets such as VEGFR2 (Wang et al., 2019; Yakes et al., 2011). Cabozantinib has been especially useful as a treatment in the bone metastatic setting, where it has been shown to reduce metastatic burden in patients in a difficult-to-treat disease setting. Importantly, this activity has been linked in preclinical models to Met signaling specifically, demonstrating a benefit of multikinase over single-kinase therapy in disease control (Daudigeos-Dubus et al., 2017; Xiang et al., 2014).

Recently, FDA approval was granted for capmatinib, a first-in-class highly selective Met inhibitor. Capmatinib has some off-target activity *in vitro* like all known TKIs, but its selectivity for Met is sufficient for its use in humans as a selective monokinase inhibitor (Baltschukat et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2011). Capmatinib was approved for use in NSCLC patients with Met exon-14-skipping mutations in May 2020, based on promising results in phase II clinical trials and ongoing phase III trials. While activity in patients with *MET* amplification has been reported, the use of capmatinib for this indication is still under active investigation to determine survival benefit.

1.27 Stratification of likely responders has remained a challenge for Met-directed cancer therapies

The development of Met-directed therapies in cancer has seen repeated setbacks. The failures of onartuzumab and rilotumumab suppressed industrial interest in designing Met-targeted therapies until further evidence of efficacy could be shown. Trials targeting Met continued using the FDA-approved multikinase inhibitors crizotinib and cabozantinib, while several newer Met-targeting TKIs were developed in parallel, including the recently-approved Met inhibitor capmatinib. Unfortunately, these efforts have yet to show statistically significant survival benefit for Met-directed therapies in a randomized controlled trial; nonetheless, *MET* amplification is still considered as a target of precision medicine in ongoing basket trials. Met was initially investigated due to the observation that elevated levels of Met protein correlated with poor prognosis in several cancers, but stratification methods based on immunohistochemistry as a method of detected elevated Met levels have a poor record of successfully predicting patient response to Met-directed therapies (Catenacci et al., 2014; Garber, 2014; Lambros and Uguen, 2019; Mignard et al., 2018). It has been suggested that variability in immunohistochemical

scoring between different batches of samples may contribute to the failure of this method in patient stratification, while other studies have indicated that the dynamic range of Met protein levels associated with Met dependency in cancer are not captured by current immunohistochemical assays (Boyle et al., 2019; Catenacci et al., 2014; Mignard et al., 2018). Retrospective analyses of underperforming clinical trials identified MET gene amplification as predictive of response to Met-targeted therapy, leading to the adoption of fluorescence in-situ hybridization (FISH) as a primary assay for identifying patients likely to respond to Met inhibition (Lennerz et al., 2011; Ou et al., 2011). MET copy gain in the context of chromosome 7 polysomy is generally associated with lower absolute copy number than MET focal amplifications involving a small region within chromosome 7, and is also more likely to predict response to Met-directed therapy (Lai et al., 2019). Additionally, patients with low-level MET focal amplification respond at lower rates to Met inhibition, and frequently have additional oncogenic drivers that may be better drug targets (Noonan et al., 2016; Tong et al., 2016). Thus, patients with at least a 5-fold increase in signal for the MET gene over CEP7 stand to benefit by even modest response rates to Met inhibition, but lower-level copy gains at the MET locus are not predictive of response over alternative therapies available (Guo et al., 2019; Noonan et al., 2016; Tong et al., 2016). Thus, while MET gene amplification remains an important mechanism of Met-dependent transformation, it remains unclear exactly how this works at a mechanistic level. There has been considerable interest in identifying other clinical indications for Met inhibition.

Mutations affecting the negative regulation of Met are also considered a major mechanism of Met-dependent transformation. Mutations causing exon 14 skipping frequently overlap with *MET* gene amplification as well, but objective responses to the Met TKI crizotinib have been

observed both in exon-14-mutated tumours lacking *MET* amplification and in amplified tumours with no evidence of exon-skipping events (Awad et al., 2016; Caparica et al., 2017; Drilon et al., 2016). Nonetheless, responses to Met inhibitors have been reported in patients lacking gene amplification, clear evidence of receptor overexpression, or known activating or exon 14 mutations, indicating that there may be exceptional responders to Met-targeted therapy that current stratification techniques cannot detect (Zhang et al., 2015). Thus, new methods of identifying patients likely to respond to Met-targeted therapy and a clearer understanding of the mechanisms of Met-dependent transformation could lead to better patient stratification and an improvement in clinical care.

1.28 MET gene amplification is a well-studied model of Met-dependent cancer

While several genetic alterations in *MET* have been linked to Met-dependent oncogenicity and thus sensitivity to Met inhibition, *in vitro* models of Met-dependent cancers have long been shown to involve overexpression of *MET*, often through focal genomic amplification. The initial human cancer cell lines in which full-length Met was observed to be phosphorylated all possessed focal amplification of the *MET* gene, resulting in overexpression and constitutive phosphorylation of the receptor (Giordano et al., 1988; Giordano et al., 1989; Rodrigues et al., 1991). Spontaneous amplification of the endogenous murine *MET* gene was reported to transform NIH-3T3 fibroblasts (Cooper et al., 1986). Moreover, in cells transduced with cDNA encoding Met, multiple copies of the transgene were found in all transformed cells, implying that transformation was accompanied by expansion of the Met copy number (Iyer et al., 1990). In subcutaneous tumours grown from NIH-3T3 cells transduced with either wild-type Met or kinase domain mutants observed in familial kidney cancers, all resultant tumours showed overexpression of Met

compared to the injected cells, indicating that Met kinase domain mutations alone are insufficient to oncogenically activate the Met RTK (Jeffers et al., 1997).

While the above evidence had long implicated gene amplification in the oncogenic activation of Met, the observation that patients with *MET* gene amplification were more likely to respond to Met-directed therapy in clinical trials renewed interest in *MET*-amplified cancer cell lines as a model (Garber, 2014; Spigel et al., 2017). *MET* amplification had already been shown to confer sensitivity to Met-directed TKIs in tissue culture and *in vivo* in comparison to non-amplified cell lines (Lutterbach et al., 2007; Smolen et al., 2006). *MET*-amplified cell lines have thus been used to characterize TKI and antibody-based inhibitors of Met, and in particular as a model system to study the development of acquired resistance to Met-directed therapy both in cell culture and in xenograft mouse models (Apicella et al., 2018; Cepero et al., 2010; Goltsov et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2019; Pennacchietti et al., 2014; Yamaoka et al., 2016).

In addition to this, *MET* amplification had been shown as a bypass mechanism of acquired resistance to the EGFR TKI gefitinib in *EGFR*-mutated NSCLC cell lines (Engelman et al., 2007). *MET* amplification has since been demonstrated to be a mechanism of acquired resistance to EGFR-directed TKIs in human patients, and recent clinical trials have shown a recurrent benefit of combining Met- and EGFR-directed TKIs in NSCLC patients who have acquired resistance to EGFR inhibition (Gainor et al., 2016; Sequist et al., 2020). While acquired resistance to first- and second-generation EGFR TKIs usually arises through secondary EGFR mutations, more recent third-generation EGFR TKIs can maintain growth inhibition in the presence of these mutations. The occurrence of *MET* amplification as a mechanism of acquired resistance is more common in patients treated with these newer EGFR TKIs (Roper et al., 2020). Thus, despite its low incidence

as a *de novo* driver alteration, *MET* amplification remains an actionable genetic alteration with an increasingly important role in human cancers.

1.29 RTK crosstalk in the MET-amplified setting

One key difference observed between *MET*-amplified and non-amplified cell lines is the Metdependent phosphorylation of EGFR-family RTKs. *MET*-amplified cell lines have frequently been shown to exhibit Met-dependent activation of EGFR, HER2 and HER3, and co-inhibition of these RTKs has been shown to potentiate the effect of Met inhibition both in cell culture and xenograft mouse models of *MET*-amplified cancer (Lutterbach et al., 2007; Moores et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013). The activation of EGFR or HER3 by their ligands has been shown to rescue proliferation in *MET*-amplified cells under growth arrest due to Met kinase inhibition or siRNA-mediated depletion (Bachleitner-Hofmann et al., 2008). While experimental models have frequently identified Met kinase domain mutations, stromal HGF secretion or further amplification of *MET* as major mechanisms of acquired resistance to Met-directed TKIs, both cellculture and patient-derived organoid models have identified EGFR signaling as an important additional bypass mechanism to Met inhibition (Kim et al., 2019). Thus, there is evidence that signaling downstream of EGFR is important in mediating the response to Met inhibition in the *MET*-amplified context.

Efforts to clinically target crosstalk between Met and EGFR itself have not shown therapeutic benefit in clinical trials in patients with *de novo* mutations in *EGFR* or amplification of *MET* (Spigel et al., 2013). Nonetheless, *MET* amplification is recognized as a mechanism of resistance following small-molecule inhibitor targeting of EGFR mutant lung cancer, and conversely, EGFR

and HER3 amplification or mutation have been observed as resistance mechanisms to Met inhibition in human cancers (Engelman et al., 2007; Gainor et al., 2016; Recondo et al., 2020a). Recently, the combination of Met inhibition and EGFR inhibition has shown significant clinical benefit in patients with acquired resistance to the third-generation EGFR inhibitor osimertinib, as this can effectively inhibit the common secondary EGFR mutations often acquired in patients treated with gefitinib or erlotinib (Roper et al., 2020; Sequist et al., 2020). In addition, ligandmediated activation of EGFR-family RTKs, including HER3, restores cell proliferation in *MET*amplified cells treated with a small-molecule Met inhibitor (Bachleitner-Hofmann et al., 2008).

Additional instances of crosstalk with other RTKs has been reported in *MET*-amplified cells (recently reviewed in Paul and Hristova, 2019). The closely-related RTK Ron can heterodimerize with Met to promote receptor *trans*-phosphorylation and oncogenic signaling (Benvenuti et al., 2011; Follenzi et al., 2000). One key study identified crosstalk with the Ret RTK as well as EGFR, HER2 and HER3 in *MET*-amplified cell lines, and proposed differential roles for each receptor in mediating signal output downstream of Met (Tanizaki et al., 2011b). Ligand-mediated activation of FGFR family RTKs have been implicated in resistance to Met inhibition *in vitro*. A recent study by our group reported that Met and FGFR1 cooperate to promote tumour initiating capacity in a genetically-engineered mouse model with spontaneous *MET* amplification (Kim et al., 2015; Sung, 2019; Sung et al., In press). Thus, it remains critical to understand the contribution of RTK crosstalk to oncogenic signaling and the emergence of acquired resistance cancer patients with *MET*-amplified tumours.

1.30 Rationale

While Met signaling in the context of HGF-dependent activation has been extensively characterized using hypothesis-driven as well as empirical observational research, the signaling output required for a proliferative and anti-apoptotic response underlying sensitivity to Met inhibition is poorly understood. Many of the pathways shown to contribute to Met-dependent proliferative signaling in the context of *MET* amplification or mutation in cancer are known to be involved in the invasive growth program initiated by HGF-dependent signaling seen in most normal cell lines, where little HGF-dependent proliferation is observed (Johnson et al., 2013; Lai et al., 2014; Stoker et al., 1987).

Crosstalk between Met and the EGFR family of RTKs, frequently involved in cancer-associated proliferative signaling, has been reported in many *MET*-amplified cancer cell lines. We hypothesized that Met-EGFR family crosstalk may be involved in rewiring Met-dependent signaling from an invasive toward a proliferative output, rendering *MET*-amplified cells sensitive to Met inhibition. RTK crosstalk between Met and the EGFR family would thus underlie the sensitivity of *MET*-amplified tumours to Met-directed therapies. To test this hypothesis, we characterized a panel of *MET*-amplified cell lines for crosstalk with the EGFR family of RTKs. We then employed cell lines from this panel as a model system to delineate the contribution of Met-dependent crosstalk to proliferative signaling in the amplified setting. We further identified novel Met-dependent phosphoproteins in the amplified setting using mass spectrometry and developed an ATP analogue-sensitive variant of Met to be used for substrate-labeling experiments. As better stratification of patients likely to respond to Met-directed therapies remains a critical challenge in effective intervention in human cancer, a clear understanding of

the mechanism underpinning Met-dependent cell transformation will improve our precision in targeting this pathway in cancer.

CHAPTER 2: RESULTS

2.1 Crosstalk between Met and EGFR family RTKs in MET-amplified cancer cell lines

In order to study crosstalk between Met and EGFR-family RTKs in Met-dependent cancers, we first assembled a panel of *MET*-amplified cancer cell lines that maintain high protein levels of Met and display constitutive activation and tyrosine phosphorylation of Met. These cells would be predicted to show Met-dependent proliferation and promotion of cell survival signaling, and could serve as model systems for Met-dependent cancers (Lai et al., 2014; Smolen et al., 2006). For this we collected cell lines already validated as Met-dependent through previous experiments conducted by our group as well as other reports in the literature (Abella et al., 2010a; Grandal et al., 2017; Lai et al., 2014; Smolen et al., 2006; Tanizaki et al., 2011a; Zhang et al., 2013). We also included cell lines that were annotated to have copy number gains at the MET genomic locus by the Cancer Cell Line Encyclopedia (CCLE) or the Catalogue of Somatic Mutations in Cancer (COSMIC) (Malme-3M, HCC70, HCC1395). We included HeLa cells as a well-characterized control cell line that maintains Met protein levels but does not exhibit Met activation or phosphorylation in the absence of exogenous treatment with the Met ligand, HGF (Abella et al., 2010a; Parachoniak et al., 2011) (Table 2.1).

2.2 Building a panel of MET-amplified cell lines with constitutive Met phosphorylation

To establish a panel of Met-dependent cancers, we assessed Met expression and tyrosine phosphorylation, as well as overall tyrosine phosphorylation, in our set of cell lines with *MET* copy gains or amplification. We found that high levels of Met protein were only observed in cell lines already established as Met-dependent by studies in our group and other laboratories, while the

Cell line	Tissue	Morphology	Log ₂ [<i>MET</i>] (CCLE)	Met copy number (COSMIC)	Reference
HeLa	cervix	epithelial			(Abella et al. <i>,</i> 2010a)
Malme-3M	skin	fibroblast	1.02	7	(Rohrbeck et al., 2016)
HCC70	breast	epithelial	0.41		(Sameni et al., 2016)
HCC1395	breast	epithelial	1.35		(Sohn et al., 2014)
OE33	oesophagus	epithelial	2.11	14	(Grandal et al., 2017)
Snu5	stomach	suspension	3.45	14	(Lai et al., 2014)
Okajima	stomach	suspension			(Lai et al., 2014)
Kato II	stomach	suspension			(Lai et al., 2014)
MKN45	stomach	epithelial	2.63	9	(Lai et al., 2014)
EBC1	lung	epithelial	3.5		(Zhang et al., 2013)
H1993	lung	epithelial		10	(Tanizaki et al. <i>,</i> 2011b)
SkBr3	breast	epithelial	1.6		(Brockhoff et al., 2001)

Table 2.1: MET-elevated and -amplified cell lines. Characteristics of cell lines used in figure 2.1 and for MET-amplified cell line panel

additional cell lines with copy gains at the *MET* locus did not express elevated levels of Met protein or show constitutive Met phosphorylation (Figure 2.1A). All previously-characterized Met-dependent cell lines (OE33, Snu5, Okajima, Katoll, MKN45, EBC1 and H1993) displayed constitutive phosphorylation of Met, and tyrosine phosphorylation of several other proteins as observed by pan-phosphotyrosine Western blotting (Figure 2.1A). The constitutive phosphorylation of Met in the absence of exogenous HGF at high protein levels is consistent with a simple mass-action-based mechanism of Met activation, whereby increased Met concentrations within the plasma membrane promote its ligand-independent association and kinase activation (Figure 2.1B). This was associated with elevated levels of Met protein normalized to total cellular protein (Figure 2.1C). We also performed cell proliferation assays in the presence of the Met inhibitor PHA-665752 (PHA) (0.5 μ M) and the EGFR inhibitor gefitinib (1 μ M) to confirm the sensitivity of *MET*-amplified cell lines to Met inhibition (Figure 2.1D) (Christensen et al., 2003; Davis et al., 2011). While PHA treatment reduced cell proliferation in all MET-amplified cell lines tested, it had no effect on an ERBB2-amplified breast cancer cell line, SkBr3, where HER2-driven activation of EGFR and HER3 is important for proliferation (Brockhoff et al., 2001). Instead, SkBr3 cell proliferation was sensitive to gefitinib inhibition (Figure 2.1D). By contrast, 5 out of 7 MET-amplified cell lines tested showed no statistically significant impact on proliferation when treated with gefitinib. Mkn45 gastric cancer cells were more sensitive to PHA but showed partial sensitivity to gefitinib as well (8 vs. 69% of control, respectively; Ordinary oneway ANOVA, p<0.0001 and p=0.0009, respectively). OE33 cells, which are both MET- and ERBB2amplified, show comparable sensitivity to both PHA and gefitinib, though both of these effects are below the cutoff we used for statistical significance. We proceeded to use the seven METamplified cell lines in our study of the role of crosstalk with the EGFR family in Met-dependent cancer.

2.3 Characterization of Met-EGFR family crosstalk in MET-amplified cell lines

To better understand whether constitutive Met activation promoted heterotypic signaling that would contribute to Met-dependent proliferation, we first assessed the phosphorylation of the EGFR family RTKs EGFR, HER2 and HER3 in our panel of *MET*-amplified cell lines. We included SkBr3 cells as a control in which *ERBB2* amplification drives overexpression and constitutive phosphorylation of HER2, as well as its homologues EGFR and HER3 (Brockhoff et al., 2001). We assessed levels of total and tyrosine phosphorylated HER3, EGFR and HER2 using site-specific



Figure 2.1: Elevated Met protein predicts constitutive tyrosine phosphorylation in MET-amplified cells. (A) Western blot of Met activation loop phosphorylation (Tyr 1234/35) (pMet), total Met protein, and general tyrosine phosphorylation (pTyr). Tubulin and GAPDH levels are shown as loading controls (n=1). (B) Autoinhibitory mechanisms in Met that keep the unliganded receptors inactive in normal cells (left) may be overcome at high concentrations of receptor in the plasma membrane, as seen in MET-amplified cells (right). (C) Quantification of total Met protein levels relative to tubulin (left) and phospho-Met relative to total (right) from (A) show that high protein levels are associated with the induction of Met phosphorylation. (D) MET-amplified cells are sensitive to PHA-665752 (PHA) in proliferation assays, while these cell lines are mostly insensitive to the EGFR inhibitor gefitinib. In contrast, ERBB2-amplified SkBr3 cells are sensitive to gefitinib but not PHA treatment. Ordinary one-way ANOVA: * p<0.05; *** p<0.001; **** p<0.001; n=1.

phosphotyrosine antibodies directed at residues in the RTK C-tails. All seven *MET*-amplified cell lines expressed HER3, EGFR and HER2 at detectable levels and showed basal tyrosine phosphorylation using steady-state conditions, as was also observed in SkBr3 cells (Figure 2.2A). To evaluate dependence of EGFR-family RTK phosphorylation on Met activity, the cell line panel was treated for one hour with the PHA-665752 (0.5 μM) or with DMSO as control. Met inhibition reduced phosphorylation of HER3 in all 7 *MET*-amplified cell lines tested (Figure 2.2B). EGFR phosphorylation was dependent on Met activity in 4 out of 7 cell lines (OE33, MKN45, EBC1 and H1993) whereas HER2 phosphorylation was dependent on Met activity only in MKN45 and H1993 cells. This indicated that crosstalk between Met and the EGFR family of RTKs primarily involves HER3 in *MET*-amplified cells, with convergent selection for a Met-HER3 phosphorylation axis across seven independently derived cell lines.

2.4 Met-dependent EGFR family phosphorylation is not dependent on robust RTK heterointeraction

In EBC1 and H1993 cells, Met inhibition diminishes not only tyrosine phosphorylation of HER3, but also EGFR and HER2, suggesting that Met may engage directly with all three EGFR family RTKs in these cell lines (Figure 2.2). Previous studies have reported co-immunoprecipitation of Met with HER3, EGFR and HER2, as well as the RET RTK (Tanizaki et al., 2011b). We failed to detect co-immunoprecipitation of Met with HER3 and EGFR over control IgG antibody under comparable conditions, indicating that any protein-protein interaction between Met and these

proteins in these cell lines is labile and not easily amenable to structure-function based analysis (Figure 2.3 A and B).

HER2 similarly did not robustly co-immunoprecipitate with Met in these cell lines (Figure 2.3 C). Supporting this, co-overexpression of Met with EGFR did not promote their coimmunoprecipitation in HEK293 cells, whether or not kinase activity was impaired by the Lys1110Ala substitution in the kinase domain (K1110A) (Figure 2.3 D). When Met and HER3 were co-overexpressed in the related HEK293T cell line, we similarly did not detect their coimmunoprecipitation (Figure 2.3 E). Collectively, these observations indicate that the Metdependent phosphorylation of these receptors is not accompanied by the formation of a stable complex that can be detected by immunoprecipitation.

2.5 Canonical substrate binding sites in Met and HER3 are not required for HER3 phosphorylation

As an alternative to co-immunoprecipitation to detect protein-protein interactions, we have developed a *trans*-phosphorylation assay to identify the structural requirements of HER3 and Met for transphosphorylation. As HER3 lacks intrinsic kinase activity, expression of HER3 in HEK293T cells does not induce HER3 autophosphorylation, unlike what is observed for EGFR or HER2. Using lentiviral transduction, we stably expressed full-length HER3 in HEK293T cells under the constitutively-activated EF1 α promoter, and transiently transfected constructs expressing a panel of Met mutants or the wild-type Met RTK from a vector combining the adeno-major late promoter with the SV40 origin of replication.



Figure 2.2: Met-dependent phosphorylation of HER3, EGFR and HER2 in MET-amplified cell lines. (A) MET-amplified cell lines coexpress HER3, EGFR and HER2 and maintain basal phosphorylation of these RTKs (pHER3: Tyr1289; pHER2: Tyr1221/22; pEGFR: Tyr1173) similar to the basal phosphorylation of HER3 and EGFR in the ERBB2-amplified SkBr3 cell line (n=3). (B) Treatment of MET-amplified cell lines with the Met-selective TKI PHA-665752 (PHA) inhibits HER3 phosphorylation in all cell lines tested (n=3). EGFR and HER2 phosphorylation is dependent on Met activity in a subset of MET-amplified cell lines (quantified below Western blot panels, n=3).

This facilitated episomal amplification of the Met-expressing construct, driving high-level overexpression as in the amplified setting (Figure 2.4A). Tyrosine-to-phenylalanine substitution of both Tyr1349 and Tyr1356 in the substrate-binding Met C-tail abolishes canonical downstream signaling through Grb2, Shc and Gab1 (Fixman et al., 1996; Fixman et al., 1997; Fixman et al., 1995; Nguyen et al., 1997; Zhu et al., 1994). The loss of exon 14 (Δ 14) is predicted to prevent efficient ubiquitination of Met by the Cbl E3 ligase, while the combined substitution of the Cblbinding Tyr1003 with phenylalanine and uncoupling from Grb2 through an Asn1358His substitution (△Grb2/Cbl) abolishes Cbl recruitment to Met (Fournier et al., 1996; Peschard et al., 2001). Collectively, these mutants substitute or delete the three major tyrosine residues involved in substrate recruitment downstream of Met, and abolish the signaling required for cell scattering, tubulogenesis or transformation (Fixman et al., 1997; Fournier et al., 1996; Zhu et al., 1994). All of these mutants were capable of inducing HER3 tyrosine phosphorylation upon transient overexpression in HEK293T cells stably expressing HER3, and only a kinase-dead Met mutant (K1110A) lost the ability to induce HER3 phosphorylation (Figure 2.4B). To test whether phosphorylation of HER3 by Met requires the formation of heterodimeric kinase-kinase interactions as observed for its dimerization with EGFR or HER2, we generated mutant HER3 proteins to perform a structure-function analysis. Mutations within a conserved sequence in the N-lobe of EGFR and HER2 can prevent these kinases from occupying the "receiver" position an asymmetric active kinase dimer (I682Q in EGFR), while mutations in the C-lobe can prevent these kinases from occupying the "activator" position (V924R in EGFR) (Zhang et al., 2006). We introduced mutations at corresponding positions in HER3 (I684Q and V926R) and tested whether these mutants could be phosphorylated by Met (Figure 2.4C-D). In addition to this, we introduced

deletions in the C-tail, either eliminating the majority (5/6) of the well-characterized p85 α binding sites in the distal portion of the C-tail ("Short tail" mutant, truncated after position T1141), or the entirety of the C-tail ("No tail" mutant, truncated after position F965) (Figure 2.4C).



Figure 2.3: Met-dependent EGFR family phosphorylation does not require robust RTK heterointeraction. (A) HER3 does not coimmunoprecipitate with Met in EBC1 or H1993 cells above the level observed with control antibodies (IgG) (n=1). (B) EGFR similar does not co-immunoprecipitate with Met in these cell lines (n=1). (C) HER2 does not appreciably co-immunoprecipitate with Met in EBC1 or H1993 cells (n=1). (D) Co-expression of wild-type (WT) or kinase dead (K1110A) Met with EGFR does not increase the co-immunoprecipitation of these RTKs above background in HEK293 cells (compare lanes 2 and 5 or 3 and 6) (n=3). (E) Coexpression of Met and HER3 similarly does not increase their co-immunoprecipitation in HEK293T cells (n=1).



Figure 2.4: Canonical substrate binding sites in Met and HER3 are not required for HER3 phosphorylation. (A) Mutation of the major SH2-domain binding sites to phenylalanine (YY1349/56FF) and the Cbl binding sites (Δ exon 14, Δ Cbl) prevent the recruitment of known downstream interactors of the Met RTK, while mutation of Lys1110 in the kinase domain (K1110A) impairs nucleotide binding and inactivates Met kinase activity. (B) While kinase activity in Met is required for HER3 phosphorylation, mutation of the SH2-domain recruitment sites in Met does not affect HER3 phosphorylation (n=3). (C) Mutations in the N-lobe (I684Q) and C-lobe (V924R) in the HER3 kinase domain prevent kinase-kinase interactions formed among EGFR family RTK heterodimers. Deletions within the distal HER3 C-tail (short tail) remove the majority (5/6) of the p85 binding sites in HER3, as well as 11/14 tyrosine residues in the C-tail, while removal of the entire C-tail (no tail) removes 14 tyrosines and leaves only the kinase domain does not affect MER3. (D) Mutation of the N- and C-lobe binding sites in the kinase domain of HER3. (D) Mutation of the distal C-tail still results in phosphorylation of the distal C-tail still results in phosphorylation of remaining tyrosines within the HER3 intracellular regions (n=4). Only deletion of the entire C-tail abolishes Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation.

Surprisingly, mutations in both the HER3 N- and C-lobes were tolerated and still led to Metdependent tyrosine phosphorylation, as well as an N-lobe/C-lobe double mutant (Figure 2.4D). Deletion of the distal C-tail, comprising the majority of cytoplasmic surface-accessible tyrosines in HER3, similarly resulted in phosphorylation of the short-tail HER3 mutant in the presence of Met overexpression (Figure 2.4D). Only complete removal of the C-tail from HER3 prevented Met-dependent phosphorylation. Thus, tyrosines involved in substrate recruitment in both Met and HER3 are dispensable for Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation. Collectively, these results provide evidence that HER3 is not recruited to Met upon kinase activation as part of a phosphotyrosine-dependent complex. Similarly, the observation that mutations in the HER3 kinase domain do not uncouple HER3 from tyrosine phosphorylation demonstrate that canonical heterodimers of Met and HER3, comparable to interactions formed between EGFR or HER2 and HER3, are not involved in Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation. Thus, Met-dependent HER3 tyrosine phosphorylation does not involve major substrate-binding sites in either protein and does not proceed via the formation of asymmetric kinase dimers as seen within the EGFR family.

2.6 Kinases canonically upstream of HER3 are dispensable for its activation

While it is possible that the Met kinase domain directly phosphorylates tyrosines in the HER3 Ctail, our experiments with Met and HER3 mutants do not rule out the involvement of other RTKs or CTKs. Mutation of the C-lobe of the HER3 kinase domain (V926R) abolishes its heterodimerization with EGFR and HER2 upon stimulation with the HER3 ligand neuregulin, but EGF-mediated activation of EGFR has been shown to induce phosphorylation of the HER3 V926R mutant. This is presumed to be due to EGFR homodimeric activation, and the recruitment of HER3 as a substrate to the activated EGFR homodimer (see Figure 1.3D and 1.4B) (Van Lengerich et al., 2017). We thus reasoned that the phosphorylation of HER3 may involve the activation of the EGFR or HER2 kinase domain downstream of Met, and that this could be blocked by the use of the EGFR TKI gefitinib or the HER2/EGFR TKI lapatinib (Figure 2.5B and C). Furthermore, as Src has been shown to potentiate HER3 activation through HER2 and to potentiate EGFR activity through kinase domain phosphorylation, we reasoned that Src or related CTKs may mediate phosphorylation of HER3 downstream of Met via a cytoplasmic shuttling mechanism (Figure 1.3C). This could be inhibited by the broad-spectrum TKI dasatinib, which has activity against several Src- and Abl-family CTKs in addition to the RTKs c-Kit and PDGFR α (Figure 2.5D). As predicted, treatment with PHA-665752 reduced HER3 phosphorylation in all seven METamplified cell lines in our panel, while none of the other inhibitors listed above impacted HER3 phosphorylation in these cells (Figure 2.5E). Notably, HER2 phosphorylation was frequently regulated by lapatinib but not by PHA (OE33, Snu5, Okajima, Katoll), indicating that HER2 phosphorylation is regulated independently of the Met-HER3 signaling axis in this context. As seen in Figure 2.2B, EGFR phosphorylation is Met-dependent in a subset of MET-amplified cell lines, but in contrast to HER2 it is not impacted by inhibition of EGFR or HER2 kinase activity using gefitinib or lapatinib. This stands in contrast to our observation of HER2-dependent EGFR and HER3 phosphorylation in ERBB2-amplified SkBr3 cells (Figure 2.5E, right-most panels). Src phosphorylation is either not impacted or slightly increased by Met inhibition using PHA-665752, but is inhibited by dasatinib, indicating that Src acts independently of Met and the EGFR family of RTKs in MET-amplified cells. Thus, the activity EGFR, HER2 and Src, kinases canonically involved in HER3 phosphorylation, are not required for Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation.



IP Src (for pSrc/Src)

Figure 2.5: EGFR, HER2 and Src activity are not required for HER3 phosphorylation in MET-amplified cells. Potential mechanisms for HER3-dependent phosphorylation downstream of Met could include the direct phosphorylation of HER3 as a substrate of Met (A), the ligand-mediated activation of EGFR homodimerization (B) or EGFR/HER2 heterodimerization with HER3 (C), or through a cytoplasmic shuttling mechanism involving Src-family CTKs (D), which are known to associate with and phosphorylate EGFR-family RTKs. (E) Treatment with PHA-665752 (PHA) (A), gefitinib (B), lapatinib (C) or dasatinib (D) could distinguish these mechanisms by inhibiting kinase activity downstream from Met (n=3). Only PHA treatment inhibits HER3 phosphorylation downstream from Met, implying that (A) is possible as a mechanism for Met-HER3 crosstalk, but ruling out the other canonical models for HER3 phosphorylation.

2.7 Depletion of HER3 by shRNA impairs proliferation of MET-amplified cells

As our experiments using Met inhibitors identified a recurrent role for a Met-HER3 crosstalk axis over one between Met and EGFR or HER2, we proceeded to test the role of HER3 in the biology of MET-amplified cells by depletion of HER3 using RNAi. Vectors encoding shRNA hairpins targeting the HER3 mRNA, or an empty-vector control, were introduced into MET-amplified EBC1, H1993 and Katoll cell lines, and stable integration of the shRNA cassette was selected using puromycin. All three cell lines showed potent depletion of HER3 at the protein level by Western blot (Figure 2.6A). Cells with HER3-targeting shRNAs expanded more slowly in culture than control cells, indicating that proliferation may underlie HER3-dependent signaling in METamplified cell lines. To test this, we performed proliferation assays by live-cell microscopy using an IncuCyte imaging system (Essen Biosciences) to measure relative cell proliferation as a function of cell confluence (Figure 2.6B). All three cell lines showed impaired proliferation following knockdown of HER3 using both shRNA hairpins, confirming that a Met-HER3 crosstalk axis regulates cell proliferation in MET-amplified cancer cell lines. In addition to proliferation assays, we assessed the ability of the Katoll MET-amplified cell lines to form colonies in soft agar. Katoll MET-amplified cells grow partially in suspension and do not form colonies in twodimensional cell culture, so we tested their colony-forming capacity by 3-dimensional soft agar assay. In addition to cell proliferation, this assay tests for anoikis resistance, as single cells plated in agar lack contact with one another and with extracellular biologically-reactive substrates. Depletion of HER3 impairs colony formation in this assay as well (Figure 2.6C). Hence, HER3 is required for proliferation of MET-amplified cells, and depletion of HER3 furthermore impairs the ability to form and grow colonies from single cells.



Figure 2.6: HER3 depletion impairs proliferation in MET-amplified cell lines. (A) HER3 depletion with either of two shRNA hairpins effectively reduces HER3 protein levels by Western blot in comparison to empty-vector-transduced control cells (pLKO) (n=3). (B) IncuCyte time-lapse microscopy of HER3-depleted EBC1, H1993 and Katoll MET-amplified cells shows impaired proliferation in comparison to controls (representative replicates shown; n=3). (C) HER3 depletion also impairs Katoll colony formation in soft agar (n=4).

2.8 HER3 depletion delays tumour outgrowth in vivo

Having stablished a crucial role for HER in MET-amplified cell proliferation *in vitro*, we next tested whether this could have an impact *in vivo*. We injected immune-deficient NOD.Cg-Prkdc^{scid}Il2rg^{tm1WjI/SzJ} mice (Jackson) subcutaneously with H1993 and KatoII cells stably selected for HER3-targeting shRNAs or an empty-vector control. Tumours formed rapidly with 100% penetrance in mice injected with KatoII cells. Tumours grown from HER3-depleted cells were smaller than control tumours when first measured (Figure 2.7A). Xenografted Katoll cells grew rapidly, and mice were sacrificed after the second measurement due to ethical considerations. At both timepoints, control tumours were larger than HER3-depleted tumours (Figure 2.7C). H1993 cells formed tumours with variable and longer latency. Like tumours grown from Katoll cells, HER3-depleted H1993 tumours were smaller when initially measured (Figure 2.7B). Once established, however, knockdown tumours grew at a similar rate as controls (Figure 2.7D). Thus, HER3 knockdown delays early tumour growth kinetics in multiple *MET*-amplified cell lines, reflecting our observations in colony-forming assays. We collected Katoll tumours at the experimental endpoint did not observe re-expression of HER3 by Western blot, indicating that shRNA-mediated knockdown of HER3 remained stable through the experiment (Figure 2.7E). Collectively, these results support a role for HER3-dependent proliferative signaling early in *MET*amplified tumour expansion.

2.9 A cell line established from a metastatic lung cancer with constitutive Met phosphorylation exhibits Met-HER3 crosstalk

These experiments using *MET*-amplified cancer cell lines demonstrate a conserved role in cancer cell proliferation for a Met-HER3 crosstalk axis. To our knowledge, Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation has neither been demonstrated in patient-derived xenograft (PDX) tumours grown in mice, nor in other patient-derived models. Thus, a key question in addressing the relevance of Met-HER3 crosstalk in cancer biology is whether this is observed in clinically-relevant samples. To address this, we used a cell line generated from a xenograft established directly from a brain metastasis of NSCLC.



Figure 2.7: HER3 depletion impairs the outgrowth of MET-amplified cells in vivo. (A) Katoll cells depleted for HER3 form smaller tumours than controls (day 15 shown) (n=10 tumours). (B) H1993 cells depleted for HER3 form smaller tumours than controls at early timepoints (day 15 shown) (n=8 tumours). (C) Tumours formed from HER3-depleted Katoll cells grow at a slower rate than control tumours. (D) HER3-depleted tumours grown from H1993 eventually begin to grow at a comparable rate to control tumours and are indistinguishable in size and take rate after day 15. (E) Western blot analysis of Katoll-derived tumours at endpoint show

that HER3 is not re-expressed in tumours that do form, and that HER3 depletion does not impact Met expression or phosphorylation in vivo (all samples shown).

This tumour was surgically resected by Dr. Jonathan Spicer at the McGill University Health Centre, in collaboration with the Park laboratory biobank. A patient-derived xenograft (PDX), GCRC1994, was expanded subcutaneously in immune-deficient mice by Dr. Peter Siegel and his student Matthew Dankner as part of a collaboration to study brain metastases. We analyzed PDX lysates from a panel of samples established from lung cancers that gave rise to brain metastases for Met expression and phosphorylation and observed Met phosphorylation in PDX GCRC1994 (personal communication, T. Golenar). Consistent with this, Met was overexpressed and constitutively phosphorylated in a cell line derived from PDX GCRC1994, and was sensitive to inhibition with crizotinib, an FDA-approved Met inhibitor currently in clinical use (Figure 2.8A). To evaluate the dependency on Met we quantified proliferation by live-cell microscopy. PDX GCRC1994-derived cells grown in the presence of crizotinib at 500 nM or higher displayed reduced proliferation, indicating that Met activity promotes cell proliferation in this sample (Figure 2.8B).

To evaluate Met-dependent crosstalk, we analyzed EGFR-family RTK phosphorylation in PDX GCRC1994 cells. Crizotinib treatment strongly inhibited HER3 phosphorylation within 1 hour, with a concurrent increase in HER3 protein levels. This is consistent with our observations in *MET*-amplified cell lines, as well as reports in the literature (Figure 2.2B) (Lai et al., 2014). Cells treated with crizotinib for 24 hours showed persistent Met inhibition and elevated HER3 levels, while HER3 phosphorylation was reduced compared to DMSO-treated cells. EGFR and HER2 phosphorylation was also reduced in cells treated with crizotinib for 24 hours, although we did not observe a change in their phosphorylation in cells treated for one hour (Figure 2.8A). Thus, Met-dependent crosstalk with the EGFR family in a Met-dependent, patient-derived sample

reflects our observations in *MET*-amplified cells. HER3 phosphorylation is acutely dependent on Met activity in these cells, while the delayed impact on EGFR and HER2 may reflect adaptive feedback on these receptors.

2.10 MPZL3, a novel HER3 interactor, contributes to MET-amplified cell proliferation

Our observations in *MET*-amplified cells collectively support an important role for Metdependent crosstalk with HER3. Increased proliferation, colony-forming capacity and early tumour outgrowth provide a selective advantage for Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation. Selective kinase inhibition and structure-function analysis demonstrate that this does not require EGFR or HER2 kinase activity, or the integrity of the HER3 asymmetric dimerization interface in the C-lobe. We also do not observe robust co-association of Met and HER3.





Thus, our observations suggest that HER3 plays a role as a scaffold downstream of Met. We employed hypothesis-driven and discovery-based approaches to identify the consequences of this heterotypic RTK signaling. Our results support a role for MPZL3, a previously-unknown HER3 interactor, in promoting *MET*-amplified cancer cell proliferation.

2.11 Signaling pathways that promote oncogenic Met-dependent proliferation are not impacted by HER3 depletion

We assessed the role of HER3 in Met-dependent signaling using EBC1, H1993 and Katoll *MET*amplified cell lines. HER3 activates the PI3K-Akt pathway by recruitment of the p85 regulatory subunit to the activated RTK complex (Hellyer et al., 1998; Hellyer et al., 2001). Met signaling in HGF-dependent contexts is characterized by sustained activation of PI3K-Akt signaling through Gab1 as a tyrosine-phosphorylated scaffold (Maroun et al., 1999a). This has been hypothesized to promote cell survival in oncogenic contexts, and it is possible that HER3 contributes to Akt activation in a manner similar to Gab1 (Figure 2.9A) (Tanizaki et al., 2011b). Additionally, Met activates the Erk and STAT3 pathways in *MET*-amplified gastric cancer cell lines (Lai et al., 2014). To examine the consequences of HER3 depletion we assessed the phosphorylation of Akt, Erk, and STAT3 in HER3-depleted EBC1, H1993 and Katoll cells by Western blot (Figure 2.9B). No decrease in the phosphorylation of these intracellular signaling molecules was observed, indicating that HER3 does not significantly contribute to their activation in *MET*-amplified cells.

HER3 phosphorylation and consequent PI3K-Akt signaling are thought to suppress apoptotic signaling through cell survival pathways in HER2-dependent cancer cells (Junttila et al., 2009). In HCC827 cells with acquired resistance to gefitinib through *MET* amplification, HER3 is also

required for Akt phosphorylation and the suppression of apoptosis. We used flow cytometry to determine the proportion of HER3-depleted *MET*-amplified cells undergoing apoptosis by annexin-V positivity (Figure 2.9D). Consistent with our observation of sustained Akt phosphorylation, we did not observe a statistically significant increase in apoptosis in HER3-depleted cells. Collectively, we were unable to detect an increase in canonical apoptosis in HER3-depleted cells and did not observe decreased activation of the pathways known to regulate cell survival and proliferation downstream of Met and HER3. Thus, we used a discovery-based approach to understand the consequence of Met-HER3 crosstalk in *MET*-amplified cells.

2.12 Gene expression profiling identifies MPZL3 as a novel HER3-dependent transcript

The output of sustained RTK signaling is mediated by the maintenance of RTK-dependent gene expression (Herschman, 1991; Woodgett, 1989). Differential gene expression due to ligand stimulation, kinase inhibition, RNA interference or other methods has thus been used to characterize RTK-dependent pathways in cancer and development (Amit et al., 2007; Lai et al., 2014; Lapin et al., 2014; Leatherbarrow and Halfon, 2009; Sweeney et al., 2001). To identify HER3-regulated genes in *MET*-amplified cells we sequenced RNA extracted from stably HER3-depleted Katoll cells. Seven genes were identified with significantly altered transcripts in HER3-depleted versus control cells (FDR < 0.05, $\log_2FC \ge |1|$). Genes with a decrease in abundance upon HER3 knockdown included *ERBB3*, encoding HER3 itself, as well as *LGR6*, *MPZL3* and *NYNRIN*, while genes elevated in expression ($\log_2FC > 1$, qval < 0.05) included *PPM1K*, *RAMP1*, and *SPNS2* (Figure 2.10A and B). We expanded our analysis to include BHLHE41, a transcription factor involved in mammalian circadian regulation and a repressor of differentiation slightly below our cutoff ($\log_2FC = -0.91$, q-value = 8.42×10^{-4}) (Ow et al., 2014).



Figure 2.9: Canonical Met- and HER3-dependent signaling is intact in HER3-depleted MET-amplified cells. (A) Met and HER3 activate overlapping signaling pathways and are known to activate both proliferative and anti-apoptotic signaling through the Akt, Erk, STAT3 and Src pathways in cancer cells (n=3). (B) Phosphorylation of Akt (Ser473), Erk (Thr202/Tyr204), and STAT3 (Tyr705) is not impacted by loss of total and phospho-HER3 (Tyr1289) (n=3). (D) We did not observe a statistically significant increase in annexin-V positivity measured by flow cytometry in HER3-depleted cells (n=3).

To validate which transcripts were recurrently dependent on HER3 in a MET-amplified setting,

we measured the expression of genes downregulated in Katoll cells by RT-qPCR in MET-amplified

EBC1 and H1993 cells following HER3 knockdown. Genes that increased in expression upon HER3

knockdown in Katoll cells (PPM1K, RAMP1, SPNS2) did not show comparable regulation in EBC1

and H1993 cells (Figure 2.10C and D). Of the genes tested, ERBB3, MPZL3 and NYNRIN were

reproducibly decreased in expression in all HER3-depleted cells tested (EBC1, KatoII and H1993) (figure 2.10E and F). Other genes identified in our RNA sequencing may be regulated by HER3 in a more cell type-specific manner. NYNRIN encodes a poorly characterized gene with predicted RNA-binding functions. Germline truncating mutations in *NYNRIN* have been reported to predispose carriers to pediatric Wilms tumours, and it is upregulated upon mechanical stimulus in bladder smooth muscle cells (Mahamdallie et al., 2019; Peng and Luo, 2018). MPZL3 encodes a predicted adhesion receptor with a role in epidermal differentiation but no previously-characterized role downstream of RTKs (Cao et al., 2007; Wikramanayake et al., 2017). NYNRIN, which was detected at lower levels than MPZL3 in our RNA sequencing and qRT-PCR data, was not characterized in the literature at the time of our experiment, and no reagents for studying it were available. We pursued *MPZL3* as a convergently HER3-regulated gene in *MET*-amplified cells and hypothesized that it may play a role in Met-dependent proliferation downstream of HER3.

2.13 MPZL3 contributes to HER3-dependent proliferation in MET-amplified cells

To assess whether MPZL3 is involved in HER3-dependent proliferation, we overexpressed MPZL3-V5, corresponding to the full-length protein, in EBC1 cells. We selected for stable expression using puromycin and transfected these EBC1-MPZL3 cells with siRNA targeting HER3 or control duplexes. The ectopically expressed MPZL3 protein was not sensitive to HER3-targeted siRNA, while HER3 levels were comparably reduced in both empty-vector control (pLKO) and MPZL3overexpressing cells (Figure 2.11A). As expected, HER3 depletion impaired cell proliferation in control cells, but this effect was attenuated by MPZL3 overexpression (44 vs. 72% of siCtltransfected cells at 65% confluence, respectively) (Figure 2.11B). To test whether MPZL3 was required for colony formation in *MET*-amplified cells, we transduced Katoll cells with shRNA targeting MPZL3 or a control non-targeting hairpin and the corresponding empty vector and established stable cell lines (Figure 2.11C). MPZL3-depleted Katoll cells formed colonies in 3dimensional soft agar culture at a lower rate than control cells (Figure 2.11D). HER3 protein levels and phosphorylation were not impacted by MPZL3 shRNA (Figure 2.11E). MPZL3 depletion induces comparable phenotypes to HER3 depletion in *MET*-amplified cells, while MPZL3 overexpression partially rescues that phenotype.

2.14 MPZL3 and HER3 interact in a Met-dependent manner in MET-amplified cells

To begin an analysis of how MPZL3-V5 rescues HER3-dependent proliferation, we used coimmunoprecipitation assays and a structure-function approach to assess whether it interacts at the protein level with phosphorylated RTKs. MPZL3 encodes a transmembrane protein with an extracellular Ig-like domain and a short cytoplasmic tail with no predicted secondary or tertiary structure (Racz et al., 2009). To test whether MPZL3-V5 interacts with Met or HER3, we stably expressed MPZL3-V5, GFP-V5 or an empty-vector control (pLKO) in *MET*-amplified Katoll cells. We immunoprecipitated MPZL3-V5 from the lysates of PHA- or DMSO- treated cells (0.5 μ M, 1 hour) and assessed Met and HER3 co-immunoprecipitation by Western blot (Figure 2.12A). While we did not observe any interaction between Met and MPZL3, HER3 co-immunoprecipitated with MPZL3 in a Met-dependent manner (Figure 2.12B) (53% of control, p=0.04). We did not observe any co-immunoprecipitation between Met or HER3 and GFP-V5 or in our empty-vector controls, indicating that the interaction between MPZL3 and HER3 in *MET*-amplified cells, and this is reduced upon Met kinase inhibition.



Figure 2.10: MPZL3 is a HER3-regulated transcript in multiple MET-amplified cell lines. (A) RNA sequencing of HER3-depleted Katoll cells identifies a small number of significantly regulated transcripts in comparison to control cells (n=3). (B) Significance and fold change of altered genes identified by RNA sequencing. (C-F) Expression of altered genes identified by RNA sequencing in EBC1 and H1993 MET-amplified cell lines (n=3). (C, D) Expression of genes upregulated upon HER3 depletion in Katoll cells. (E, F) Expression of genes downregulated upon HER3 depletion in Katoll cells.


Figure 2.11: MPZL3 contributes to HER3-dependent proliferation. (A) Overexpression of MPZL3-V5 is stable in EBC1 cells and is resistant to HER3-targeted siRNA (n=3). (B) Overexpression of MPZL3-V5 partially rescues proliferation in the presence of siRNA targeting HER3. Left, percent confluence measured by live-cell microscopy (representative). Right, percent confluence relative to siCtl-treated cells (average of n=3 proliferation assays). (C) MPZL3 expression measured by qRT-PCR in control and MZPL3-depleted Katoll cells (n=4). (D) Katoll colony formation in soft agar is impaired by MPZL3 depletion (n=4). (E) HER3 phosphorylation and protein levels do not correlate with MPZL3 expression in MPZL3-depleted cells (n=4).

While the association between HER3 and MPZL3 is promoted by Met activity in Katoll cells, we sought to determine whether Met was required for HER3 and MPZL3 to interact in a simpler system. To test this, we transiently expressed MPZL3-V5 in HEK293T cells stably expressing HER3 or the short-tail and no-tail truncation mutants used previously (Figure 2.4C and D). In the absence of Met overexpression, HER3 phosphorylation is not observed in this system (Figure 2.4B and D). All three HER3 mutants co-immunoprecipitated with MPZL3, demonstrating that the

HER3-MPZL3 interaction could be reconstituted in the absence of Met overexpression, and that the C-tail of HER3 is not involved in the interaction with MPZL3 (Figure 2.12B). Thus, HER3 and MPZL3 can interact in a Met-independent manner, but their association is regulated by Met activity in the *MET*-amplified setting.

2.15 A new protein-protein interaction assay suggests a direct interaction between HER3 and MPZL3

We further sought to determine whether MPZL3 and HER3 may interact in a direct manner. We used a newly developed assay for protein-protein interactions called the <u>split intein-m</u>ediated <u>protein ligation (SIMPL)</u> assay (Yao et al., 2020). In this assay, the N- and C-segments of an intein domain are fused to bait and prey proteins, respectively. Reconstitution of the intein domain upon direct interaction of the bait and prey protein induces its self-excision from the flanking polypeptide sequences. As the N-terminal fragment of the intein domain is fused to the bait protein using a V5-tagged linker, and the C-intein domain is flanked by a FLAG tag, intein reconstitution induces the transfer of the FLAG tag from the prey to the bait protein (Figure 2.13A). Co-expression of bait HER3 with prey MPZL3 induced transfer of the FLAG tag to HER3 (~190 kDa), while the inverse caused transfer of the tag to MPZL3 (~30 kDa) (Figure 2.13B).

MPZL3 was initially discovered by mapping the *rough coat* (*rc*) genotype, a spontaneous variant of C57BL/6J mice discovered in Jackson Laboratory, to a point mutation in the exon encoding the Ig-like domain of the gene. This caused the substitution of Arg100 (Arg99 in human MPZL3) to Gln, and is presumed to impair the function of the domain as an adhesion receptor (Cao et al., 2007).







Figure 2.12: MPZL3 and HER3 interact at the protein level. (A) HER3 co-immunoprecipitates with MPZL3-V5 in a Met-dependent manner in Katoll cells, while empty-vector (pLKO) or GFP-V5-expressing cells show no HER3 enrichment. Met inhibition with PHA-665752 (PHA) reduces the level of co-immunoprecipitated HER3 to 53% of that observed in DMSO-treated cells (p=0.04, n=5). (B) Full-length HER3 as well as truncated mutants lacking the distal C-tail (short tail) or the entire C-tail (no tail) co-immunoprecipitate with MPZL3-V5 in HEK293T cells (n=3).

We introduced the Arg99GIn mutation into our MPZL3 SIMPL assay constructs to test whether it uncoupled MPZL3 from HER3. As Ig-like domains are also known to depend on the formation of disulfide bonds between conserved cysteine residues, first demonstrated using the homologous myelin protein zero (MYP0) Ig-like domain, we also mutated one of the conserved cysteine residues (Cys52 in human MPZL3) to alanine to impair the binding function of the Ig-like domain. We co-expressed mutant MPZL3 SIMPL constructs with corresponding HER3 SIMPL constructs and found that both the Arg99GIn and Cys52AIa mutants were capable of interacting with HER3 SIMPL constructs (Figure 2.13C). Thus, mutations predicted to impair the function of the MPZL3 extracellular domain do not affect its ability to bind HER3.

2.16 MPZL3-V5 does not accumulate at the plasma membrane in MET-amplified cells

In order to better understand how the interaction between HER3 and MPZL3 is involved in proliferative signaling, we next assessed the subcellular localization of our HER3-interacting MPZL3-V5 construct. MPZL3 has been observed in mitochondrial networks, but has not been demonstrated to localize to the plasma membrane, using an MPZL3-V5 overexpression construct comparable to the one used in our rescue experiments (Figure 2.11A and B) (Bhaduri et al., 2015; Racz et al., 2009). We assessed cell surface levels of MPZL3-V5 in EBC1 and Katoll *MET*-amplified cell lines using a biochemical approach. We labeled cell-surface proteins with biotin and used streptavidin-coated beads to isolate surface-exposed biotinylated proteins from the ensuing lysates of EBC1 and Katoll cells overexpressing MPZL3 (Figure 2.14A and B). Met and HER3 were detected among the streptavidin-precipitated proteins in a biotin-dependent manner in both cell lines. In contrast to this, MPZL3-V5 was only detected in the input lysates and was not observed among the biotin-dependent cell-surface-exposed proteins.



Figure 2.13: The SIMPL assay suggests a direct HER3-MPZL3 interaction. (A) The SIMPL assay measures protein-protein interaction by detecting the transfer of a FLAG peptide tag from the C-intein-tagged prey protein to the N-intein tagged bait protein. (B) Co-expression of bait-HER3 with prey-MPZL3 induces FLAG tag transfer to HER3 (~190 kDa), while the inverse induces transfer to MPZL3 (~30 kDa) (n=3). (C) Point mutations in the extracellular domain of MPZL3 predicted to impair its function by blocking disulfide bond formation (C52A) or by blocking its cell adhesion function (R99Q) do not affect the ability of HER3 and MPZL3 to interact (n=3).

We also analyzed MPZL3-V5 localization by indirect immunofluorescence in adherent EBC1 cells. As expected, Met was found at the plasma membrane, cell-cell contacts and at intracellular puncta irrespective of MPZL3-V5 expression. MPZL3-V5, by contrast, was only observed in intracellular compartments, including punctate structures, and was not observed at the plasma membrane (Figure 2.14C). These experiments show that the MPZL3-V5 construct is a predominantly intracellular protein and is not detected at the plasma membrane. Thus, both biochemical and immunofluorescence-based approaches suggest that the proliferative function exhibited by MPZL3-V5 may proceed via functions that do not require MPZL3 at the plasma membrane.

2.17 Expression of MPZL3 is elevated in RTK-amplified cancer cell lines and RTK-associated cancers

Our experiments in HER3-depleted *MET*-amplified cells collectively show a key role for MPZL3 downstream of HER3 in facilitating efficient cell proliferation. We hypothesized that the HER3-MPZL3 axis involved in cancer cell proliferation may not be restricted to cells with *MET* amplification specifically and may instead represent a novel signaling axis downstream from multiple RTKs. We profiled cell lines in the CCLE for RTK copy number and labeled cell lines with >5-fold copy number gain of any RTK relative to diploid cells as amplified for that receptor. MPZL3 expression is higher in *MET*-amplified cell lines than in cell lines with no RTK amplification (median TPM of 2.8 [*MET*-amplified] vs. 1.7 [no RTK amplified], p=0.03 [Mann-Whitney test]) (Figure 2.15A). When we looked across all recurrently amplified RTKs in the CCLE, we found that *EGFR* and *ERBB2* amplification both predicted significantly higher MPZL3 expression than in non-RTK-amplified cells (Figure 2.15B). While not statistically significant in this dataset, the RTK genes *EPHA10, EPHB4, DDR2, FGFR1, FGFR2, IGF1R, LMTK2* and *MET* all trended towards higher median MPZL3 expression than non-RTK-amplified cell lines using the more rigorous ANOVA test.



Figure 2.14: MPZL3-V5 does not localize to the cell surface in MET-amplified cells. (A) Cell-surface biotinylation of EBC1-MPZL3 or control (pLKO) cells is shown by their precipitation using streptavidin-coated beads. MPZL3-V5 is not detected in the surfacebiotinylated fraction in EBC1 cells, although it can be detected by both MPZL3 and V5 antibody in the input lysate (n=3). (B) Met and HER3 are similarly biotinylated at the surface of KatoII cells, but MPZL3-V5 and the cytoplasmic GFP-V5 are not detected in the biotinylated fraction (n=3). (C) MPZL3-V5 is localized to cytoplasmic puncta and the perinuclear regions of EBC1-MPZL3 cells, and does not overlap with membrane proteins like Met. Detection of MPZL3-V5 is specific using the V5 antibody, as no signal is detected in control (pLKO) cells (n=1).

As *EGFR*- and *ERBB2*-amplified cell lines are more heavily represented than all others in this dataset, this may be due to the low frequency of amplification of these RTKs within the CCLE dataset. To establish if elevated MPZL3 is observed in human cancers, we examined MPZL3 expression levels across cancer types using publicly available data from the Pan-Cancer Atlas (Figure 2.15C). Cancers with the highest proportion of MPZL3 overexpression included ovarian, colon, kidney and lung carcinomas, all of which are diseases in which RTK amplification has been postulated to represent important driver events.

Our data support a role for MPZL3 in *MET*-amplified cell proliferation downstream of HER3. MPZL3 overexpression partially rescues proliferation in HER3-depleted EBC1 cells, and MPZL3 depletion phenocopies the loss of colony formation seen in HER3-depleted Katoll cells. MPZL3 interacts with HER3, and in *MET*-amplified cells Met activity promotes this interaction. MPZL3 is not required to localize to the plasma membrane to interact with HER3 or rescue HER3-dependent proliferation, indicating that MPZL3-dependent functions occur in intracellular membrane-bound compartments. We observe elevated MPZL3 expression in *MET*-amplified cell lines compared to non-RTK-amplified cell lines, and a similar effect in *EGFR*- and *ERBB2*-amplified cell lines. Thus, a MPZL3 may contribute to proliferation in several cancers that are associated with HER3-dependent signaling and represents an important novel HER3 interactor in cancer.







С



Figure 2.15: MPZL3 expression is elevated in cancer cell lines with RTK amplification and cancers with recurrent RTK amplifications. (A) Cell lines in the CCLE database were scored for RTK amplification. MPZL3 levels in MET-amplified cell lines are elevated compared to cell lines without any RTK amplification (Mann-Whitney test, p=0.03). (B) Across RTKs amplified in more than one cell line, EGFR and ERBB2 amplification predicted significantly higher MPZL3 expression than cell lines with no RTK amplified (ANOVA, p<0.0001). (C) MPZL3 transcript Z-scores in the Pan-Cancer Atlas project. Cancers with recurrent RTK amplifications show the highest incidence of MPZL3 overexpression.

2.18 Expanded Met-dependent phosphorylation is observed in proliferative *MET*-amplified cells

Our results support an important role for heterotypic signaling through HER3 in *MET*-amplified cells. In our cell proliferation, colony formation and tumour xenograft experiments, HER3-depleted cells are ultimately able to adapt and proliferate without the re-expression of HER3 at the protein level (Figure 2.7E). This suggests that additional pathways downstream of the amplified Met receptor contribute to cell proliferation under normal or adaptive conditions. In order to gain a better understanding of how signal rewiring in the amplified setting could contribute to proliferation in the oncogenic state, we used global phosphoproteomics to identify additional Met-dependent phosphorylation sites in *MET*-amplified cells. We also show that HGF accelerates tumour outgrowth in *MET*-amplified cells without changing the level of Met phosphorylation, indicating that some HGF-dependent pathways are not activated by the constitutively phosphorylated Met receptor, but can still contribute to oncogenic tumour growth downstream of Met.

2.19 MET-amplified Katoll cells show high sensitivity to multiple Met-directed TKIs

Met-dependent tyrosine signaling has been extensively characterized in HGF-dependent contexts using both structure-function and phosphoproteomic approaches, but HGF-dependent signaling frequently induces a cell-dispersal or migratory response in the cell types studied in these contexts (Fournier et al., 1996; Johnson et al., 2013; Lamorte et al., 2000; Maroun et al., 1999b; Maroun et al., 2000; Nguyen et al., 1997; Paliouras et al., 2009; Pasdar et al., 1997; Peschard et al., 2001; Peschard et al., 2004; Rajadurai et al., 2012; Royal and Park, 1995; Zhu et

al., 1994). Meanwhile, *MET*-amplified cell lines have been shown to harbour exquisite sensitivity to Met inhibition through their impact on proliferation, with a subset of cells also showing an induction of apoptosis upon Met inhibition (Ali et al., 2014; Lai et al., 2014; Smolen et al., 2006). In order to better understand how Met signaling promotes oncogenic proliferative and survival outcomes in the amplified setting, we sought to identify additional components of Metdependent proliferative signaling using a phosphoproteomic approach using cell lines that primarily exhibit a proliferative response to Met signaling.

To validate the Katoli MET-amplified cell line as a model for proliferative Met-dependent signaling, we tested their sensitivity to Met inhibition using crizotinib and PHA-665752. These Met-directed TKIs both bind to other kinases with comparable affinity to Met, but the inhibitors have differential binding affinity for other kinases (Davis et al., 2011). Both inhibitors blocked proliferation at nanomolar concentrations and induced sustained inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation, including tyrosine phosphorylation of Met at the activation loop (Figure 2.16A). We serum-starved the cells to reduce the impact of ligand-dependent signaling activated by growth serum, and surprisingly observed an increase in Met phosphorylation as well as an increase in the concentration of inhibitor required to fully inhibit Met phosphorylation to 500 nM (Figure 2.16B). Thus, serum starvation raised the enzymatic activity of the Met kinase, indicating that factors in serum partially suppress Met signaling. In contrast to this, Katoll proliferation in serum-containing media was inhibited by both drugs at concentrations as low as 30 nM (Figure 2.16 C). Under serum-starved conditions, treatment of MET-amplified cells with either inhibitor at 500 nM rapidly and sustainably inhibited Met inhibition over the course of 2 hours (Figure 2.16 D).



Figure 2.16: PHA-665752 and crizotinib inhibit cell proliferation in MET-amplified Katoll cells. (A) Treatment of Katoll cells in serum-containing media such as that used in proliferation assays shows inhibition of Met activity at low nanomolar concentrations with each drug (n=3). (B) Under serum-starved conditions, Met phosphorylation is more robust and requires higher levels of inhibitor for full receptor dephosphorylation at the activation loop as well as the juxtamembrane and C-tail tyrosines (n=3). (C) Katoll cell proliferation is inhibited by low nanomolar concentrations of both PHA and crizotinib, mirroring receptor phosphorylation under serum-fed conditions (n=3). (D) Treatment with Met inhibitors results in rapid and sustained receptor dephosphorylation, with full receptor inhibition in serum-free media within 1 minute of drug treatment at 500 nM (n=3).

2.20 SILAC phosphoproteomics identifies a Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation network

To discover novel phosphosites associated with proliferative Met signaling, we aimed to identify Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation sites in using mass spectrometry. We performed stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture (SILAC) by growing Katoll cells in media containing light, medium or heavy isotopes of lysine and arginine. SILAC has been validated as a quantitative method of global phosphoproteomic profiling and is among the most accurate techniques available for this purpose (Hogrebe et al., 2018; Ong et al., 2002; Zhang and Neubert, 2009). We first confirmed that Katoll cells grew with similar kinetics in SILAC and regular media by measuring cell doubling time across multiple passages (Table 2.2). We then mixed equal numbers of high-, medium- and low-mass SILAC-labeled cells and were able to recover comparable levels of peptides from all three conditions (Table 2.3).

Media	Doubling time (days)			
	P2	P4		
RPMI	1.98	2.02		
Light	1.92	2.12		
Medium	1.78	2.19		
Heavy	1.79	2.03		

Table 2.2: Doubling time in regular (RPMI), light, medium and heavy SILAC media

Table 2.3: Isotopic ratios in equal numbers of mixed, SILAC-labeled cells

Passage	Amino acid	Isotopic ratios		
		Medium:low	High:low	High:medium
P2	Lys	0.99	1.05	1.06
	Arg	0.96	0.94	0.99
P4	Lys	1.07	1.12	1.05
	Arg	1.04	1.03	0.99

We treated serum-starved, SILAC-labeled cells with either PHA or crizotinib at 500 nM or DMSO as a control. Cell pellets were frozen and tyrosine-phosphorylated peptides were isolated by immunoaffinity after tryptic digestion by our collaborator at the Université de Montréal, Dr. Pierre Thibault. Both phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated peptides were identified at comparable average intensities after enrichment by phosphotyrosine immunoaffinity, although the majority of peptides identified by this approach were not phosphorylated (Figure 2.17 A and B). PHA and crizotinib both induced a decrease in tyrosine phosphorylation, with a high proportion of overlap between the two drugs (Figure 2.17C-F). Phosphoproteins were also enriched by affinity for titanium dioxide (TiO_2) , which does not discriminate between tyrosine, serine and threonine phosphorylation. This method resulted in higher average intensity for phosphorylated peptides over non-phosphorylated peptides, and the majority of peptides identified were phosphorylated (Figure 2.17 G and H). We observed smaller changes in serine and threonine than tyrosine phosphorylation, but these also displayed reduced overall phosphorylation with high overlap between PHA- and crizotinbi-treated samples (Figure 2.17I-L). We identified 53 peptides in which tyrosine phosphorylation decreased at least 2-fold above a cutoff of p=0.05 (Table 2.4). Many of these (CRK, CRKL, NCK2, HGS, STAM, IQGAP1, IQGAP2, ITSN2, STAT3) are known to be phosphorylated in a Met-dependent manner. We also identified one site in AFAPL12 in which phosphorylation increased more than 2-fold. In addition, we identified 23 serine and 2 threonine phosphorylation sites that decreased at least 2-fold in the presence of both PHA and crizotinib, and one serine phosphorylation site in BAP1 that was increased upon treatment (Table 2.5).

Gene	Site	Log[PHA/DMSO]	Log[Crizotinib/DMSO]	p-value PHA	p-value criz
AAK1	Y34	-2.084266663	-2.182134946	2.75E-02	5.86E-05
ABI1	Y305	-1.333045959	-1.66950345	9.31E-03	9.75E-03
ACTG1	Y53	-2.995290518	-3.222054402	1.86E-03	5.28E-04
ACTG1	Y198	-2.037072102	-2.195942442	9.34E-04	3.18E-02
AFAP1L2	Y54	3.311836243	2.62051487	2.88E-02	3.79E-02
ANXA2	Y30	-3.76748999	-4.112846613	2.47E-02	1.61E-02
ANXA2	Y188	-3.693778594	-3.926996787	2.01E-02	6.30E-03
ARHGAP12	Y63	-1.401375055	-1.635012229	2.37E-02	1.30E-02
C11orf52	Y103	-1.774192691	-2.091362874	3.22E-02	1.20E-02
CALB2	Y35	-3.857764482	-4.757815997	1.03E-02	1.34E-02
CALM1	Y100	-1.184326907	-1.2622811	4.34E-02	3.75E-02
CFL1	Y140	-0.645972192	-0.840972245	2.45E-02	3.36E-02
CRK	Y136	-1.875021497	-2.171492378	3.59E-03	1.14E-02
CRK	Y108	-1.275001168	-1.558441877	1.35E-02	1.85E-03
CRKL	Y132	-1.466108918	-1.632022699	1.08E-02	1.62E-02
CRKL	Y92	-0.543795675	-0.860862056	9.74E-03	4.08E-03
DLG3	Y222	-3.656048616	-4.035151243	5.36E-03	1.77E-04
DNAJC7	Y38	-1.536472321	-2.048834324	4.06E-02	2.05E-02
DSC2	Y839	-2.04699254	-2.188006481	9.11E-03	5.34E-03
DSC2	Y853	-1.103513837	-1.117429892	1.75E-02	1.86E-03
DSP	Y56	-1.46371762	-1.523801684	2.46E-02	6.49E-03
EHBP1	Y1030	-1.286638101	-1.287701329	3.97E-02	4.01E-03
EIF5A	Y69	-1.819562117	-2.158278624	1.74E-03	8.21E-03
EPS8	Y774	-0.340141197	-0.490522484	3.65E-02	3.35E-02
FARP2	Y914	-1.709568103	-2.140901764	2.91E-02	1.63E-02
GAREM	Y453	-1.113882919	-1.104308069	1.09E-02	1.61E-02
GOLGA4	Y2141	-2.103821556	-2.498226086	1.37E-02	1.36E-03
GTF2F2	Y196	-1.743444165	-1.627690077	1.39E-02	1.55E-02
HGS	Y286	-1.374862115	-1.618986487	1.01E-02	3.45E-02
IQGAP1	Y855	-3.116945267	-3.164519866	7.50E-05	2.73E-02
IQGAP2	Y770	-2.521232605	-2.843430758	2.70E-03	5.08E-03
IRS2	Y675	-1.163646777	-1.477989237	3.11E-03	2.09E-02
IRS2	Y742	-0.833061477	-1.058556537	3.85E-02	3.07E-02
ITSN2	Y553	-2.709106763	-2.812017043	6.37E-03	7.85E-03
JUP	Y550	-2.177651286	-2.031506896	4.26E-02	4.90E-03
JUP	Y660	-2.055226604	-2.188106855	6.66E-03	2.40E-03

Table 2.4: Phosphosites identified by anti-pTyr immunoaffinity (novel Met-dependent proteins or phosphosites in bold)

KRT18	Y13	-1.853592436	-2.005078634	2.29E-02	2.31E-02
LDHA	Y10	-1.396791975	-1.569298764	1.81E-02	4.14E-02
LYN	Y439	-1.801339904	-1.84475402	2.38E-02	3.05E-02
MARVELD2	Y434	-1.222085019	-1.497353355	2.90E-02	9.04E-03
MET	Y1234	-1.417537928	-3.59433953	1.27E-02	1.64E-02
MPZL1	Y139	-1.877271096	-2.432922284	3.79E-02	6.11E-04
MYO6	Y1121	-2.756419897	-3.127667189	7.87E-03	2.79E-04
NCK2	Y50	-1.571972768	-1.969473124	4.84E-04	1.50E-02
PABPC1	Y364	-0.914104521	-1.157581051	1.28E-02	3.35E-02
PABPC4	Y364	-0.879832566	-1.10917598	1.15E-02	3.58E-02
PARD3	Y445	-1.62216874	-1.852607091	1.74E-02	9.69E-03
PDCD5	Y80	-4.081906239	-4.61727651	1.09E-03	3.95E-03
PELO	Y99	-1.4628582	-1.737507701	9.95E-04	1.54E-02
PI4KA	Y528	-4.194211404	-4.794254462	3.47E-03	1.54E-02
PKP2	Y166	-1.725590785	-1.792298079	2.21E-02	1.93E-03
PPP2R5D	Y580	-1.688085794	-1.868969003	3.99E-03	4.39E-02
PTBP3	Y127	-0.68253239	-1.040612141	3.55E-02	8.33E-04
RAI14	Y219	-3.098894755	-3.525143623	3.05E-02	6.84E-04
RAN	Y39	-2.589286407	-2.819080194	2.72E-03	2.37E-02
SHB	Y268	-1.97929585	-2.400721312	4.03E-02	4.53E-03
SLC9A1	Y659	-2.672631264	-3.188575029	8.75E-03	6.95E-03
STAM	Y384	-1.415977319	-1.682652791	2.24E-02	5.66E-03
STAT3	Y704	-1.663842082	-2.016520103	3.91E-02	4.15E-03
STAT5A	Y694	-3.322531621	-3.317712466	1.72E-02	2.33E-03
TAOK1	Y309	-2.129639228	-2.48613143	2.67E-03	4.57E-03
TM9SF3	Y272	-0.445730964	-0.659926514	7.01E-03	7.14E-03

Table 2.5: Phosphorylation sites identified by Ti₂O enrichment

Gene	Site	Log[PHA/DMSO]	Log[Crizotinib/DMSO]	p-value PHA	p-value criz
AHNAK	S5110	-2.294333935	-2.153045932	1.87E-04	6.31E-03
ARAF	S186	-1.589220126	-1.739450216	7.10E-03	4.67E-02
ATR	S435	-1.175109287	-1.253415187	2.64E-02	7.02E-04
ATXN2L	S449	-1.033993423	-1.059450289	3.42E-03	3.44E-02
BAP1	S513	1.788571199	1.886518757	3.99E-04	7.58E-03
C11orf52	Y103	-1.535871585	-1.990348577	2.69E-02	1.56E-02
C2orf49	S193	-1.059058428	-1.064339896	3.77E-03	5.56E-03
CCNL1	S335	-1.175547024	-1.051414589	1.05E-02	3.69E-02
CCNL1	S341	-1.167451859	-1.043826203	1.20E-02	3.91E-02

DDX17	S492	-1.186786095	-1.086758812	2.05E-02	1.66E-02
FAM114A1	S196	-1.008671939	-1.43883733	1.82E-02	1.10E-02
FAM129B	S678	-1.09332184	-1.050354342	1.08E-02	4.00E-02
FAM129B	S683	-1.032318493	-1.061173459	4.90E-03	2.89E-02
HDGFRP2	S454	-2.149864435	-2.179578503	1.61E-03	2.17E-02
IRS2	S1174	-1.86322693	-2.201768756	9.68E-03	3.18E-02
IRS2	S365	-1.348524729	-1.522416552	3.23E-02	2.41E-02
NCBP1	S22	-1.166416109	-1.262507021	2.61E-02	3.59E-02
POF1B	S123	-1.14039129	-1.255757709	7.13E-03	1.94E-02
PXN	S106	-1.468628565	-1.711836775	1.24E-02	2.51E-02
RIMS2	T866	-1.491510252	-1.595626354	4.09E-02	4.28E-02
RPS6	S236	-3.18710653	-3.291802327	2.10E-02	3.55E-02
RPS6	S240	-3.179575761	-3.246497114	2.04E-02	4.13E-02
RPS6KA3	S369	-1.109682222	-1.124490837	4.31E-02	6.04E-03
RPS6KA3	T365	-1.109682222	-1.124490837	4.31E-02	6.04E-03
STMN1	S25	-1.537544092	-1.5085	3.61E-02	4.91E-02
TACC2	S437	-1.1065678	-1.215180159	3.25E-03	2.99E-02
TRIM33	S1102	-1.711613735	-1.696247896	3.49E-03	1.07E-02
ZNF609	S413	-1.28180627	-1.37930874	3.22E-03	1.31E-03



Figure 2.17: Enrichment of phosphopeptides by anti-pTyr immunoaffinity and TiO₂. (A) Tyrosine-phosphorylated peptides were detected with slightly higher average intensity than non-phosphorylated peptides after pTyr immunoaffinity enrichment. (B) A minority of peptides identified after pTyr immunoaffinity enrichment were phosphorylated (10.1%). (C) Venn diagram of peptides identified by biological replicate after pTyr immunoaffinity enrichment. (D, E) Volcano plot showing log₂-transformed ratio of phosphorylated peptides identified in PHA- (D) or crizotinib- (E) vs DMSO-treated cells. (F) Significantly changed phosphopeptides were coordinately regulated by PHA and crizotinib. (G) Phosphorylated peptides were detected with higher average intensity than non-phosphorylated peptides after TiO₂ enrichment. (H) The majority of peptides identified after TiO₂ enrichment were phosphorylated (72.9%). (I) Venn diagram of peptides identified by biological replicate after tatio of phosphorylated peptides identified peptides were coordinately regulated cells. (F) Significantly changed phosphorylated cells. (F) Significantly changed phosphorylated peptides after TiO₂ enrichment. (H) The majority of peptides identified after TiO₂ enrichment were phosphorylated (72.9%). (I) Venn diagram of peptides identified by biological replicate after TiO₂ enrichment were showing log₂-transformed ratio of phosphorylated peptides identified in PHA- (J) or crizotinib- (K) vs. DMSO-treated cells. (F) Significantly-changed phosphopeptides were coordinately regulated by PHA and crizotinib. (F) Volcano plot showing log₂-transformed ratio of phosphorylated peptides identified in PHA- (J) or crizotinib- (K) vs. DMSO-treated cells. (F) Significantly-changed phosphopeptides were coordinately regulated by PHA and crizotinib.

To identify known networks within the phosphorylation sites identified in our experiment we used the STRING database (Figure 2.18A) (https://string-db.org/; Szklarczyk et al., 2019b). The phosphosites identified by our approach include well-characterized substrates and interactors of Met as well as in proteins known to be associated with Met activity in an oncogenic context such as the calmodulin-dependent signaling pathway and proteins involved in ribosomal protein S6 (RPS6) phosphorylation, which is tightly associated with proliferative signaling. Of particular interest to us was the scaffold protein IRS2, a large multisubstrate protein with homology to Gab1 that is associated with insulin-dependent signaling. We observed a decrease in both tyrosine and serine phosphorylation of IRS2, including on Tyr675, a conserved site required for IRS2-dependent PI3K activation (Landis and Shaw, 2014).

In addition to this, we identified a number of sites not known to be associated with Metdependent activity. Some of these, such as the adaptor GAREM, an adaptor upstream of the Erk MAPK pathway, are known to be involved in RTK-dependent activation of canonical downstream signals. Other novel Met-dependent phosphosites were found in a number of intermediatefilament cytoskeletal and adhesion proteins, such as cytokeratin-18 (KRT18), desmocollin-2 (DSC2), desmoplakin (DSP), and junctional plakoglobin (JUP), and plakophilin-2 (PKP2). While related intermediate-filament junctional proteins such as plakophilin-3 have been reported as Met-dependent phosphorylation sites by mass spectrometry before, our discovery of several novel tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins in these complexes expands the repertoire of intermediate filament junctional proteins that may be regulated by Met-dependent signaling in a proliferative context.



Figure 2.18: Met-dependent phosphosites cluster in signaling and adhesion networks. (A) STRING network of known proteinprotein interactors among crizotinib- and PHA-sensitive phosphosites. Edge thickness indicates confidence. (B) More than 70% of genes associated with crizotinib- and PHA-sensitive phosphosites are enriched in gene ontology terms associated with known RTK and downstream signaling processes (20%), other known signaling pathways (20%), functions involved in the regulation of cell adhesions and junctions (19%) or differentiation (12%). Additional processes are involved in ECM remodeling, actin cytoskeletal organization, cell migration or extrusion through endothelial tissue, with few pathways associated with proliferation or cell growth.

2.21 MPZL1 is phosphorylated upon co-expression with Met

We also observed Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of a site (Y139) in MPZL1. This has been reported in mass spectrometry-based datasets, but MPZL1 phosphorylation not been validated downstream of Met. MPZL1 is a homologue of MPZL3 with a similar domain organization and high homology in the extracellular Ig-like domain (Cao et al., 2007; Racz et al., 2009). Both MPZL1 and MPZL3 contain tyrosine residues in their cytoplasmic C-tails (Figure 2.19A). Phosphorylation of MPZL1, also known as protein-zero related (PZR), in the distal C-tail has been shown to mediate recruitment of the tyrosine phosphatase SHP2 (Zhao and Zhao, 2000; Zhao and Zhao, 1998). We co-expressed Met with MPZL1-V5, MPZL3-V5, or GFP-V5 as a control in HEK293T cells and performed immunoprecipitations against both Met and V5 to test whether MPZL1 or MPZL3 co-immunoprecipitated with Met or showed Met-dependent phosphorylation (Figure 2.19B). A band at 170 kDa corresponding to the unprocessed pro-Met protein coimmunoprecipitated with MPZL3. This band was recognized by antibodies raised against both the phosphorylated activation loop tyrosines (Tyr1234/35) and the total Met protein, but no coimmunoprecipitation was observed between the 145 kDa mature beta-chain of Met and MPZL3. In contrast to this, MPZL1-V5 was phosphorylated upon Met overexpression, as shown by panphosphotyrosine antibody upon V5 immunoprecipitation (~36 kDa). MPZL3-V5 and GFP-V5 did not show any increase in pan-phosphotyrosine reactivity upon Met overexpression. Thus, MPZL3 can co-immunoprecipitate with pro-Met upon co-overexpression but is not phosphorylated by Met in this context, while MPZL1 is phosphorylated upon Met overexpression, indicating that both adhesion receptors may play a role downstream of Met.

А





Figure 2.19: MPZL1 is phosphorylated upon Met overexpression and MPZL3 co-immunoprecipitates with pro-Met. (A) MPZL1 and MPZL3 share domain organization and both contain several cytoplasmic tyrosine residues that may be phosphorylated by cytoplasmic kinases. (B) Immunoprecipitation of V5 and Met in HEK293T cells overexpressing Met, MPZL1 and MPZL3 (n=1). Co-overexpression of Met with MPZL1-V5 induces MPZL1 phosphorylation, as shown by pan-phosphotyrosine reactivity (pY100). Co-overexpression of Met with MPZL3-V5 leads to the co-immunoprecipitation of phosphorylated pro-Met with MPZL3.

2.22 HGF accelerates tumour outgrowth in MET-amplified cells through additional

mechanisms

MET-amplified cancer cell lines exhibit constitutive Met phosphorylation in the absence of exogenous HGF, even under conditions of serum starvation or after changing media (Figures 2.1A, 2.16D). This indicates that Met autophosphorylation is not dependent on HGF autocrine secretion for maintenance and is consistent with a mass-action-based model for constitutive Met activation at high receptor concentration within the plasma membrane. Nonetheless, growth of MET-amplified tumours in mice engineered to express the human HGF gene have been reported to show increased resistance to Met-directed TKI treatment, and exogenous HGF treatment has been reported to attenuate the effects of Met inhibitors in cell culture as well (Ahn et al., 2017; Pennacchietti et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2005). We similarly observed an increase in the effective concentration of inhibitor required to inactivate the Met receptor upon serum starvation, suggesting that HGF may act in a comparable manner by more fully activating the Met kinase and increasing Met autophosphorylation (Figure 2.16D). These experiments also showed an increase in the kinetics of tumour outgrowth in mice expressing human HGF. We sought to test whether growth of MET-amplified cell lines in HGF-expressing mice accelerated tumour growth by increasing Met phosphorylation or the downstream phosphorylation of proteins involved in Metdependent oncogenic signalling such as HER3, Akt, STAT3 and Erk.

We injected Katoll and MKN45 *MET*-amplified cells subcutaneously into immune-compromised mice with (HGF) or without (control) expression of the human *HGF* gene. Katoll cells formed tumours rapidly and had to be sacrificed at day 18 due to ethical considerations. Katoll tumours grown in HGF mice were larger on average at this point, but the difference did not reach statistical

significance (Figure 2.20A and B). MKN45 tumours were smaller and were resected at the same time to monitor for the development of metastases. MKN45 tumours grown in HGF mice were larger than those grown in control mice at the point of resection (Figure 2.20A and B).

We did not observe the growth of metastatic tumours over the course of the experimental follow-up in resected animals. MKN45 tumours resected from HGF-mice displayed multifocal lesions with small islands of cancer cells surviving in necrotic zones, while this was largely absent from tumours grown in control mice (Figure 2.20C). Thus, we saw evidence of an additive effect of HGF expression on early tumour outgrowth in cell lines with constitutively activated Met.

We next treated H1993, Katoll and MKN45 cells in culture with HGF to test whether the action of HGF in promoting early tumour outgrowth arose due to an increase in Met activation or phosphorylation of Met-dependent proteins associated with proliferation. We probed lysates of cells treated with HGF over a course of 3 days for phosphorylation of Met, HER3, STAT3, Akt and Erk phosphorylation (Figure 2.20D). All five proteins showed a loss of phosphorylation upon treatment with PHA, but exogenous HGF treatment did not increase phosphorylation of any sites tested. Untreated cells left in culture over the course of the HGF treatment showed comparable phosphorylation to cells treated with HGF for 3 days, demonstrating that any changes in phosphorylation at this point were due to increased cell confluence or other independent factors, and were not induced by HGF. In contrast to this, HGF treatment of non-*MET*-amplified HeLa cells induced the phosphorylation of 3 phosphosites in Met, as well as activation of Erk and Akt signaling, while STAT3 phosphorylation was induced only after 72h of treatment (Figure 2.20D).



Figure 2.20: HGF accelerates tumour outgrowth in MET-amplified cells. (A) MET-amplified KatolI and MKN45 cells injected in control or human-HGF-expressing mice were measured by palpation over the course of 18 days (n=10 tumours). (B) Tumour volume of control or HGF-exposed tumours at endpoint. (C) H&E staining of MKN45 tumours shows islands of surviving tumour cells in necrotic zones in HGF mice, indicative of multifocal tumours. (D) Treatment of MET-amplified H1993, KatolI and MKN45 cells with HGF does not show an HGF-dependent increase in Met phosphorylation, or the phosphorylation of known downstream species associated with oncogenic signaling including HER3, STAT3, Akt or Erk. MET-normal HeLa cells, by contrast, show HGF-induced Met, STAT3, Akt and Erk phosphorylation, but no induction of HER3 phosphorylation (n=3).

HER3 expression was increased slightly 72h after addition of HGF to HeLa cells, but it was not detectably phosphorylated under these conditions. Thus, *MET*-amplified cell lines do not show major increases in known Met-dependent phosphorylation upon treatment with exogenous HGF, but alternative mechanisms contribute to the early outgrowth of human *MET*-amplified tumours in the presence of human HGF.

2.23 A bio-orthogonal approach to validating Met substrates and Met-dependent phosphosites

Our experiments in *MET*-amplified cell lines suggest an important role for a number of cell adhesion proteins in Met-dependent proliferation and phosphotyrosine signaling. These include the crosstalk observed with HER3, with its role supporting expression of MPZL3 and their Metdependent interaction at the protein level, the abundance of adhesion and junctional proteins identified by our phosphoproteomic experiments, and the MPZL3 homologue MPZL1, which is phosphorylated upon co-overexpression with Met. Moreover, in the case of Met-HER3 signaling, the use of EGFR-, HER2- and Src-family-directed TKIs indicate that these kinases do not play a role in Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation. Given that our experiments were conducted in cells with exceptionally high levels of Met protein and constitutive Met activation, it is reasonable to hypothesize that Met directly phosphorylates the majority of tyrosine phosphosites detected in our experiments, including HER3. We developed a Met mutant capable of selectively utilizing substrate-labeling ATP analogues in order to test whether Met can directly phosphorylate substrates such as HER3, MPZL1 and the other putative Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation sites identified by phosphoproteomics.

2.24 Mutation of gatekeeper residues in the Met kinase domain facilitate ATP analogue binding

Seminal work by Kevan Shokat pioneered a method of developing substrate-labeling kinases by mutating residues in the ATP-binding pocket of the kinase, thereby expanding the pocket and facilitating the binding of ATP analogues containing bulky alkyl adducts at the N6 position (Liu et al., 1998; Shah et al., 1997). We aligned the Met amino acid sequence to several kinases that had been mutated in this manner and successfully utilized in substrate-labeling experiments (Figure 2.21A). This showed that the position Leu1157 in the Met kinase domain aligned with the "gatekeeper" residue in v-Src. We aligned a crystal structure of analogue-sensitized c-Src bound to N6-benzyl-ADP (Thr338Gly; PDB ID: 1KSW) to the crystal structure of the activated Met kinase domain (4IWD) (Northrup et al., 2013; Witucki et al., 2002). This showed that N6-benzyl-ADP docked in the Met ATP binding pocket with the N6 benzyl moiety juxtaposed to Leu1157 (Figure 2.21B). We introduced point mutations substituting Leu1157 for alanine or glycine and expressed the Met Leu1157Ala and Leu1157Gly mutants in HEK293T cells (Figure 2.21C). Met Leu1157Ala expressed at levels comparable to wild-type Met and was similarly constitutively phosphorylated upon high-level overexpression, although the accompanying tyrosine phosphorylation of other proteins was partially attenuated. Met Leu1157Gly was less efficiently autophosphorylated and failed to induce tyrosine phosphorylation of other species. Mutation of Leu1157 to alanine removed a steric clash between the leucine sidechain and the benzyl moiety added to the N6

position of N6-benzyl ADP (Figure 2.21D). Thus, we hypothesized that the Met Leu1157Ala mutant, which is capable of autophosphorylation as well as the tyrosine phosphorylation of downstream proteins, would be capable of utilizing N6-modified ATP γ S analogues.

2.25 Met Leu1157Ala is capable of selective autolabeling in vitro using N6-modified ATP₂S

In order to validate the enzymatic activity of Met Leu1157Ala and Gly mutants with substratelabeling ATP analogues, we next prepared an *in vitro* kinase reaction. By substituting the gamma phosphate group with a thiophosphate (ATP_YS), substrates of a phosphorylation reaction utilizing this nucleotide become thiophosphorylated. Direct substrates of a kinase utilizing ATPyS can be distinguished from other phosphates by conversion to thiophosphoesters in the presence of alkylating agents such as *p*-nitrobenzyl mesylate (PNBM) and can be subsequently detected using a selective thiophosphoester-directed antibody, 51-8 (Figure 2.22A). We expressed Met Leu1175Ala and Met Leu1157Gly in HEK293T cells with wild-type or kinase dead Met constructs as controls (Figure 2.22B). Met protein was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates and split between 4 separate reactions per condition. Wild-type Met and Met Leu1157Ala induced detectable autothiophosphorylation in a manner dependent on both ATP γ S and PNBM (Figure 2.22B). This demonstrated that both the wild-type and mutant kinase domain were catalytically active using ATP γ S as a nucleotide substrate. We proceeded to test the selectivity of Met Leu1157Ala over wild-type Met for a panel of N6-modified ATPyS analogues (Figure 2.22C). Wildtype and Leu1157Ala constructs were expressed in HEK293T cells for *in vitro* kinase reactions as before (Figure 2.22D).



L1157



375

Met

:

Met with N6-benzyl ADP (4IWD:1KSW)

Α

В



Figure 2.21: Mutation of the Leu1157 gatekeeper residue in Met expands the ATP binding pocket. (A) ClustalW alignment of Met, v-Src, protein kinase A (PKA) and cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (cdk2) shows that Leu1157 aligns with the gatekeeper residue in these kinases. (B) Structural alignment of activated Met kinase domain (4IWD) to analogue-sensitive c-Src Thr338Gly mutant bound to N6-benzyl ADP (1KSW). (C) Expression and phosphorylation of wild-type, Leu1157Ala (L1157A) and Leu1157Gly (L1157G) Met constructs in HEK293T cells (n=1). Tyrosine phosphorylation of other proteins is monitored by pan-phosphotyrosine antidbody (pY100). (D) Mutation of Leu1157 to alanine removes steric hindrance between the side chain of Leu1157 and the benzyl ring of N6-benzyl ADP.



Figure 2.22: Met Leu1157Ala selectively utilizes N6-modified ATPγS analogues in substrate-labeling reactions. (A) Schematic for thiophosphoester-based substrate recognition using ATPγS. p-nitorbenzyl mesylate (PNBM) is used to alkylate thiophosphorylation sites to thiophosphoesters. An antibody against thiophosphoesters (51-8) is used to detect alkylated substrates. (B) Met construct expression and activation loop phosphorylation (Tyr1234/35) in HEK293T cells. Kinase-impaired (Lys1110Ala; K1110A) and gatekeeper residue (Met1157Ala/Gly; MetL1157A/G) are compared to wild-type Met (n=3). (C) In vitro kinase reaction using immunoprecipitated Met protein from cells in (B) (n=4). Lysates were supplemented with ATP or ATPγS and alkylated with PNBM.(D) Schematic of N6-substituted ATPγS analogues. (E) Met and Met L1157A expression and overall phosphorylation in HEK293T cells (pan-phosphotyrosine antibody; pY100) (n=3). (F) In vitro kinase reactions using N6-substituted ATPγS analogues (n=3). Met L1157A is capable of utilizing N6-Ph-ATPγS and N6-Fu-ATPγS while wild-type of Met can only utilize unsubstituted ATPγS.

Met Leu1157Ala was able to induce autothiophosphorylation in the presence of all three N6modified ATPγS analogues tested, while wild-type Met was only capable of utilizing unmodified ATPγS (Figure 2.22E). Met Leu1157Ala is thus an analogue-sensitive mutant of the Met RTK and is biochemically capable of selective substrate-labeling *in vitro*.

CHAPTER 3: DISCUSSION

3.1 Summary

The Met RTK has been identified as a proto-oncogene since its discovery as a component of the fusion oncoprotein, TPR-Met, in experimentally-transformed murine NIH3T3 fibroblasts (Gonzatti-Haces et al., 1988; Park et al., 1986; Park et al., 1987). Early interest in the development of therapeutic agents to target oncogenic RTKs included Met. After the clinical successes of imatinib, gefitinib and trastuzumab in the late 1990's and early 2000's, clinical-grade therapeutic agents targeting the Met kinase were advanced in clinical trials to treat patients overexpressing Met protein in the hopes of replicating patient response success seen by targeting EGFR and HER2. Clinical experience in the subsequent two decades has shown that only a small proportion of patients respond to Met-directed therapy, and that this is generally accompanied by either mutations affecting the negative regulation of Met, or gene amplification (Lennerz et al., 2011; Noonan et al., 2016). Activating kinase domain mutations found in papillary renal carcinomas similarly predispose patients to respond to Met inhibitors, while the recent discovery of recurrent Met gene fusions in glioblastomas heralds additional cases in which mutational activation of Met can be targeted clinically (International Cancer Genome Consortium PedBrain Tumor, 2016; Rhoades Smith and Bilen, 2019). Nonetheless, high expression of Met protein alone has not succeeded as a method in identifying Met-dependent cancers. This may be due to a discrepancy between the threshold for Met positivity by immunohistochemical staining, used historically to identify Met high tumors, and the level of expression required for oncogenic transformation of cells by Met (Guo et al., 2019). Thus, unique mechanisms that accompany the constitutive activation of Met, such as the induction of heterotypic signaling with the EGFR family, may be required for Met to act as a driver oncogene in cancer.

Genomic amplification of *MET* was identified in human cancers in the wake of landmark discoveries in the 1980's linking *ERBB2* amplification to oncogenic transformation by HER2 (Di Renzo et al., 1992; Kuniyasu et al., 1992; Slamon et al., 1987; Wullich et al., 1993). *MET*-amplified cell lines grown continuously in tissue culture have been established as a model of Met-dependent cancer, in which selective inhibition of Met activity induces a cytostatic or cytotoxic response *in vitro* and in xenograft tumours *in vivo* (Lai et al., 2014; Smolen et al., 2006). To address our understanding of the cellular requirements for Met-dependent oncogenic transformation, the goal of this thesis was to use *MET*-amplified cancer cell lines, known to be dependent on Met activity for proliferation and survival, as a model system to identify molecular determinants of Met-dependent transformation as selected in cancer cells. This information could then be used to improve patient stratification by identifying patients more likely to respond to Met inhibitors in the clinic, and to provide insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying oncogenic Met signaling to improve drug efficacy or identify appropriate combination therapies.

Using a combination of selective kinase inhibitors and structure-function approaches, we show that signaling between Met and the EGFR family, known to be a feature of *MET*-amplified cell biology, preferentially induces HER3 phosphorylation. This occurs independently of EGFR and HER2. Heterotypic signaling between Met and HER3 contributes to proliferation and the early outgrowth of *MET*-amplified cells *in vivo*. We subsequently demonstrated that this depends on the transcription of MPZL3, a predicted cell adhesion protein. We show that HER3 forms a complex with MPZL3, and that MPZL3 expression is elevated in *MET-*, *EGFR-* and *ERBB2-*amplified cancers, indicating that it may play a more general role in oncogenic transformation downstream of RTKs that signal through HER3. Using a phosphoproteomic approach to identify phosphoproteins in *MET*-amplified cancer cells dependent on Met activity, we identified MPZL1, a homologue of MPZL3, among a large number of previously undescribed atypical adhesion and junctional proteins phosphorylated downstream of Met in MET-amplified KatoII cells. We also demonstrate an HGF-dependent acceleration of early tumour outgrowth that does not correlate with increased Met phosphorylation or canonical Met-dependent proliferative signaling, indicating that additional HGF-dependent pathways can contribute to early tumour outgrowth in *MET*-amplified cells. We have developed Met kinase domain mutants designed to accept bulky ATP analogues allowing for direct substrate-labeling of Met substrates. These mutants can also be used to generate cell lines in which Met can be inhibited by highly selective TKI analogues (discussed below). Thus, this thesis contributes to the understanding of Met-dependent crosstalk with the EGFR family through HER3. We add genes to the repertoire of HER3-dependent signaling partners with a role in promoting cancer and candidate targets of Met-dependent signaling associated with a proliferative signal output. Furthermore, we show HGF-dependent roles for increasing tumour aggressiveness in this context, and finally, we validate biochemical tools for further elaboration of Met substrates in a variety of signaling contexts.

3.2 HER3 as a central node for crosstalk between Met and the EGFR family RTKs

Signaling between the Met and EGFR family of RTKs has been reported in a variety of cellular contexts. Most of these studies have focused on mechanisms of EGFR-dependent phosphorylation of Met, or combinatorial inhibition of Met and EGFR in an attempt to improve patient response to therapy and prevent the outgrowth of *MET*-amplified and therapy resistant tumours in xenograft models (Dulak et al., 2011; Engelman et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2012; Zhang et

al., 2013). Some of these experiments have shown benefit for combinatorial inhibition of Met and EGFR in preclinical model systems, but clinical trials have consistently failed to show improvement in therapeutic outcomes when Met-directed therapies are applied to patients with EGFR-activating mutations in lung cancer. In some cases clinical trials have been closed early due to signs of increased mortality in the combination therapy arm compared to controls. It is from the few patients with clear objective responses in these clinical trials that *MET* gene amplification was identified as predictive of response to Met-directed therapies in a clinical setting (Gainor et al., 2016).

Our experiments show that in *MET*-amplified cell lines studied, heterotypic signaling between the Met and EGFR family primarily involves HER3 (Figures 2.2, 2.4 and 2.5). Intriguingly, in HCC827 cells with acquired resistance to EGFR inhibition through *MET* amplification, Met was shown to co-immunoprecipitate with HER3, and HER3 phosphorylation become dependent on Met (Engelman et al., 2007). Experimental approaches to improving EGFR-directed therapy by combinatorial targeting of EGFR, HER2 and HER3 also resulted in acquired resistance through elevated Met activity, and the induction of a Met-HER3 interaction was shown in this context by co-immunoprecipitation (Mancini et al., 2015). Conversely, inhibition of Met signaling in cells with *de novo MET* amplification increased expression of both HER3 and its ligand NRG1, suggesting that HER3 may play a role in adaptation to Met inhibition as well (Lai et al., 2014). Moreover, co-amplification or copy number gain of *ERBB3* along with amplification of *EGFR* has been observed in patients with Met exon 14 mutations who have acquired resistance to Metdirected TKIs (Recondo et al., 2020a). Our work provides additional context to these studies and suggests that the Met-HER3 axis is under strong positive selection in the context of Met-
dependent transformation. The recurrent induction of Met-HER3 complexes in cells escaping EGFR inhibition further indicates that HER3 is a critical component of oncogenic Met signaling and is required to replace the EGFR-induced signal.

3.3 HER3 promotes cancer cell proliferation through novel non-canonical signaling

A key question that we address in this thesis is the contribution of HER3 to Met-dependent signaling in the context of oncogenic transformation. Met and HER3 both activate the Akt pathway and Met generally activates signaling pathways that overlap with EGFR, such as the Ras-MAPK pathway, through the Grb2, SHC1 and Crk adaptor proteins and the phosphatase SHP2 (Furcht et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2013). Nonetheless, the integration of HER3 into Met-dependent signaling could increase activation of shared pathways or contribute to the activation of unknown downstream effectors. Our hypothesis in investigating heterotypic signaling between Met and the EGFR family of RTKs was to identify how crosstalk expands signal output and cancer cell proliferation over invasive growth, a predominant Met-dependent phenotype.

The PI3K-Akt, Ras-MAPK and STAT3 signaling pathways are known to contribute to oncogenic transformation downstream of Met in *MET*-amplified gastric cancer cells (Lai et al., 2014). Ras-MAPK and PI3K-Akt signaling are also required for Met-dependent transformation in fibroblasts, and for 3D invasion in cell culture resulting in tubulogenesis (Schaeper et al., 2000). The phosphorylation of the Akt, Erk and STAT3 molecules are not altered by HER3 depletion, supporting the conclusion that potentially novel, non-canonical mechanisms of HER3-dependent signaling are required for oncogenic proliferative signals downstream of a Met/HER3 signaling axis (Figure 2.9). Our RNA sequencing data identified genes that had not previously been reported

to be regulated in a HER3-dependent manner and whose RNA level was decreased following HER3 knockdown. One of these, MPZL3, which decreased in expression following HER3 knockdown in multiple MET-amplified cell lines, partially rescued the consequent loss of HER3dependent proliferation upon its overexpression (Figure 2.11 and 2.12). We demonstrated that MPZL3 was a HER3 binding protein and that Met activity regulates the MPZL3-HER3 interaction in MET-amplified cells (Figure 2.14). While MPZL3 was not known to associate with oncogenic signaling downstream of HER3 or the other EGFR-family RTKs, the MPZL3 homologue MPZL1 has been reported to contribute to HER2-dependent proliferation in breast cancer and modulate the adaptation to the HER2-targeted antibody trastuzumab (Lapin et al., 2014). MPZL1 can associate with Grb2 and the tyrosine phosphatase SHP2 in HER2-amplified breast cancer cells (Beigbeder et al., 2017). While the role of MPZL1 in cancer has primarily been associated with migration and invasion, it has been shown to promote proliferation in ovarian cancer as well through Src activation (Chen et al., 2019a). Thus, accumulating evidence implicates MPZL1 in cancer, and we show that its paralogue MPZL3 is implicated in oncogenic signaling downstream of Met and HER3 (Figure 3.1A). Moreover, the association between HER3 and MPZL3 may contribute to proliferation in other contexts that MET-amplified cancer (Figure 2.15).



Figure 3.1: Non-canonical HER3-dependent signaling through MPZL3 promotes proliferation. (A) Canonical proliferative signaling pathways downstream of Met are not impacted by HER3 depletion, but proliferative function is impaired due to the loss of MPZL3 levels and the HER3-MPZL3 complex. (B) HER3 and MPZL3 are required for colony formation in FGFR2- and ERBB2-amplified cell lines (n=3). FGFR2-amplified KatoIII cells and ERBB2-amplified SkBr3 cells form fewer colonies upon HER3 or MPZL3 depletion by shRNA than control cells (pLKO). By contrast, HeLa cells, in which no RTK amplification is observed, colony formation is unaffected by HER3 or MPZL3 depletion.

3.4 A role for MPZL3 in promoting cancer cell proliferation

MPZL3 depletion phenocopies the loss of colony formation upon HER3 depletion in Katoll *MET*amplified cells, and overexpression of MPZL3 attenuates the loss of proliferation upon HER3 depletion in EBC1 cells (Figure 2.12). To our knowledge, this is the first report of a role for MPZL3 in cancer cell proliferation or other cancer-associated phenotypes. MPZL3 is primarily understood through its role in differentiation in the epidermis (Barsam et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2007; Leiva et al., 2014; Palanza et al., 2017; Wikramanayake et al., 2017). MPZL3 knockout mice exhibit epidermal hyperplasia of immature progenitor cells within sebaceous cysts. MPZL3 is expressed during the process of epidermal differentiation and has been suggested to play a role as a tumour suppressor in cutaneous squamous carcinoma in connection to this function (Bhaduri et al., 2015).

Our observation of high MPZL3 expression in *EGFR*- and *ERBB2*-amplified cell lines in the CCLE suggests that these RTKs may share a requirement for HER3 in order to sustain MPZL3 levels (Figure 2.15). Therefore, the identification of Met-dependent mechanisms of resistance to EGFR inhibition may in fact reflect a central dependence on the ability of Met to maintain MPZL3 levels through HER3. Based on our observations of higher MPZL3 expression in the *ERBB2*-amplified SkBr3 breast cancer cell line as well as the *FGFR2*-amplified KatoIII gastric cancer cell line in the CCLE dataset, we tested the ability of these cells to form colonies upon depletion of either HER3 or MPZL3 (Figure 3.1B). We observed decreased colony formation in both cell lines for both HER3-and MPZL3-depleted cells, while the non-RTK-amplified HeLa cell line showed no difference in colony formation under these conditions. Thus, the contribution of HER3 to HER2- or FGFR2-dependent oncogenic signaling may also reflect its interaction with MPZL3 or its maintenance of

MPZL3 mRNA levels, further indicating that MPZL3 may play a central role in explaining the importance of HER3 downstream of multiple RTKs.

3.5 The biology of the HER3-MPZL3 axis is consistent with an intracellular mechanism of action

Met and HER3 are reported to co-localize within intracellular compartments of the secretory pathway in MCC97-H cells with acquired resistance to EGFR inhibition (Frazier et al., 2019). This also occurs in Cos7 cells in which Met and HER3 are overexpressed, although cooverexpression of HER2 and HER3 results in phosphorylated HER3 accumulating at the plasma membrane instead of the Golgi. Met and HER3 co-immunoprecipitate under these conditions. Mutations in the HER3 N- and C-lobes are dispensable for Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation in these cells, and phospho-HER3 accumulates in the Golgi instead of trafficking to the plasma membrane (Frazier et al., 2019). This reflects our observations in HEK293T cells with cooverexpression of Met and HER3, where N- and C-lobe HER3 mutants exhibit Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation (Figure 2.4). Our MPZL3-V5 overexpression construct does not traffic to the plasma membrane but instead accumulates in intracellular compartments (Figure 2.13). Intriguingly, curation efforts by the Human Protein Atlas Project have shown that MPZL3 can localize to the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi, while biotin-labeling of MPZL3 interactors using an MPZL3-BirA fusion protein revealed enrichment for mitochondrial proteins, which traffic through the endoplasmic reticulum as well (Bhaduri et al., 2015). Thus, the Met-dependent phosphorylation of HER3 may similarly occur in the endoplasmic reticulum or Golgi, promoting HER3 retention within the secretory pathway and thereby its association with MPZL3. The induction of Met-HER3 complexes and Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation has been reported in cells treated with antibodies directed against EGFR, HER2 and HER3 as an adaptation mechanism (Mancini et al., 2015). Our results and the findings of a Met-HER3 interaction within the secretory pathway suggest that this may be a mechanism of protecting HER3 from antibody-induced degradation by preventing its trafficking to the cell surface while reactivating HER3-dependent oncogenic signaling from intracellular compartments where it can bind MPZL3.

3.6 HGF-dependent internalization of Met promotes early tumour outgrowth and actin reorganization in MET-amplified cells

Comparison of the transforming and proliferative activity of human Met in response to human versus mouse HGF in fibroblasts or hepatocytes has demonstrated that human HGF is required to fully activate the human Met receptor (Rong et al., 1992). We were able to replicate previous reports of accelerated tumour growth of MET-amplified cancer cells in mice humanized for HGF (Pennacchietti et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2005). Surprisingly, this did not correlate with an increase in Met tyrosine phosphorylation or the phosphorylation of the major oncogenic signaling effectors downstream of Met in cell culture. Thus, the activity of HGF in promoting rapid tumour outgrowth may proceed through mechanisms that do not involve increased kinase activity, or at least not as detectable by levels of tyrosine phosphorylation. This is consistent with a model in which the MET gene amplification maximally activates the kinase and suggests that any effect HGF has on Met may be a function of redistributing the active receptor within the plasma membrane or the endosomal pathway. Previous work in our group has shown that subcellular relocalization of activated Met complexes to dorsal ruffles regulates Met trafficking and degradation (Abella et al., 2010a). The induction of phosphatidyl-inositol-4, 5-bisphosphate recruits the Met-phosphorylated Gab1-cortactin complex to initiate invadopodia at specific

locations in the plasma membrane in another example of HGF-dependent relocalization of Metdependent signaling (Rajadurai et al., 2012). Sustained signaling through the Ras-MAPK pathways in response to HGF requires Met signaling from endosomal complexes (Maroun et al., 2000; Parachoniak et al., 2011). Dynamic regulation of the small GTPase Arf6 across different subcellular compartments is also critical to cell migration in response to HGF (Zaoui et al., 2019a; Zaoui et al., 2019b). Thus, we hypothesized that HGF may regulate signaling downstream of Met by altering Met trafficking in *MET*-amplified cells.

In order to analyze Met trafficking upon HGF stimulation, we treated *MET*-amplified H1993 cells with fluorescently tagged HGF. Cells were fixed after stimulation and Met localization was determined by indirect immunofluorescence (Figure 3.2A). A subset of Met was internalized upon HGF stimulation, while the majority of the receptor remained at the plasma membrane. Met and HGF accumulate at punctate intracellular compartments resembling endosomes within 15 minutes and continue to accumulate in these structures up to 4 hours after stimulation. Met and HGF remain colocalized in endosomal compartments, indicating that the receptor and ligand do not dissociate as is observed in GGA3-dependent recycling of a non-amplified Met to the plasma membrane (Parachoniak et al., 2011). Thus, despite no detectable increase in Met phosphorylation, stimulation with HGF does induce Met internalization in *MET*-amplified cells.

We measured actin polymerization using fluorescent phalloidin, a dye that incorporates into filamentous actin. HGF stimulation induced actin polymerization along the outer edge of each cell colony (Figure 3.2A). We also observed the induction of circular actin-enriched structures consistent with the formation of dorsal ruffles as observed in response to HGF in other cell lines

(Abella et al., 2010a). Extensive remodeling of the cortical actin cytoskeleton is also seen in the induction of invadopodia downstream of Met (Rajadurai et al., 2012). Actin polymerization peaked at 1-hour post-treatment and decreased after this point, indicating that HGF stimulation in cell culture induces a transient signal. In mice expressing humanized HGF, the induction of HGF-dependent actin reorganization would presumably occur on a continuous basis. We performed HGF stimulation in HER3-depleted H1993 and Mkn45 *MET*-amplified cells but did not observe a difference in Met internalization or actin polymerization by fluorescence microscopy under these conditons (data not shown). Thus, the rapid outgrowth of *MET*-amplified cells grown in the presence of humanized HGF may be dependent on actin remodeling that accompanies Met internalization but is not regulated by HER3-dependent signaling.

We further assessed HGF-dependent Met internalization biochemically (Figure 3.2B). Cell surface proteins were biotinylated using thiocleavable biotin before stimulation with HGF. Cell surface biotin was then stripped on ice before lysis over a time course following HGF treatment. Biotinylated proteins, protected from stripping by internalization during chase, were isolated by precipitation on a streptavidin resin. Untreated cells and cells treated for the full 1-hour time course were also left unstripped as labeling controls (first lane and last two lanes). Met internalized basally in unstimulated cells, but HGF treatment notably increased internalized Met up to 15 minutes after stimulation. Thus, both biochemical and cytochemical approaches confirm that HGF promotes Met internalization.



Figure 3.2: HGF increases Met internalization in MET-amplified cells. (A) MET-amplified H1993 cells were stimulated with fluorescent HGF followed for the indicated times at 37°C (n=2). Met localization and actin polymerization were determined in after fixation by indirect immunofluorescence and fluorescent phalloidin, respectively. (B) H1993 cells were surface-labeled with cleavable biotin, stimulated with HGF, and stripped of surface biotin after chase (n=2). Internalized proteins was enriched by streptavidin resin and probed for total Met. Cells lysed before stripping (without HGF treatment, first lane; with 60m treatment or control, last two lanes) show total labeled Met, while cells stripped immediately (second lane) show stripping efficiency.

The increased actin polymerization we observe upon HGF stimulation suggests that the acceleration of tumour outgrowth in HGF-expressing mice may be due to signaling impinging on the cytoskeleton instead of canonical proliferative signaling pathways. This further supports the possibility that the induction of Met-dependent signaling through adhesion-related pathways contributes to the proliferative signal output observed in *MET*-amplified cells.

3.7 Met Leu1157Ala selectively undergoes autophosphorylation in situ using N6-modified ATP ₂S

In order to model signaling downstream of the amplified receptor in a simplified setting, we developed mutants of the Met receptor capable of selectively utilizing N6-modified ATP analogues with a gamma-thiophosphate group in order to conduct substrate-labeling experiments (Figures 2.20 and 2.21). Our goal in this was to validate whether HER3 is in fact a direct substrate of Met phosphorylation in the constitutively activated setting. We overexpressed wild-type Met or the Met Leu1157Ala mutant in HEK293T cells to constitutively activate their kinase activity as in Figure 2.20, in which both constructs are autophosphorylated and promote the tyrosine phosphorylation of other proteins (Figure 2.20C).

ATP γ S is a charged molecule and does not cross the plasma membrane on its own. We permeabilized cells with the detergent digitonin in order to facilitate the use of ATP γ S or N6-modified analogues of ATP γ S *in situ* in cells. We optimized kinase buffer conditions to ensure that signal detected by the anti-thiophosphoester detection antibody, 51-8, could specifically recognize thiophosphorylated proteins in cell lysates (Figure 3.3A).





Figure 3.3: Met Leu1157Ala selectively utilizes N6-modified ATP analogues in situ. (A) Cells were permeabilized using digitonin and treated with kinase reaction buffer containing a mix of ATP and either ATP γ S or N6-phenethyl-ATP γ S (N6 γ S) (n=1). To test thioantibody selectivity we left some lysates unalkylated as in Figure 2.21C (DMSO) and alkylated others with p-nitrobenzyl mesylate (PNBM (n=1)). Lysates were then probed with anti-thiophosphoester antibody (51-8). We observed some background labeling in cells treated with N6 γ S. (B) We titrated N6 γ S against ATP in kinase buffer to optimize conditions for selective autothiophosphorylation of Met Leu1157Ala in situ. Immunoprecipitated Met was selectively autothiophosphorylated in samples containing N6 γ S, and by excluding ATP we could maximize this signal. (C) We conducted in-cell labeling in HEK293T cells expressing a HER3-V5 construct (n=3). While Met autophosphorylation was selectively observed in Met Leu1157Ala-expressing cells treated with N6 γ S, background thiophosphorylation of HER3, or some other background signal detected by 51-8, was observed upon immunoprecipitation using the V5 tag (IP-V5).

We observed induction of thiophosphorylated proteins in conditions with both wild-type and

Leu1157Ala Met variants whether we used ATPyS or N6-phenethyl-ATPyS (N6yS). By titrating

N6γS against ATP and other nucleotides in in-cell kinase reaction buffer we identified conditions favourable for its selective use by Met Leu1157Ala over wild-type Met (Figure 3.3B). Selective incorporation of the thiophosphate moiety into Met Leu1157Ala occurred in kinase buffer supplemented exclusively with N6γS in place of ATP. We overexpressed the Met variants in HEK293T cells expressing V5-tagged HER3 and conducted in-cell substrate labeling, but background labeling of HER3 was unexpectedly observed in the absence of Met overexpression (Figure 3.3C). Thus, we were unable to determine whether or not HER3 is a direct substrate of Met using this approach.

Chemical capture using thioreactive columns has been developed as an alternative method of identifying thiophosphorylated proteins (Hertz et al., 2010; Schaffer et al., 2015). While we were unable to demonstrate direct Met-dependent phosphorylation of HER3, the Met analogue-sensitive labeling mutants we have developed permit future analysis of candidate direct substrates of Met by this approach. Another important use of analogue-sensitive kinases involves the use of modified TKIs based on the structure of PP1, a Src inhibitor, to selectively inhibit analogue-sensitive kinase mutants while having minimal impact on the activity of non-mutated cellular kinases (Kraybill et al., 2002). This permits more specific inhibition of the mutated kinase than can be normally achieved using ATP-competitive TKIs, which have significant off-target binding (Davis et al., 2011). In order to utilize the Met Leu1157Ala mutant in this manner, we have begun optimization of TKI analogues for selective activity against Met Leu1157Ala. The ability to discriminate Met-dependent phosphosites from those affected by off-target kinases will be useful in validating candidate Met-dependent phosphoproteins such as those identified by our phosphoproteomic profiling.

3.8 Signal rewiring in MET-amplified cancer cells

A goal of this thesis was to establish the molecular determinants of proliferative signaling in Metdependent cancers and explain how MET amplification promotes a proliferative output over cell dispersal (Figure 3.4). HGF-dependent activation of Met is primarily associated with the induction of cell migration and an increase in invasive potential in a majority of HGF-responsive cell lines (Stoker et al., 1987; Weidner et al., 1990). A proliferative response to HGF-dependent Met activation is observed in the placenta during development and in hepatocytes in vitro and in vivo, indicating that in specific contexts Met activation does in fact promote proliferation (Borowiak et al., 2004; Nakamura et al., 1986). Nonetheless, the low rate of objective response to Metdirected therapy in cancer indicates that this is not the major outcome of Met expression in most cancers (Noonan et al., 2016). In contrast to the migration observed upon HGF stimulation in MET-normal cells, the induction of Met activation by washing out the Met-directed TKI PHA-665752 induces cell rounding but does not activate migration in 2 out of 3 adherent METamplified cell lines tested (data not shown). As 4 of the 7 MET-amplified cell lines in our panel grow in suspension, these cells do not exhibit Met-dependent migration in cell culture. Katoll cells adhere to plastic and lose cell rounding in the presence of Met inhibitors such as PHA or crizotinib (data not shown).

As gene amplification has been observed to induce constitutive Met activation and Metdependent proliferation *in vitro* and is associated with objective response to Met inhibition in the clinic, we used *MET*-amplified cells as a model system to study how proliferative signaling is

activated downstream of Met in an oncogenic context (Figure 3.4A). *MET*-amplified cells maintain high levels of protein compared to non-amplified cell lines and constitutive phosphorylation of activation loop tyrosines (Tyr1234/35), thus exhibiting high levels of kinase activity (Figure 2.1). We hypothesized that a switch to proliferative signaling could involve the inclusion of novel additional signaling partners that are not activated in HGF-dependent contexts where cell migration may predominate (Figure 3.4B). Our observation of conserved Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of HER3 in *MET*-amplified cells contrasts with the lack of HER3 expression and phosphorylation in non-*MET*-amplified cells stimulated with HGF (Figure 2.2 and 2.22D). Our data support the conclusion that HER3 contributes to proliferative signaling downstream from Met, but the ability of HER3-depleted tumours and cell cultures to adapt and eventually proliferate indicates that additional mechanisms downstream of Met may be sufficient to enable cell proliferation in the absence of signaling through HER3.

Additional work in our group has identified a key role for crosstalk with the RTK FGFR1 and the large multisite docking protein FRS2, a homologue of Gab1, in promoting tumour initiation in mouse mammary tumours with *MET* amplification (Sung, Duhamel *et al.*, under review). We probed for FRS2 phosphorylation in our panel of *MET*-amplified cell lines and observed Met-dependent phosphorylation of FRS2 in Katoll, Snu5, Okajima and Mkn45 cells, indicating that the induction of Met-FRS2 signaling is a common event in the *MET*-amplified setting (Figure 3.5).

We also observed Met-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of the adaptor proteins SHB and GAREM, and the large multisite docking protein IRS2, in *MET*-amplified Katoll cells. GAREM is a tyrosine-phosphorylated adaptor protein that interacts with Grb2 and has been shown to promote EGFR-dependent proliferation through MAPK pathway activation (Tashiro et al., 2009).

SHB is a homologue of the Met- and EGFR-interacting SHC adaptor, and is recruited to a complex with IRS1 and IRS2 to promote proliferation in pancreatic β -cells (Annerén and Welsh, 2002; Welsh et al., 2002).



Figure 3.4: Met signal rewiring upon MET amplification. (A) Unlike the cell dispersal or migration observed in most epithelial cells stimulated with HGF, MET-amplified cells preferentially exhibit a proliferative response to Met signaling but do not show an increase in cell migration on 2D substrates. (B) We hypothesize that the induction of cell proliferation as an outcome of Met signaling in the amplified context is due to the induction of additional phosphorylation not observed in most HGF-dependent contexts. The phosphorylation of these additional substrates would recruit additional downstream effectors required for Met-dependent proliferation. We show evidence of Met-dependent HER3 phosphorylation, and that HER3 promotes proliferation in MET-amplified cells. We further show Met-dependent phosphorylation of the IRS2 large multisite docking protein and the SHB

and GAREM adaptor proteins, which are not known to be phosphorylated in HGF-dependent contexts. Recent work in our group has also shown that FRS2 is phosphorylated in MET-amplified cells (Sung, 2019)

IRS2 is canonically associated with signaling downstream of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor RTKs (reviewed in Copps and White, 2012; Peng and He, 2018). Phosphorylation of IRS2 has been shown to promote proliferation and cell survival downstream of a variety of kinases in the pancreas as well in several cancers, but to our knowledge has not been reported to be phosphorylated in a Met-dependent manner (Emdal et al., 2018; Gui et al., 2013; Jeong et al., 2018; Mohanty et al., 2005; Stamateris et al., 2016; Szabolcs et al., 2009). Thus, we have identified a number of novel proliferation-related proteins usually associated with RTK signaling whose phosphorylation by Met may underlie rewiring toward a proliferative signal in the amplified setting.





3.9 Predicted and known adhesion receptors play central roles in MET-amplified cells

We observed a large number of adhesion-related genes among our list of Met-dependent phosphosites in Katoll cells and enrichment for atypical adhesion and junctional complexes (Figure 3.6). The genes driving enrichment of these pathways were desmosomal proteins including the desmocollin-2 (DSC2)-plakophilin-2 (PKP2)-plakoglobin (JUP)-desmoplakin (DSP) complex, which forms desmosomal structures involved in action potential propagation in the heart (Figure 2.18) (Lee and McGrath, 2020). To our knowledge, these proteins are not known to be tyrosinse-phosphorylated in response to Met activation. The desmosomal protein PKP3 is reported to be phosphorylated upon HGF stimulation, and the internalization of desmosomes is part of the classic cell-scattering response to HGF (Johnson et al., 2013; Royal and Park, 1995). Nonetheless, while HGF-dependent regulation of desmosomes is well characterized, phosphorylation of DSP and JUP in HGF-stimulated cells has not been observed (Li et al., 2001; Pasdar et al., 1997). Mutations in DSP and DSC2 have been shown to associate with heart arrhythmias in both human patients and genetically-engineered mouse models (Chen et al., 2019b; Gehmlich et al., 2011). Thus, the phosphorylation of a noncanonical desmosomal complex in the MET-amplified state implies the expansion of signaling towards adhesion complexes in comparison to the ligand-activated state.



Figure 3.6: Met-dependent phosphosites enrich for atypical cell adhesion and junctional pathways. Select highly-enriched pathways from our gene ontology analysis of genes containing Met-dependent phosphosites shows enrichment for atypical functions including T-cell extravasation by diapedesis and desmosomal structures involved in action potential propagation in the heart. Differentiation-related genes with Met-dependent phosphosites are mostly found in neuronal, bone or skin tissue-related processes.

We also observed enrichment for pathways related to neuronal, skin and bone differentiation, and the cell migration-related pathways included several functions related to T-cell extravastion and diapedesis. Differentiation-related gene ontology was largely found within processes governing neuronal development. In both of these cases, pathway enrichment was driven by canonical Met-dependent substrates including the Crk, CrkL and Nck adaptor proteins, STAT3, and Met itself.

The activation of tissue-specific adhesion proteins downstream of amplified *MET* points to a continued and critical role for the regulation of cell junctions and adhesions while cells are in a proliferative state. Thus, our observations suggest that the induction of proliferation may not represent rewiring away from junctional signaling *per se*, but activation of additional Met-dependent signaling partners beyond its normal repertoire that enhance proliferation. The failure of a majority of *MET*-amplified cell lines to undergo Met-dependent migration and invasion may be due to an inability to dynamically regulate junctional signaling in the constitutively-activated state as opposed to the HGF-stimulated state in normal cells (Zaoui et

al., 2019a; Zaoui et al., 2019b). A key outstanding question is whether the activation of these atypical junctional and adhesion proteins impacts cell proliferation, as we have shown for MPZL3.

3.10 Conclusions

The Met RTK plays pleiotropic roles in mammalian biology in diverse tissues in normal development and physiology. In cancer, its role as a transforming oncogene is mostly associated with its ability to promote cell proliferation and thus tumour expansion. We show that this involves the induction of heterotypic signaling through HER3, but that HER3 expression promotes the stabilization of a novel binding partner, MPZL3, as opposed to maintaining the activity of proliferative signaling pathways downstream of Met. We identify several adaptors known to be involved in RTK signaling but previously unassociated with Met that are phosphorylated in a Metdependent manner, pointing to additional rewiring of RTK signaling in the gene-amplified setting. These results explain how cells in which HER3 has been depleted are capable of eventually adapting to the loss of the HER3-MPZL3 axis. The induction of phosphorylation of several additional junctional complexes in the amplified setting shows that proliferative signaling occurs along within the context of an expansion of overall Met signaling, and not with a coordinated shift towards proliferation-related genes per se. Nonetheless, this may actually be important for the proliferation of *MET*-amplified cells, as exemplified by MPZL3, a predicted adhesion receptor with a proliferative role downstream of Met and HER3 in cancer. Our work suggests that MPZL3 may be involved in other RTK-dependent cancers, particularly those involving HER3 signaling.

Our work demonstrates that previously uncharacterized signaling pathways are required for efficient oncogenic proliferation downstream of Met. Thus, we can contribute potential

biomarkers for predicted Met or HER3-dependent proliferation. This work supports a central role for HER3 in *MET*-amplified cancers and provides rationale for further investigation of how HER3 contributes to oncogenesis in other RTK-dependent settings. HER3 is an important regulator of cancer-associated proliferation in cancers with EGFR- and HER2-dependent RTK activation, and we show that HER3 should be considered an important component of proliferative signaling downstream of Met as well. Increasing evidence suggests that combinatorial targeting of HER3 is critical for the potentiation of EGFR- and HER2-directed precision medicine, and our work adds to the evidence that Met-dependent resistance mechanisms may be suppressed by this as well.

CHAPTER 4: MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Antibodies and reagents

Antibody 148 was raised in rabbit against a C-terminal peptide of human Met (Rodrigues et al., 1991). Antibodies against phosphorylated Met at Tyr^{1234/1235}, HER2 at Tyr^{1221/1222}, HER3 at Tyr¹²⁸⁹, Src at Tyr⁴¹⁶, Akt at Ser⁴⁷³, Erk1/2 at Thr²⁰²/Tyr²⁰⁴, STAT3 at Tyr⁷⁰⁵, and generic tyrosine peptide (pY100), as well as total EGFR, HER2, HER3, pan-Akt, Erk1/2, and STAT3 were purchased from Cell Signaling Technologies. For experiments in which HER3 deletion constructs were included, total HER3 levels were measured using the HER3-1B2E antibody (Cell Signaling), which binds an epitope in the pseudokinase domain. In all other cases, HER3-XP total antibody (Cell Signaling), raised against an epitope in the HER3 C-tail, was used. Antibody against phosphorylated EGFR at Tyr¹¹⁷³ were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. Antibodies against M2-FLAG peptide, actin and tubulin were purchased from Sigma. Antibodies against V5 peptide and the 51-8 anti-thiophosphoester antibody were purchased from Abcam, while antibodies against MPZL3 were purchased from Thermo Fisher, while IRDye infrared secondary antibodies were purchased from Mandel Scientific.

PHA-665752 was used at 500 nM unless otherwise indicated and was a gift from Pfizer. Gefitinib and lapatinib, used at 1 mM, and dasatinib, used at 100 nM, were gifted by Dr. W. Muller. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was purchased from Sigma and used at a concentration of 1:1000 as a vehicle control. Crizotinib was purchased from LC Laboratories. HGF was a generous gift from Genentech. ATP, GTP, p-nitrobenzyl mesylate (PNBM), ATPγS and N6-modified ATPγS analogues were purchased from Sigma.

4.2 Cell cultures, transfections and lentiviral transduction

Malme-3M, Katolli, HCC70 and HCC1395 cells were obtained through ATCC. Malme-3M and Katolli cells were cultured in Iscove's Modified Dulbecco's Medium supplemented with 20% FBS, as suggested. HCC70 and HCC1395 cells were cultured in RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS, as suggested. OE33 cells were described previously (Grandal et al., 2017) and cultured in RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS and 2 mM L-glutamine (Thermo Fisher). HeLa, Snu5, Katoll, Okajima and MKN45 cells were cultured as described previously (Abella et al., 2010a; Lai et al., 2014; Lai et al., 2012). EBC1 were obtained through RIKEN BRC Cell Bank and H1993 cells were obtained from ATCC; these were cultured in MEM alpha or RPMI media, respectively, supplemented with 10% FBS (Thermo Fisher). SkBr3 cells were gifted by Dr. William Muller and were cultured in McCoy's 5A media supplemented with 10% FBS (Themo Fisher). The PDX GCRC1994 cell line was generated by Matthew Dankner, a student of Dr. Peter Siegel, by dissociation of an excised PDX grown subcutaneously and serial culture under fibroblast-depleting conditions. PDX GCRC1994 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS (Thermo Fisher). HEK293 and HEK293T cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS (Thermo Fisher).

Transfections of HEK293 cells for immunoprecipitation experiments was performed using polyethylenimine (Longo et al., 2013). Transfections of HEK293T cells for immunoprecipitation, transphosphorylation assays, kinase assays or viral production were performed by the calcium phosphate method. Lentiviral cultures for shRNA or transgene overexpression were collected as described at https://portals.broadinstitute.org/gpp/public/resources/protocols. Lentiviral transduction was followed by selection in puromycin (1-2 ug/ml) or blasticidin (2-10 ug/ml) for 3-14 days, and control cells were verified for negative selection prior to the start of each

experiment. For siRNA treatments, EBC1 cells were transfected using the HiPerfect reagent (Qiagen).

4.3 Gene expression constructs and RNAi

Met and EGFR were expressed from the pXM and pXER backbones, respectively, under control of the adeno-major late promoter and in the presence of an SV40 origin of replication for episomal amplification in HEK293T cells (Countaway et al., 1989; Rodrigues et al., 1991). Met Δ exon 14, tyrosine-to-phenylalanine and asparagine-to-histidine nonbinding mutants, and lysine 1110 alanine kinase-impaired mutants have been described previously (Fixman et al., 1995; Kamikura et al., 1996; Rodrigues and Park, 1994; Zhu et al., 1994). Met Leu1157Ala and Leu1157Gly substitutions were generated using the QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Agilent) (primer sequences in Table 4.1).

EBC1 cells were transfected in suspension using pooled siRNA at 50 nM and immediately seeded for proliferation and lysis, which was conducted after 72 hours. Allstars control siRNA was purchased from Qiagen. siGENOME SMARTpool pooled siRNA duplexes targeting *ERBB3* were purchased from Dharmacon (sequences in Table 4.2). Viral vectors for shRNA expression as well as empty-cassette plasmids used as vector controls were obtained from the Mission TRC library (Sigma) via the McGill Cellular Perturbation Services at McGill University (clone information in Table 4.3). Gateway entry vector for MPZL3, Gateway destination vectors pLX303, pLX304, and pLEX307 for mammalian cDNA overexpression, and pLX317 vector for GFP-V5 overexpression were obtained through the Mission TRC3 Orfeome collection via the McGill Cellular Perturbation Services. Gateway entry vector for ERBB3 was obtained through Addgene (pDONR223-ERBB3,

#23874) (Johannesen *et al.*, 2010). The Q5 site-directed mutagenesis kit (Qiagen) was used to generate IIe682Asn and Val924Arg point mutations and the short-tail and no-tail deletions in the HER3 entry vector prior to recombination (primer sequences in Table 4.1). These constructs were used to generate lentivirus for cell transduction. Split intein mediated protein ligation (SIMPL) Gateway destination vectors were generously gifted by the Stagljar laboratory at the University of Toronto. Recombined MPZL3- and HER3-SIMPL vectors were transfected for the SIMPL assay. Vector recombination was performed using the Gateway LR Clonase II enzyme kit (Thermo Fisher). Cys51Ala and Arg99Gln mutations were introduced using single-strand reactions followed by annealing and DpnI digestion (primer sequences in Table 4.1) (Edelheit et al., 2009).

4.4 Immunoprecipitation and Western blotting

Cells and were harvested for protein lysis in a Triton-glycerol-HEPES (TGH) buffer (50 mM HEPES, 150 mM sodium chloride, 15 mM magnesium chloride, 2 mM EGTA, 1% v/v Triton X-100 (Sigma), 10% v/v glycerol). Lysates were frozen, thawed and centrifuged at full speed in an Eppendorf microcentrifuge for 15 minutes and protein content was assessed by Bradford assay (Biorad). Cell lysate equivalent to 1 mg protein collected 36 hours post-transfection was diluted to 500 ml in TGH buffer for each immunoprecipitation reaction and precleared with 10 ul sepharose-protein G beads (GE Healthcare). Immunoprecipitation was performed overnight by incubation using antibody 148 against Met, anti-EGFR, HER2 or HER3 total antibody or anti-V5 antibody, followed by capture using sepharose-protein G beads. For nonspecific controls, rabbit or mouse IgG (Sigma) were used. Beads were washed three times in lysis buffer prior to analysis.

Table 4.1: Primers used for site-directed mutagenesis

Construct	Primers		
Met	forward	GCGAAGTGAAGGGTCTCCGCTGGTGGTCGCACCATACATGAAACATG	
Leu1157Ala		GAGATCTTCG	
	reverse	CGAAGATCTCCATGTTTCATGTATGGTGCGACCACCAGCGGAGACCCT	
		TCACTTCGC	
Met	forward	GCGAAGTGAAGGGTCTCCGCTGGTGGTCGGACCATACATGAAACATG	
Leu1157Gly		GAGATCTTCG	
	reverse	CGAAGATCTCCATGTTTCATGTATGGTCCGACCACCAGCGGAGACCCTT	
		CACTTCGC	
HER3	forward	CTTGGCCAGACAATTCAAAGAGACAGAGC	
lle682Gln	reverse	ACTTTGTTAGCCTTCTCAC	
HER3 Val924Arg	forward	CATGGTGATGCGCAAGTGTTGGATG	
	reverse	TAGACATCAATTGTGCAGATC	
HER3-short tail	forward	CCAACTTTCTTGTACAAAGTTGG	
	reverse	AGTCAGCAGACTGTGGCG	
(1111141°)	forward		
(Phe965*)	TOTWATU		
	reverse	GAACICATIGGCIAGTICITIAAAG	
MPZL3 Cys51Ala	forward	GGTTATGTTGGAGAAAAGATCAAGTTGAAAGCCACTTTCAAGTCAACT	
		TCAGATGTCAC	
	reverse	GTGACATCTGAAGTTGACTTGAAAGTGGCTTTCAACTTGATCTTTTCTC	
		CAACATAACC	
MPZL3	forward	CCACAGCAGGCACATTTCAGGATCGGATTTCCTGGGTTGG	
Arg99Gln	reverse	CCAACCCAGGAAATCCGATCCTGAAATGTGCCTGCTGTGG	

Table 4.2: Pooled HER3-targeting siRNA duplexes

Sequence (sense) GCAGUGGGAUUCGAGAAGUG AGAUUGUGCUCACGGGACA GUGGAUUCGAGAAGUGACA GCGAUGCUGAGAACCAAUA

Table 4.3: shRNA hairpins used	for HER3 and	MPZL3 depletion
--------------------------------	--------------	-----------------

shRNA	Clone number	Sequence
рЬКО	SHC001	
(vector)		
shCtl (non-	SHC002	CCGGCAACAAGATGAAGAGCACCAACTCGAGTTGGTGCTCTTCAT
targeting)		CTTGTTGTTTTTG
shHER3 A	TRCN000019	CCGGCTTCGTCATGTTGAACTATAACTCGAGTTATAGTTCAACATG
	4972	ACGAAGTTTTTTG
shHER3 B	TRCN000019	CCGGCCTGTGCATGTGCTCTTATTGCTCGAGCAATAAGAGCACAT
	9364	GCACAGGTTTTTTG
shMPZL3 A	TRCN000013	CCGGGCAGCCACACAGTATCAATATCTCGAGATATTGATACTGTG
	7252	TGGCTGCTTTTTTG
shMPZL3 B	TRCN000016	CCGGCCAGGGTGTTTATATCGTCTTCTCGAGAAGACGATATAAAC
	7937	ACCCTGGTTTTTTG
shMPZL3 C	TRCN000016	CCGGGAGATCATCAGTAAAGACTTTCTCGAGAAAGTCTTTACTGA
	7873	TGATCTCTTTTTG

Centrifuged whole cell lysate or proteins captured on sepharose beads were boiled for 5 minutes in Laemmli buffer. Samples were resolved using 8% or 12% SDS-PAGE (BioRad) or 4-12% gradient NuPAGE Protein Gel (Thermo Fisher). Proteins were transferred to Newblot PVDF membranes (Mandel Scientific), blocked in 3% bovine serum albumin in TBST or Odyssey Blocking Buffer (Licor) and incubated with primary antibodies diluted in Near Infra-Red Blocking Buffer (Rockland) overnight at 4° C. Membranes were washed in TBST and incubated with secondary antibodies diluted in a 1:1 TBST:Rockland blocking buffer for one hour, washed in TBST again, and scanned using a Odyssey scanning machine (Licor) or visualized using Western Lightning Plus ECL (Perkin Elmer).

4.5 Proliferation and colony-forming assays

Proliferation assays were performed in 96-well dishes with 4x10³ EBC1, H1993 or Katoll cells seeded per well with 18-24 replicates per condition. Proliferation was measured as a function of cell confluence by IncuCyte live-cell microscopy (Essen Biosciences). Soft agar assays were performed in 6-well dishes coated with a layer of bottom agar (6 mg/ml), with 1x10⁴ Katoll cells seeded in top agar (3.2 mg/ml). Cells were plated in duplicate per condition and fed every 4-5 days, with colonies counted after 23 days in culture. Quantification was performed from 4 biological replicates for soft agar assays. For 2D colony assays in adherent HeLa, SkBr3 and KatollI cells, 1x10⁴ cells were plated in duplicate in 6-well dishes and monitored for 14 days. Cells were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde and stained with 0.1% crystal violet in a 10% ethanol solution.

4.6 Subcutaneous xenograft experiments

For xenograft experiments testing HER3 depletion, 5x10⁵ (Katoll) or 1x10⁶ (H1993) cells were injected bilaterally into the flanks of immune-deficient NOD.Cg-Prkdc^{scid}ll2rg^{tm1Wjl/SzJ} mice (Jackson). Five mice were injected per condition. Tumours were detected by palpation and measured every 3 days. Animals injected with Katoll cells were sacrificed for ethical considerations at 13 days post-injection.

For xenograft experiments to test Katoll and Mkn45 cell growth in mice humanized for HGF, 1x10⁶ cells were injected bilaterally into the flanks of immune-deficient NOD.Cg-Prkdc^{scid}Il2rg^{tm1WjI/SzJ} mice (control) or NOD.Cg-Hgf^{tm1.1(HGF)Aveo}Prkdc^{scid}Il2rg^{tm1WjI/J} mice (HGF). Animals injected with Katoll cells were sacrificed for ethical considerations at 18 days post-injection. Tumours from

Mkn45 cells were resected at 18 days post-injection to monitor for distant metastases; none were observed.

Flash-frozen tumour samples removed at ethical endpoint were lysed using a TissueLyserII bead mill in TGH buffer. Haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining was performed on paraffin-embedded tumour sections by the Histology Innovation Platform of the Goodman Cancer Research Centre at McGill University.

4.7 Flow cytometry

EBC1, H1993 or Katoll cells selected for virally-transduced shRNA vectors (puromycin) were seeded in equal numbers and grown for 3 days before washing in PBS, followed analysis of cell surface annexin-V and cell permeability using the Annexin-V-FLUOS staining kit (Sigma). Flow cytometry was performed on live cells using a BD FACSCalibur cytometer at the McGill Life Sciences Complex Flow Cytometry Facility.

4.8 RNA sequencing

Katoll cells transduced with shHER3A, shHER3B or the pLKO empty vector were selected in puromycin and plated for experiments. Total RNA was extracted from 3 independent infections used to prepare replicates for soft agar and xenograft injection assay using the RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen). High RNA quality in all samples was verified using the Bioanalyzer RNA Nano 600 assay (Agilent). cDNA libraries were PCR-amplified and barcoded from 500 nanograms of RNA per sample, and pooled libraries were sequenced using the HiSeq4000 next-generation sequencing platform (Illumina) by the Centre d'Expertise et de Services at Génome Québec. The pooled libraries were sequenced with an average coverage of 3.3×10^7 reads per sample.

Fastp (version 0.19.4) was used to collect quality control metrics of the raw reads. RNA sequences were aligned and sorted by coordinates, to the NCBI human genome build 38 (GRCh38.p12) with version 94 of gene annotations, using the STAR aligner (STAR_2.6.1a_08-27) (Chen et al., 2018; Dobin et al., 2013). The removal of alignment duplicates was done with Sambamba (version 0.6.8) (Tarasov et al., 2015). Quantification of genes was performed using featureCounts (v1.6.3) (Liao et al., 2014). DESeq2 (v 1.20.0) was used to normalize feature counts and to test find the differentially expressed genes (Love et al., 2014). The HGNC symbols were extracted and added to the DESeq2 results data frame using biomaRt (version 2.36.1) using the "hsapiens_gene_ensembl" dataset and the "Ensembl Release 94 (October 2018)" mart (Durinck et al., 2005; Durinck et al., 2009). Gene expression was extrapolated from gene-normalized read counts.

4.9 Quantitative RT-PCR

RNA was isolated from three independently infected and selected lines of HER3-depleted or control EBC1 and H1993 cells or four independently-collected replicates of MPZL3-depleted or control Katoll cells using the RNeasy Plus Mini Kit (Qiagen). High RNA quality in all samples was verified using the Bioanalyzer RNA Nano 600 assay (Agilent). cDNA libraries were synthesized using the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche) from 400-1000 ng total RNA. qPCR reactions were performed using SYBR Green I Master on a LightCycler480 (Roche). Primers for qPCR were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies (primer sequences listed in Table 4.4). Gene expression was normalized to the geometric mean of three housekeeping genes, *RPLPO, HPRT* and *GAPDH*, using the delta-Ct method.

4.10 Immunofluorescence

Cells were seeded on glass coverslips, washed and fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde. Cells were permeablized with 0.1% Triton X-100 (Sigma), and coverslips were blocked using 2% BSA and incubated overnight with primary antibody at 4C in the presence of 2% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100 and 0.05% Tween-20 (Sigma). Coverslips were washed in Triton/Tween buffer, incubated for 45m at room temperature with secondary antibodies, washed further, and counterstained with DAPI. Images were acquired on an LSM800 microscope and analyzed using Zen software (Zeiss).

Gene	Primers			
ERBB3	forward	GGGGAGTCTTGCCAGGAG		
	reverse	CATTGGGTGTAGAGAGACTGGAC		
MPZL3	forward	ATTCCCATGACAGAGCTAACAG		
	reverse	GCACAAAGACAAGGATGGAAAG		
NYNRIN	forward	CTGAGCTGAGACCAGGATTAAG		
	reverse	GTTGGAGAGAATGTGGGTGTAG		
LGR6	forward	СТСТТСССТТТССТСТС		
	reverse	CTGAGTTTTGGTTGTATTTG		
BHLHE41	forward	AGAGGAAACGAACAGCAGTTGA		
	reverse	TAGGTATCCTTGGTGTCGTCTCG		
RAMP1	forward	TGGAGCCTTGGGACAGA		
	reverse	GGCTTCCAGGTTAATACCAGAG		
SPNS2	forward	CCATCTTCATCTGCCTGATCTT		
	reverse	CAGTGATGGCCCAGTTAGAAA		
PPM1K	forward	TTTCCAAACCAACAGGCAAAG		
	reverse	CCTCCCAAAGTGCTAGGATTAC		
RPLPO	forward	CTCAACATCTCCCCCTTCTC		
	reverse	GACTCGTTTGTACCCGTTGA		
GAPDH	forward	GCACCAGGTGGTCTCCTCT		
	reverse	TGACAAAGTGGTCGTTGAGG		
HPRT	forward	TGATAGATCCATTCCTATGACTGTAGA		
	reverse	CAAGACATTCTTTCCAGTTAAAGTTG		

Table 4.4: Primers used for qRT-PCR

4.11 Cell-surface biotinylation

To measure cell surface levels of HER3, Met and MPZL3-V5, surface proteins were biotinylated with EZ-link Sulfo-NHS-SS-biotin (Thermo Fisher) for 20 minutes at 37C. Cells were washed in HEPES-buffered saline prior to lysis and biotin enrichment using NeutrAvidin-agarose beads (Thermo Fisher). For measurement of internalized Met protein in the presence of HGF, cells were incubated in biotin-containing media for the times indicated at 37C, and remaining surface biotin was stripped on ice with reducing agent (100 mM sodium 2-mercaptoethanesulfonic acid in 50 mM Tris-HCl, 100 mM sodium chloride, 1 mM EDTA and 0.2% BSA) prior to lysis. Protein was eluted from NeutrAvidin-enriched samples in Laemmli buffer and was analyzed by Western blot.

4.12 SILAC labeling

SILAC labeling of Katoll cells was accomplished by serial passage in lysine- and arginine-free RPMI medium (Thermo Fisher) supplemented with 10% dialyzed FBS (Wisent), 0.87 mM proline (Sigma), 0.64 mM light (Lys), medium (Lys-4D:2HCl) or heavy (Lys-8:HCl) lysine (Silantes) and 0.38 mM light (Arg), medium (Arg-6:HCl) or heavy (Arg-10:HCl) arginine (Silantes). Cells were continuously cultured in media containing only light, medium or heavy lysine and arginine for 6 passages. Cells cultured in media containing equimolar mixtures of light, medium and heavy amino acids were grown as controls. Amino acid incorporation was measured by one-dimensional LC-MS/MS using a QExactive BioPharma mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher) by our collaborators at the Université de Montréal.

4.13 Phosphoproteomic profiling

SILAC-labeled Katoll cells were washed in PBS after treatment, and cell pellets (4x10⁸ cells) were flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. Protein extraction, tryptic digestion, phosphoprotein enrichment and mass spectrometry were performed by our collaborators at the Université de Montréal. Cell pellets were lysed in 8M urea in the presence of tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine and chloroacetamide and trypsinized overnight. Tyrosine-phosphorylated tryptic peptides were enriched using the PTMscan PhosphoTyrosine Rabbit mAb kit (Cell Signaling Technologies) or by titanium dioxide as described previously (Kanshin et al., 2013). Enriched phosphopeptide extracts were analyzed using a QExactive BioPharma mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher). Mass spectrometry data was processed using MaxQuant and searched against the SwissProt set of *H. sapiens* uniprot database (<u>http://uniprot.org/</u>). Known protein interactions were identified among genes with Met-dependent phosphosites using the STRING database (version 11.0) (<u>http://string-db.org/</u>) (Szklarczyk et al., 2019a). Gene ontology analysis by biological process was performed using the PANTHER classification system (version 14.0) (Mi et al., 2019).

4.14 Substrate-labeling kinase assays

For *in vitro* kinase assays, HEK293T cells transfected with Met variants were lysed and full-length Met protein was immunoprecipitated from 5 mg total protein in TGH buffer. Immunoenriched proteins were washed twice in detergent-containing lysis buffer and twice in HEPES-buffered saline. Sepharose beads were resuspended in kinase buffer (20 mM HEPES, 150 mM sodium chloride, 10 mM magnesium chloride), supplemented with ATP, ATPγS, or N6-modified ATPγS analogues, and incubated at 37C for 20 minutes. Kinase assays were supplemented with DMSO or alkylated by addition of PNBM at room temperature for one hour prior to elution in Laemmli buffer and analysis by Western blot.

For in-cell substrate labeling, HEK293T cells expressing Met or Met Leu1157Ala were washed in kinase buffer (100 mM potassium acetate, 20 mM HEPES, 5 mM sodium acetate, 1 mM magnesium acetate, 0.5 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM magnesium chloride, 5 mM β -glycerophosphate) and then incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature in kinase buffer supplemented with 5 mM GTP, 0.5 mM dithiothreitol, 30 µg/ml digitonin, 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 5 mM sodium fluoride, 1 mM phenylmethane sulfonate, 10 µg/ml aprotinin and leupeptin, and 0.1 mM ATP γ S or N6-modified ATP γ S analogue. Cells were lysed by addition of an equal volume of 2X TGH buffer (100 mM HEPES, 300 mM sodium chloride, 2% Triton X-100, 20% v/v glycerol, 4 mM EGTA, 30 mM magnesium chloride).

4.15 Statistical Analysis

Quantitative data for Western blot analysis, qRT-PCR, colony-forming assays and cell confluence are presented as the means \pm SEM. Statistical significance was assessed using a two-tailed Student's *t* test, and ordinary one-way ANOVA using Prism software. Significance is as follows: p > 0.05, not significant (ns); *p \leq 0.05; **p \leq 0.01; ***p \leq 0.001; ****p \leq 0.0001. In general, data distribution was assumed to be normal but this was not formally tested. For measurements of median MPZL3 expression in RTK-amplified cell lines using CCLE data, a non-parametric test was used as a normal distribution of data was not assumed. P-values and the number of experiments used for quantification and statistical analysis are indicated in the corresponding figure legends. For gene expression experiments using qRT-PCR, statistics were corrected for multiple

comparisons using the two-stage step-up method of Benjamini, Krieger and Yekutieli (Benjamini et al., 2006). In experiments with defined controls, multiple comparisons were corrected using Dunnet's method of statistical hypothesis testing (Dunnett, 1955). For MPZL3 expression in CCLE data, multiple comparisons were corrected using Tukey's range test (Tukey, 1949).

CHAPTER 5: REFERENCES
(1998). Monoclonal antibody approved for metastatic breast cancer. Oncology (Williston Park) *12*, 1727.

(2001). FDA approves Gleevec for leukemia treatment. FDA Consum 35, 6.

Abd Halim, K.B., Koldsø, H., and Sansom, M.S.P. (2015). Interactions of the EGFR juxtamembrane domain with PIP2-containing lipid bilayers: Insights from multiscale molecular dynamics simulations. *1850*, 1017-1025.

Abella, J.V., Parachoniak, C.A., Sangwan, V., and Park, M. (2010a). Dorsal ruffle microdomains potentiate Met receptor tyrosine kinase signaling and down-regulation. J Biol Chem *285*, 24956-24967.

Abella, J.V., Peschard, P., Naujokas, M.A., Lin, T., Saucier, C., Urbe, S., and Park, M. (2005). Met/Hepatocyte Growth Factor Receptor Ubiquitination Suppresses Transformation and Is Required for Hrs Phosphorylation. *25*, 9632-9645.

Abella, J.V., Vaillancourt, R., Frigault, M.M., Ponzo, M.G., Zuo, D., Sangwan, V., Larose, L., and Park, M. (2010b). The Gab1 scaffold regulates RTK-dependent dorsal ruffle formation through the adaptor Nck. Journal of Cell Science *123*, 1306-1319.

Abounader, R., Lal, B., Luddy, C., Koe, G., Davidson, B., Rosen, E.M., and Laterra, J. (2002). In vivo targeting of SF/HGF and c-met expression via U1snRNA/ribozymes inhibits glioma growth and angiogenesis and promotes apoptosis. FASEB J *16*, 108-110.

Accili, D., Drago, J., Lee, E.J., Johnson, M.D., Cool, M.H., Salvatore, P., Asico, L.D., José, P.A., Taylor, S.I., and Westphal, H. (1996). Early neonatal death in mice homozygous for a null allele of the insulin receptor gene. *12*, 106-109.

Ahn, H.K., Kim, S., Kwon, D., Koh, J., Kim, Y.A., Kim, K., Chung, D.H., and Jeon, Y.K. (2019). MET Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Regulates the Expression of Co-Stimulatory and Co-Inhibitory Molecules in Tumor Cells and Contributes to PD-L1-Mediated Suppression of Immune Cell Function. International Journal of Molecular Sciences *20*, 4287.

Ahn, S.Y., Kim, J., Kim, M.A., Choi, J., and Kim, W.H. (2017). Increased HGF Expression Induces Resistance to c-MET Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Gastric Cancer. Anticancer Res *37*, 1127-1138. Akalu, Y.T., Rothlin, C.V., and Ghosh, S. (2017). TAM receptor tyrosine kinases as emerging targets of innate immune checkpoint blockade for cancer therapy. Immunol Rev *276*, 165-177. Alexandropoulos, K., and Baltimore, D. (1996). Coordinate activation of c-Src by SH3- and SH2binding sites on a novel p130Cas-related protein, Sin. *10*, 1341-1355.

Ali, N.A., Wu, J., Hochgräfe, F., Chan, H., Nair, R., Ye, S., Zhang, L., Lyons, R.J., Pinese, M., Lee, H.C., *et al.* (2014). Profiling the tyrosine phosphoproteome of different mouse mammary tumour models reveals distinct, model-specific signalling networks and conserved oncogenic pathways. *16*.

Alimandi, M., Romano, A., Curia, M.C., Muraro, R., Fedi, P., Aaronson, S.A., Di Fiore, P.P., and Kraus, M.H. (1995). Cooperative signaling of ErbB3 and ErbB2 in neoplastic transformation and human mammary carcinomas. Oncogene *10*, 1813-1821.

Alto, L.T., and Terman, J.R. (2017). Semaphorins and their Signaling Mechanisms. (Springer New York), pp. 1-25.

Amit, I., Citri, A., Shay, T., Lu, Y., Katz, M., Zhang, F., Tarcic, G., Siwak, D., Lahad, J., Jacob-Hirsch, J., *et al.* (2007). A module of negative feedback regulators defines growth factor signaling. Nature Genetics *39*, 503-512.

Annerén, C., and Welsh, M. (2002). GTK Tyrosine Kinase-induced Alteration of IRS-protein Signalling in Insulin Producing Cells. Molecular Medicine *8*, 705-713.

Apicella, M., Giannoni, E., Fiore, S., Ferrari, K.J., Fernández-Pérez, D., Isella, C., Granchi, C., Minutolo, F., Sottile, A., Comoglio, P.M., *et al.* (2018). Increased Lactate Secretion by Cancer Cells Sustains Non-cell-autonomous Adaptive Resistance to MET and EGFR Targeted Therapies. Cell Metabolism *28*, 848-865.e846.

Appert-Collin, A., Hubert, P., Crémel, G., and Bennasroune, A. (2015). Role of ErbB Receptors in Cancer Cell Migration and Invasion. Front Pharmacol *6*, 283-283.

Arkhipov, A., Shan, Y., Das, R., Nicholas, Michael, David, Kuriyan, J., and David (2013). Architecture and Membrane Interactions of the EGF Receptor. Cell *152*, 557-569.

Asaoka, Y., Tada, M., Ikenoue, T., Seto, M., Imai, M., Miyabayashi, K., Yamamoto, K., Yamamoto, S., Kudo, Y., Mohri, D., *et al.* (2010). Gastric cancer cell line Hs746T harbors a splice site mutation of c-Met causing juxtamembrane domain deletion. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *394*, 1042-1046.

Avruch, J., Alexander, M.C., Palmer, J.L., Pierce, M.W., Nemenoff, R.A., Blackshear, P.J., Tipper, J.P., and Witters, L.A. (1982a). Role of insulin-stimulated protein phosphorylation in insulin action. Fed Proc *41*, 2629-2633.

Avruch, J., Nemenoff, R.A., Blackshear, P.J., Pierce, M.W., and Osathanondh, R. (1982b). Insulinstimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor in detergent extracts of human placental membranes. Comparison to epidermal growth factor-stimulated phosphorylation. J Biol Chem *257*, 15162-15166.

Awad, M.M., Oxnard, G.R., Jackman, D.M., Savukoski, D.O., Hall, D., Shivdasani, P., Heng, J.C., Dahlberg, S.E., Jänne, P.A., Verma, S., *et al.* (2016). MET Exon 14 Mutations in Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer Are Associated With Advanced Age and Stage-Dependent MET Genomic Amplification and c-Met Overexpression. Journal of Clinical Oncology *34*, 721-730. Bachleitner-Hofmann, T., Sun, M.Y., Chen, C.T., Tang, L., Song, L., Zeng, Z., Shah, M.,

Christensen, J.G., Rosen, N., Solit, D.B., *et al.* (2008). HER kinase activation confers resistance to MET tyrosine kinase inhibition in MET oncogene-addicted gastric cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther *7*, 3499-3508.

Bagnato, G., Leopizzi, M., Urciuoli, E., and Peruzzi, B. (2020). Nuclear Functions of the Tyrosine Kinase Src. International Journal of Molecular Sciences *21*, 2675.

Ballotti, R., Lammers, R., Scimeca, J.C., Dull, T., Schlessinger, J., Ullrich, A., and Van Obberghen, E. (1989). Intermolecular transphosphorylation between insulin receptors and EGF-insulin receptor chimerae. The EMBO Journal *8*, 3303-3309.

Baltschukat, S., Engstler, B.S., Huang, A., Hao, H.-X., Tam, A., Wang, H.Q., Liang, J., Dimare, M.T., Bhang, H.-E.C., Wang, Y., *et al.* (2019). Capmatinib (INC280) Is Active Against Models of Non– Small Cell Lung Cancer and Other Cancer Types with Defined Mechanisms of MET Activation. Clinical Cancer Research *25*, 3164-3175.

Barford, D., and Neel, B.G. (1998). Revealing mechanisms for SH2 domain mediated regulation of the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2. Structure *6*, 249-254.

Bargmann, C.I., Hung, M.C., and Weinberg, R.A. (1986). Multiple independent activations of the neu oncogene by a point mutation altering the transmembrane domain of p185. Cell *45*, 649-657.

Barsam, A.S., Wang, Y., Reyes-Capo, A., Urbieta, M., Mitchell, H., Cao Wikramanayake, T., and Perez, V.L. (2015). Functional consequences of Mpzl3 knockout in the ocular surface of mice. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science *56*, 4035-4035.

Basilico, C., Arnesano, A., Galluzzo, M., Comoglio, P.M., and Michieli, P. (2008). A High Affinity Hepatocyte Growth Factor-binding Site in the Immunoglobulin-like Region of Met. Journal of Biological Chemistry *283*, 21267-21277.

Beemon, K., and Hunter, T. (1977). In vitro translation yields a possible Rous sarcoma virus src gene product. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *74*, 3302-3306.

Beigbeder, A., Chartier, F.J.M., and Bisson, N. (2017). MPZL1 forms a signalling complex with GRB2 adaptor and PTPN11 phosphatase in HER2-positive breast cancer cells. Scientific Reports 7.

Benjamini, Y., Krieger, A.M., and Yekutieli, D. (2006). Adaptive linear step-up procedures that control the false discovery rate. Biometrika *93*, 491-507.

Benvenuti, S., Lazzari, L., Arnesano, A., Li Chiavi, G., Gentile, A., and Comoglio, P.M. (2011). Ron Kinase Transphosphorylation Sustains MET Oncogene Addiction. Cancer Research *71*, 1945-1955.

Bernstein, A., Chabot, B., Dubreuil, P., Reith, A., Nocka, K., Majumder, S., Ray, P., and Besmer, P. (1990). The mouse W/c-kit locus. Ciba Found Symp *148*, 158-166; discussion 166-172.

Bhaduri, A., Ungewickell, A., Boxer, L.D., Lopez-Pajares, V., Zarnegar, B.J., and Khavari, P.A. (2015). Network Analysis Identifies Mitochondrial Regulation of Epidermal Differentiation by MPZL3 and FDXR. Dev Cell *35*, 444-457.

Bishop, A.C., Shah, K., Liu, Y., Witucki, L., Kung, C.-Y., and Shokat, K.M. (1998). Design of allelespecific inhibitors to probe protein kinase signaling. Current Biology *8*, 257-266.

Bishop, J.M. (1983). Cellular oncogenes and retroviruses. Annu Rev Biochem *52*, 301-354. Bladt, F., Riethmacher, D., Isenmann, S., Aguzzi, A., and Birchmeier, C. (1995). Essential role for the c-met receptor in the migration of myogenic precursor cells into the limb bud. Nature *376*, 768-771.

Boccaccio, C., Ando, M., Tamagnone, L., Bardelli, A., Michieli, P., Battistini, C., and Comoglio, P.M. (1998). Induction of epithelial tubules by growth factor HGF depends on the STAT pathway. Nature *391*, 285-288.

Borowiak, M., Garratt, A.N., Wustefeld, T., Strehle, M., Trautwein, C., and Birchmeier, C. (2004). Met provides essential signals for liver regeneration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *101*, 10608-10613.

Bottaro, D., Rubin, J., Faletto, D., Chan, A., Kmiecik, T., Vande Woude, G., and Aaronson, S. (1991). Identification of the hepatocyte growth factor receptor as the c-met proto-oncogene product. *251*, 802-804.

Boyle, T.A., Khalil, F.K., Mino-Kenudson, M., Sica, G.L., Moreira, A.L., Sholl, L.M., Knight, M.Z., Zhang, L., Saller, J., Varella-Garcia, M., *et al.* (2019). Round Robin Evaluation of MET Protein Expression in Lung Adenocarcinomas Improves Interobserver Concordance. Applied Immunohistochemistry & Molecular Morphology, 1.

Brockhoff, G., Heiß, P., Schlegel, J., Hofstaedter, F., and Knuechel, R. (2001). Epidermal growth factor receptor, c-erbB2 and c-erbB3 receptor interaction, and related cell cycle kinetics of SK-BR-3 and BT474 breast carcinoma cells. *44*, 338-348.

Brugge, J.S., and Erikson, R.L. (1977). Identification of a transformation-specific antigen induced by an avian sarcoma virus. Nature *269*, 346-348.

Brunet, F.G., Volff, J.-N., and Schartl, M. (2016). Whole Genome Duplications Shaped the Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Repertoire of Jawed Vertebrates. *8*, 1600-1613.

Burke, J.E., and Williams, R.L. (2013). Dynamic steps in receptor tyrosine kinase mediated activation of class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3K) captured by H/D exchange (HDX-MS). *53*, 97-110.

Cabail, M.Z., Li, S., Lemmon, E., Bowen, M.E., Hubbard, S.R., and Miller, W.T. (2015). The insulin and IGF1 receptor kinase domains are functional dimers in the activated state. *6*, 6406.

Camidge, D.R., Bang, Y.-J., Kwak, E.L., Iafrate, A.J., Varella-Garcia, M., Fox, S.B., Riely, G.J., Solomon, B., Ou, S.-H.I., Kim, D.-W., *et al.* (2012). Activity and safety of crizotinib in patients with ALK-positive non-small-cell lung cancer: updated results from a phase 1 study. The Lancet Oncology *13*, 1011-1019.

Camidge, D.R., Janku, F., Bueno, A.M., Catenacci, D.V.T., Lee, J., Lee, S., Chung, H.C., Dowlati, A., Rohrberg, K.S., Font, E.F., *et al.* (2019). A phase 1a/2a trial of Sym015 - a Met antibody mixture - in patients with advanced solid tumors. In ESMO 2019 Congress (ESMO).

Camidge, D.R., Ou, S.-H.I., Shapiro, G., Otterson, G.A., Villaruz, L.C., Villalona-Calero, M.A., Iafrate, A.J., Varella-Garcia, M., Dacic, S., Cardarella, S., *et al.* (2014). Efficacy and safety of crizotinib in patients with advanced c-MET-amplified non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Journal of Clinical Oncology *32*, 8001-8001.

Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N. (2014a). Comprehensive molecular characterization of gastric adenocarcinoma. Nature *513*, 202-209.

Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N. (2014b). Comprehensive molecular profiling of lung adenocarcinoma. Nature *511*, 543-550.

Cantley, L.C., and Songyang, Z. (1994). **Specificity in recognition of phosphopeptides by src-homology 2 domains**. J Cell Sci Suppl *18*, 121-126.

Cao, T., Racz, P., Szauter, K.M., Groma, G., Nakamatsu, G.Y., Fogelgren, B., Pankotai, E., He, Q.P., and Csiszar, K. (2007). Mutation in Mpzl3, a novel [corrected] gene encoding a predicted [corrected] adhesion protein, in the rough coat (rc) mice with severe skin and hair abnormalities. J Invest Dermatol *127*, 1375-1386.

Caparica, R., Yen, C.T., Coudry, R., Ou, S.-H.I., Varella-Garcia, M., Camidge, D.R., and De Castro, G. (2017). Responses to Crizotinib Can Occur in High-Level MET -Amplified Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer Independent of MET Exon 14 Alterations. Journal of Thoracic Oncology *12*, 141-144. Carpenter, T.O., Whyte, M.P., Imel, E.A., Boot, A.M., Högler, W., Linglart, A., Padidela, R., Van'T Hoff, W., Mao, M., Chen, C.-Y., *et al.* (2018). Burosumab Therapy in Children with X-Linked Hypophosphatemia. New England Journal of Medicine *378*, 1987-1998.

Catenacci, D.V.T., Liao, W.-L., Thyparambil, S., Henderson, L., Xu, P., Zhao, L., Rambo, B., Hart, J., Xiao, S.-Y., Bengali, K., *et al.* (2014). Absolute Quantitation of Met Using Mass Spectrometry for Clinical Application: Assay Precision, Stability, and Correlation with MET Gene Amplification in FFPE Tumor Tissue. *9*, e100586.

Catenacci, D.V.T., Tebbutt, N.C., Davidenko, I., Murad, A.M., Al-Batran, S.-E., Ilson, D.H., Tjulandin, S., Gotovkin, E., Karaszewska, B., Bondarenko, I., *et al.* (2017). Rilotumumab plus epirubicin, cisplatin, and capecitabine as first-line therapy in advanced MET-positive gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer (RILOMET-1): a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. The Lancet Oncology *18*, 1467-1482.

Cepero, V., Sierra, J.R., Corso, S., Ghiso, E., Casorzo, L., Perera, T., Comoglio, P.M., and Giordano, S. (2010). MET and KRAS Gene Amplification Mediates Acquired Resistance to MET Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors. Cancer Research *70*, 7580-7590.

Chabot, B., Stephenson, D.A., Chapman, V.M., Besmer, P., and Bernstein, A. (1988). The protooncogene c-kit encoding a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor maps to the mouse W locus. Nature *335*, 88-89.

Chan, P.-C., Chen, Y.-L., Cheng, C.-H., Yu, K.-C., Cary, L.A., Shu, K.-H., Ho, W.L., and Chen, H.-C. (2003). Src Phosphorylates Grb2-associated Binder 1 upon Hepatocyte Growth Factor Stimulation. Journal of Biological Chemistry *278*, 44075-44082.

Chan, P.C., Sudhakar, J.N., Lai, C.C., and Chen, H.C. (2010). Differential phosphorylation of the docking protein Gab1 by c-Src and the hepatocyte growth factor receptor regulates different aspects of cell functions. Oncogene *29*, 698-710.

Chang, E.H., Furth, M.E., Scolnick, E.M., and Lowy, D.R. (1982). Tumorigenic transformation of mammalian cells induced by a normal human gene homologous to the oncogene of Harvey murine sarcoma virus. *297*, 479-483.

Chardin, P., Camonis, J., Gale, N., Van Aelst, L., Schlessinger, J., Wigler, M., and Bar-Sagi, D. (1993). Human Sos1: a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Ras that binds to GRB2. Science *260*, 1338-1343.

Chen, D., Cao, L., and Wang, X. (2019a). MPZL1 promotes tumor cell proliferation and migration via activation of Src kinase in ovarian cancer. Oncology Reports.

Chen, D.-Q., Shen, X.-B., Zhang, S.-H., Ye, G.-Y., and Xu, S.-H. (2019b). Malignant Arrhythmia with Variants of Desmocollin-2 and Desmoplakin Genes. International Heart Journal *60*, 1196-1200.

Chen, J., Song, W., and Amato, K. (2015). Eph receptor tyrosine kinases in cancer stem cells. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev *26*, 1-6.

Chen, S., Zhou, Y., Chen, Y., and Gu, J. (2018). fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. Bioinformatics *34*, i884-i890.

Christensen, J.G., Schreck, R., Burrows, J., Kuruganti, P., Chan, E., Le, P., Chen, J., Wang, X., Ruslim, L., Blake, R., *et al.* (2003). A selective small molecule inhibitor of c-Met kinase inhibits c-Met-dependent phenotypes in vitro and exhibits cytoreductive antitumor activity in vivo. Cancer Res *63*, 7345-7355.

Christensen, J.G., Zou, H.Y., Arango, M.E., Li, Q., Lee, J.H., McDonnell, S.R., Yamazaki, S., Alton, G.R., Mroczkowski, B., and Los, G. (2007). Cytoreductive antitumor activity of PF-2341066, a novel inhibitor of anaplastic lymphoma kinase and c-Met, in experimental models of anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics *6*, 3314-3322.

Cohen, M.H. (2002). GleevecTM for the Treatment of Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia: U.S. Food and Drug Administration Regulatory Mechanisms, Accelerated Approval, and Orphan Drug Status. *7*, 390-392.

Cohen, S. (2008). Origins of Growth Factors: NGF and EGF. Journal of Biological Chemistry *283*, 33793-33797.

Collett, M.S., and Erikson, R.L. (1978). Protein kinase activity associated with the avian sarcoma virus src gene product. PNAS.

Cooper, C.S., Blair, D.G., Oskarsson, M.K., Tainsky, M.A., Eader, L.A., and Vande Woude, G.F. (1984a). Characterization of human transforming genes from chemically transformed, teratocarcinoma, and pancreatic carcinoma cell lines. Cancer Res *44*, 1-10.

Cooper, C.S., Park, M., Blair, D.G., Tainsky, M.A., Huebner, K., Croce, C.M., and Vande Woude, G.F. (1984b). Molecular cloning of a new transforming gene from a chemically transformed human cell line. Nature *311*, 29-33.

Cooper, C.S., Tempest, P.R., Beckman, M.P., Heldin, C.H., and Brookes, P. (1986). Amplification and overexpression of the met gene in spontaneously transformed NIH3T3 mouse fibroblasts. The EMBO journal *5*, 2623-2628.

Copps, K.D., and White, M.F. (2012). Regulation of insulin sensitivity by serine/threonine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate proteins IRS1 and IRS2. Diabetologia *55*, 2565-2582.

Cordon-Cardo, C., Tapley, P., Jing, S., Nanduri, V., O'Rourke, E., Lamballe, F., Kovary, K., Klein, R., Jones, K.R., Reichardt, L.F., *et al.* (1991). The trk tyrosine protein kinase mediates the mitogenic properties of nerve growth factor and neurotrophin-3. Cell *66*, 173-183.

Cortner, J., Vande Woude, G.F., and Rong, S. (1995). The Met-HGF/SF autocrine signaling mechanism is involved in sarcomagenesis. EXS *74*, 89-121.

Countaway, J.L., Northwood, I.C., and Davis, R.J. (1989). Mechanism of phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor at threonine 669. The Journal of biological chemistry *264*, 10828-10835.

Courtneidge, S.A. (1986). Transformation by polyoma virus middle T antigen. Cancer Surv *5*, 173-182.

Courtneidge, S.A., and Smith, A.E. (1983). Polyoma virus transforming protein associates with the product of the c-src cellular gene. *303*, 435-439.

D'Arcangelo, M., and Cappuzzo, F. (2013). Focus on the potential role of ficlatuzumab in the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer. 61.

Daudigeos-Dubus, E., Le Dret, L., Bawa, O., Opolon, P., Vievard, A., Villa, I., Bosq, J., Vassal, G., and Geoerger, B. (2017). Dual inhibition using cabozantinib overcomes HGF/MET signaling mediated resistance to pan-VEGFR inhibition in orthotopic and metastatic neuroblastoma tumors. Int J Oncol *50*, 203-211.

Davis, M.I., Hunt, J.P., Herrgard, S., Ciceri, P., Wodicka, L.M., Pallares, G., Hocker, M., Treiber, D.K., and Zarrinkar, P.P. (2011). Comprehensive analysis of kinase inhibitor selectivity. Nat Biotechnol *29*, 1046-1051.

Day, A.L., Gutiérrez, O.M., Guthrie, B.L., and Saag, K.G. (2020). Burosumab in tumor-induced osteomalacia: A case report. Joint Bone Spine *87*, 81-83.

Di Fiore, P.P., Pierce, J.H., Kraus, M.H., Segatto, O., King, C.R., and Aaronson, S.A. (1987). erbB-2 is a potent oncogene when overexpressed in NIH/3T3 cells. Science *237*, 178-182.

Di Renzo, M.F., Olivero, M., Ferro, S., Prat, M., Bongarzone, I., Pilotti, S., Belfiore, A., Costantino, A., Vigneri, R., Pierotti, M.A., *et al.* (1992). Overexpression of the c-MET/HGF receptor gene in human thyroid carcinomas. Oncogene *7*, 2549-2553.

Di Renzo, M.F., Olivero, M., Giacomini, A., Porte, H., Chastre, E., Mirossay, L., Nordlinger, B., Bretti, S., Bottardi, S., Giordano, S., *et al.* (1995). Overexpression and amplification of the met/HGF receptor gene during the progression of colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res *1*, 147-154. Di Renzo, M.F., Olivero, M., Martone, T., Maffe, A., Maggiora, P., De Stefani, A., Valente, G., Giordano, S., Cortesina, G., and Comoglio, P.M. (2000). Somatic mutations of the MET oncogene are selected during metastatic spread of human HNSC carcinomas. Oncogene *19*, 1547-1555. Dobin, A., Davis, C.A., Schlesinger, F., Drenkow, J., Zaleski, C., Jha, S., Batut, P., Chaisson, M., and Gingeras, T.R. (2013). STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. Bioinformatics *29*, 15-21. Doolittle, R.F., Hunkapiller, M.W., Hood, L.E., Devare, S.G., Robbins, K.C., Aaronson, S.A., and Antoniades, H.N. (1983). Simian sarcoma virus onc gene, v-sis, is derived from the gene (or genes) encoding a platelet-derived growth factor. Science *221*, 275-277.

Downward, J., Yarden, Y., Mayes, E., Scrace, G., Totty, N., Stockwell, P., Ullrich, A., Schlessinger, J., and Waterfield, M.D. (1984). Close similarity of epidermal growth factor receptor and v-erb-B oncogene protein sequences. Nature *307*, 521-527.

Drilon, A.E., Camidge, D.R., Ou, S.-H.I., Clark, J.W., Socinski, M.A., Weiss, J., Riely, G.J., Winter, M., Wang, S.C., Monti, K., *et al.* (2016). Efficacy and safety of crizotinib in patients (pts) with advanced MET exon 14-altered non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Journal of Clinical Oncology *34*, 108-108.

Druker, B.J., and Lydon, N.B. (2000). Lessons learned from the development of an Abl tyrosine kinase inhibitor for chronic myelogenous leukemia. Journal of Clinical Investigation *105*, 3-7. Du, Z., and Lovly, C.M. (2018). Mechanisms of receptor tyrosine kinase activation in cancer. Mol Cancer *17*, 58.

Dulak, A.M., Gubish, C.T., Stabile, L.P., Henry, C., and Siegfried, J.M. (2011). HGF-independent potentiation of EGFR action by c-Met. Oncogene *30*, 3625-3635.

Dunnett, C.W. (1955). A Multiple Comparison Procedure for Comparing Several Treatments with a Control. *50*, 1096-1121.

Durinck, S., Moreau, Y., Kasprzyk, A., Davis, S., De Moor, B., Brazma, A., and Huber, W. (2005). BioMart and Bioconductor: a powerful link between biological databases and microarray data analysis. Bioinformatics *21*, 3439-3440.

Durinck, S., Spellman, P.T., Birney, E., and Huber, W. (2009). Mapping identifiers for the integration of genomic datasets with the R/Bioconductor package biomaRt. Nat Protoc *4*, 1184-1191.

Ebens, A., Brose, K., Leonardo, E.D., Jr, M.G.H., Bladt, F., Birchmeier, C., Barres, B.A., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (1996). Hepatocyte Growth Factor/Scatter Factor Is an Axonal

Chemoattractant and a Neurotrophic Factor for Spinal Motor Neurons. 17, 1157-1172.

Ebina, Y., Ellis, L., Jarnagin, K., Edery, M., Graf, L., Clauser, E., Ou, J.-H., Masiarz, F., Kan, Y.W., Goldfine, I.D., *et al.* (1985). The human insulin receptor cDNA: The structural basis for hormone-activated transmembrane signalling. *40*, 747-758.

Eckhart, W., Hutchinson, M.A., and Hunter, T. (1979). An activity phosphorylating tyrosine in polyoma T antigen immunoprecipitates. Cell *18*, 925-933.

Edelheit, O., Hanukoglu, A., and Hanukoglu, I. (2009). Simple and efficient site-directed mutagenesis using two single-primer reactions in parallel to generate mutants for protein structure-function studies. BMC Biotechnology *9*, 61.

Egan, S.E., Giddings, B.W., Brooks, M.W., Buday, L., Sizeland, A.M., and Weinberg, R.A. (1993). Association of Sos Ras exchange protein with Grb2 is implicated in tyrosine kinase signal transduction and transformation. *363*, 45-51. Emdal, K.B., Pedersen, A.-K., Bekker-Jensen, D.B., Lundby, A., Claeys, S., De Preter, K., Speleman, F., Francavilla, C., and Olsen, J.V. (2018). Integrated proximal proteomics reveals IRS2 as a determinant of cell survival in ALK-driven neuroblastoma. Science Signaling *11*, eaap9752.

Engelman, J.A., Zejnullahu, K., Mitsudomi, T., Song, Y., Hyland, C., Park, J.O., Lindeman, N., Gale, C.M., Zhao, X., Christensen, J., *et al.* (2007). MET amplification leads to gefitinib resistance in lung cancer by activating ERBB3 signaling. Science *316*, 1039-1043.

Erikson, R.L., Collett, M.S., Erikson, E., Purchio, A.F., and Brugge, J.S. (1980). Transforming gene product of avian sarcoma viruses and its homolog in uninfected cells. Prog Clin Biol Res *41*, 747-756.

Fan, S., Ma, Y.X., Gao, M., Yuan, R.Q., Meng, Q., Goldberg, I.D., and Rosen, E.M. (2001). The Multisubstrate Adapter Gab1 Regulates Hepatocyte Growth Factor (Scatter Factor)-c-Met Signaling for Cell Survival and DNA Repair. *21*, 4968-4984.

Fathers, K.E., Bell, E.S., Rajadurai, C.V., Cory, S., Zhao, H., Mourskaia, A., Zuo, D., Madore, J., Monast, A., Mes-Masson, A.-M., *et al.* (2012). Crk adaptor proteins act as key signaling

integrators for breast tumorigenesis. Breast Cancer Research 14, R74.

Favera, R.D., Gelmann, E.P., Gallo, R.C., and Wong-Staal, F. (1981). A human onc gene

homologous to the transforming gene (v-sis) of simian sarcoma virus. 292, 31-35.

FDA (2004a). AVASTIN (bevacizumab). FDA, ed. (accessdata.fda.gov).

FDA (2004b). ERBITUX (cetuximab). FDA, ed. (accessdata.fda.gov, FDA).

FDA (2011). XALKORI (crizotinib). FDA, ed. (access.fda.gov).

FDA (2014). CYRAMZA (ramucirumab). FDA, ed. (access.fda.gov).

FDA (2016). LARTRUVO (olaratumab). FDA, ed. (access.fda.gov).

Filippakopoulos, P., Müller, S., and Knapp, S. (2009). SH2 domains: modulators of nonreceptor tyrosine kinase activity. Current Opinion in Structural Biology *19*, 643-649.

Finisguerra, V., Di Conza, G., Di Matteo, M., Serneels, J., Costa, S., Thompson, A.A.R., Wauters, E., Walmsley, S., Prenen, H., Granot, Z., *et al.* (2015). MET is required for the recruitment of anti-tumoural neutrophils. Nature *522*, 349-353.

Fixman, E.D., Fournier, T.M., Kamikura, D.M., Naujokas, M.A., and Park, M. (1996). Pathways downstream of Shc and Grb2 are required for cell transformation by the tpr-Met oncoprotein. J Biol Chem *271*, 13116-13122.

Fixman, E.D., Holgado-Madruga, M., Nguyen, L., Kamikura, D.N., Fournier, T.M., Wong, A.J., and Park, M. (1997). Efficient cellular transformation by the Met oncoprotein requires a functional Grb2 binding site and correlates with phosphorylation of the Grb2-associated proteins, Cbl and Gab1. Journal of Biological Chemistry *272*, 20167-20172.

Fixman, E.D., Naujokas, M.A., Rodrigues, G.A., Moran, M.F., and Park, M. (1995). Efficient cell transformation by the Tpr-Met oncoprotein is dependent upon tyrosine 489 in the carboxy-terminus. Oncogene *10*, 237-249.

Follenzi, A., Bakovic, S., Gual, P., Stella, M.C., Longati, P., and Comoglio, P.M. (2000). Cross-talk between the proto-oncogenes Met and Ron. *19*, 3041-3049.

Fournier, T.M., Kamikura, D., Teng, K., and Park, M. (1996). Branching tubulogenesis but not scatter of madin-darby canine kidney cells requires a functional Grb2 binding site in the Met receptor tyrosine kinase. J Biol Chem *271*, 22211-22217.

Frazier, N.M., Brand, T., Gordan, J.D., Grandis, J., and Jura, N. (2019). Overexpression-mediated activation of MET in the Golgi promotes HER3/ERBB3 phosphorylation. Oncogene *38*, 1936-1950.

Frigault, M.M., Naujokas, M.A., and Park, M. (2008). Gab2 requires membrane targeting and the met binding motif to promote lamellipodia, cell scatter, and epithelial morphogenesis downstream from the met receptor. *214*, 694-705.

Furcht, C.M., Buonato, J.M., and Lazzara, M.J. (2015). EGFR-activated Src family kinases maintain GAB1-SHP2 complexes distal from EGFR. Science Signaling *8*, ra46-ra46.

Gainor, J.F., Niederst, M.J., Lennerz, J.K., Dagogo-Jack, I., Stevens, S., Shaw, A.T., Sequist, L.V., and Engelman, J.A. (2016). Dramatic Response to Combination Erlotinib and Crizotinib in a Patient with Advanced, EGFR-Mutant Lung Cancer Harboring De Novo MET Amplification. J Thorac Oncol *11*, e83-85.

Gale, N.W., Kaplan, S., Lowenstein, E.J., Schlessinger, J., and Bar-Sagi, D. (1993). Grb2 mediates the EGF-dependent activation of guanine nucleotide exchange on Ras. *363*, 88-92.

Garber, K. (2014). MET inhibitors start on road to recovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov *13*, 563-565. Garcia-Guzman, M., Dolfi, F., Zeh, K., and Vuori, K. (2000). Met-induced JNK activation is mediated by the adapter protein Crk and correlates with the Gab1 – Crk signaling complex formation. *18*, 7775-7786.

Gaudino, G., Follenzi, A., Naldini, L., Collesi, C., Santoro, M., Gallo, K.A., Godowski, P.J., and Comoglio, P.M. (1994). RON is a heterodimeric tyrosine kinase receptor activated by the HGF homologue MSP. The EMBO Journal *13*, 3524-3532.

Gehmlich, K., Syrris, P., Peskett, E., Evans, A., Ehler, E., Asimaki, A., Anastasakis, A., Tsatsopoulou, A., Vouliotis, A.I., Stefanadis, C., *et al.* (2011). Mechanistic insights into arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy caused by desmocollin-2 mutations. *90*, 77-87.

Gherardi, E., Love, C.A., Esnouf, R.M., and Jones, E.Y. (2004). The sema domain. Current Opinion in Structural Biology *14*, 669-678.

Gherardi, E., Youles, M.E., Miguel, R.N., Blundell, T.L., Iamele, L., Gough, J., Bandyopadhyay, A., Hartmann, G., and Butler, P.J. (2003). Functional map and domain structure of MET, the product of the c-met protooncogene and receptor for hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 12039-12044.

Ghoussoub, R.A., Dillon, D.A., D'Aquila, T., Rimm, E.B., Fearon, E.R., and Rimm, D.L. (1998). Expression of c-met is a strong independent prognostic factor in breast carcinoma. Cancer *82*, 1513-1520.

Giordano, S., Corso, S., Conrotto, P., Artigiani, S., Gilestro, G., Barberis, D., Tamagnone, L., and Comoglio, P.M. (2002). The Semaphorin 4D receptor controls invasive growth by coupling with Met. Nature Cell Biology *4*, 720-724.

Giordano, S., Di Renzo, M.F., Ferracini, R., Chiadò-Piat, L., and Comoglio, P.M. (1988). p145, a protein with associated tyrosine kinase activity in a human gastric carcinoma cell line. Molecular and Cellular Biology *8*, 3510-3517.

Giordano, S., Ponzetto, C., Renzo, M.F.D., Cooper, C.S., and Comoglio, P.M. (1989). Tyrosine kinase receptor indistinguishable from the c-met protein. Nature *339*, 155-156.

Goltsov, A.A., Fang, B., Pandita, T.K., Maru, D.M., Swisher, S.G., and Hofstetter, W.L. (2018). HER2 Confers Resistance to Foretinib Inhibition of MET-Amplified Esophageal Adenocarcinoma Cells. Ann Thorac Surg *105*, 363-370.

Gonzatti-Haces, M., Seth, A., Park, M., Copeland, T., Oroszlan, S., and Vande Woude, G.F. (1988). Characterization of the TPR-MET oncogene p65 and the MET protooncogene p140 protein-tyrosine kinases. *85*, 21-25.

Graham, D.K., DeRyckere, D., Davies, K.D., and Earp, H.S. (2014). The TAM family: phosphatidylserine sensing receptor tyrosine kinases gone awry in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer *14*, 769-785.

Grandal, M.M., Havrylov, S., Poulsen, T.T., Koefoed, K., Dahlman, A., Galler, G.R., Conrotto, P., Collins, S., Eriksen, K.W., Kaufman, D., *et al.* (2017). Simultaneous Targeting of Two Distinct Epitopes on MET Effectively Inhibits MET- and HGF-Driven Tumor Growth by Multiple Mechanisms. Mol Cancer Ther *16*, 2780-2791.

Gui, S., Yuan, G., Wang, L., Zhou, L., Xue, Y., Yu, Y., Zhang, J., Zhang, M., Yang, Y., and Wang, D.W. (2013). Wnt3a regulates proliferation, apoptosis and function of pancreatic NIT-1 beta cells via activation of IRS2/PI3K signaling. *114*, 1488-1497.

Guo, R., Berry, L.D., Aisner, D.L., Sheren, J., Boyle, T., Bunn, P.A., Jr., Johnson, B.E., Kwiatkowski, D.J., Drilon, A., Sholl, L.M., *et al.* (2019). MET IHC Is a Poor Screen for MET Amplification or MET Exon 14 Mutations in Lung Adenocarcinomas: Data from a Tri-Institutional Cohort of the Lung Cancer Mutation Consortium. Journal of Thoracic Oncology *14*, 1666-1671.

Gutmann, T., Kim, K.H., Grzybek, M., Walz, T., and Coskun, Ü. (2018). Visualization of ligandinduced transmembrane signaling in the full-length human insulin receptor. The Journal of Cell Biology, jcb.201711047.

Guy, C.T., Webster, M.A., Schaller, M., Parsons, T.J., Cardiff, R.D., and Muller, W.J. (1992). Expression of the neu protooncogene in the mammary epithelium of transgenic mice induces metastatic disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *89*, 10578-10582.

Hajicek, N., Keith, N.C., Siraliev-Perez, E., Temple, B.R.S., Huang, W., Zhang, Q., Harden, T.K., and Sondek, J. (2019). Structural basis for the activation of PLC-γ isozymes by phosphorylation and cancer-associated mutations. eLife 8.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell *100*, 57-70. Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell *144*, 646-674.

Hedger, G., Sansom, M.S.P., and Koldsø, H. (2015). The juxtamembrane regions of human receptor tyrosine kinases exhibit conserved interaction sites with anionic lipids. Scientific Reports *5*, 9198.

Hellyer, N.J., Cheng, K., and Koland, J.G. (1998). ErbB3 (HER3) interaction with the p85 regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *333*, 757-763.

Hellyer, N.J., Kim, M.S., and Koland, J.G. (2001). Heregulin-dependent activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase and Akt via the ErbB2/ErbB3 co-receptor. J Biol Chem *276*, 42153-42161.

Herschman, H.R. (1991). Primary Response Genes Induced by Growth Factors and Tumor Promoters. Annual Review of Biochemistry *60*, 281-319.

Hertz, N.T., Wang, B.T., Allen, J.J., Zhang, C., Dar, A.C., Burlingame, A.L., and Shokat, K.M. (2010). Chemical genetic approach for kinase-substrate mapping by covalent capture of thiophosphopeptides and analysis by mass spectrometry. Curr Protoc Chem Biol *2*, 15-36. Hida, Y., Morita, T., Fujita, M., Miyasaka, Y., Horita, S., Fujioka, Y., Nagashima, K., and Katoh, H. (1999). Clinical significance of hepatocyte growth factor and c-Met expression in extrahepatic biliary tract cancers. Oncol Rep *6*, 1051-1056.

Hogrebe, A., Von Stechow, L., Bekker-Jensen, D.B., Weinert, B.T., Kelstrup, C.D., and Olsen, J.V. (2018). Benchmarking common quantification strategies for large-scale phosphoproteomics. Nature Communications *9*.

Holgado-Madruga, M., Moscatello, D.K., Emlet, D.R., Dieterich, R., and Wong, A.J. (1997). Grb2associated binder-1 mediates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation and the promotion of cell survival by nerve growth factor. *94*, 12419-12424.

Holland, L.Z., and Ocampo Daza, D. (2018). A new look at an old question: when did the second whole genome duplication occur in vertebrate evolution? Genome Biol *19*, 209.

Hsu, P.-C., Jablons, D.M., Yang, C.-T., and You, L. (2019). Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Pathway, Yes-Associated Protein (YAP) and the Regulation of Programmed Death-Ligand 1 (PD-L1) in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC). International Journal of Molecular Sciences *20*, 3821.

Hubbard, S.R. (1997). Crystal structure of the activated insulin receptor tyrosine kinase in complex with peptide substrate and ATP analog. *16*, 5572-5581.

Hubbard, S.R. (2004). Juxtamembrane autoinhibition in receptor tyrosine kinases. *5*, 464-471. Hubbard, S.R., Wei, L., and Hendrickson, W.A. (1994). Crystal structure of the tyrosine kinase domain of the human insulin receptor. *372*, 746-754.

Huff, J.L., Jelinek, M.A., Borgman, C.A., Lansing, T.J., and Parsons, J.T. (1993). The protooncogene c-sea encodes a transmembrane protein-tyrosine kinase related to the Met/hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 6140-6144. Hunter, T. (2015). Discovering the first tyrosine kinase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *112*, 7877.

Hutchinson, M.A., Hunter, T., and Eckhart, W. (1978). Characterization of T antigens in polyoma-infected and transformed cells. Cell *15*, 65-77.

International Cancer Genome Consortium PedBrain Tumor, P. (2016). Recurrent MET fusion genes represent a drug target in pediatric glioblastoma. Nat Med *22*, 1314-1320.

Ishizawar, R.C., Miyake, T., and Parsons, S.J. (2007). c-Src modulates ErbB2 and ErbB3 heterocomplex formation and function. Oncogene *26*, 3503-3510.

Ito, Y. (1979). Polyoma virus-specific 55K protein isolated from plasma membrane of productively infected cells is virus-coded and important for cell transformation. Virology *98*, 261-266.

Iwama, A., Yamaguchi, N., and Suda, T. (1996). STK/RON receptor tyrosine kinase mediates both apoptotic and growth signals via the multifunctional docking site conserved among the HGF receptor family. Embo j *15*, 5866-5875.

Iyer, A., Kmiecik, T.E., Park, M., Daar, I., Blair, D., Dunn, K.J., Sutrave, P., Ihle, J.N., Bodescot, M., and Vande Woude, G.F. (1990). Structure, tissue-specific expression, and transforming activity of the mouse met protooncogene. Cell Growth Differ *1*, 87-95.

Jeffers, M., Schmidt, L., Nakaigawa, N., Webb, C.P., Weirich, G., Kishida, T., Zbar, B., and Vande Woude, G.F. (1997). Activating mutations for the Met tyrosine kinase receptor in human cancer. *94*, 11445-11450.

Jeltsch, M., Leppanen, V.M., Saharinen, P., and Alitalo, K. (2013). Receptor Tyrosine Kinase-Mediated Angiogenesis. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology *5*, a009183-a009183. Jeong, S.-H., Kim, H.-B., Kim, M.-C., Lee, J.-M., Lee, J.H., Kim, J.-H., Kim, J.-W., Park, W.-Y., Kim, S.-Y., Kim, J.B., *et al.* (2018). Hippo-mediated suppression of IRS2/AKT signaling prevents hepatic steatosis and liver cancer. Journal of Clinical Investigation *128*, 1010-1025.

Johnson, H., Lescarbeau, R.S., Gutierrez, J.A., and White, F.M. (2013). Phosphotyrosine Profiling of NSCLC Cells in Response to EGF and HGF Reveals Network Specific Mediators of Invasion. *12*, 1856-1867.

Joshi, R.L., Lamothe, B., Cordonnier, N., Mesbah, K., Monthioux, E., Jami, J., and Bucchini, D. (1996). Targeted disruption of the insulin receptor gene in the mouse results in neonatal lethality. EMBO J *15*, 1542-1547.

Junttila, T.T., Akita, R.W., Parsons, K., Fields, C., Lewis Phillips, G.D., Friedman, L.S., Sampath, D., and Sliwkowski, M.X. (2009). Ligand-independent HER2/HER3/PI3K complex is disrupted by trastuzumab and is effectively inhibited by the PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941. Cancer Cell *15*, 429-440.

Jura, N., Endres, N.F., Engel, K., Deindl, S., Das, R., Lamers, M.H., Wemmer, D.E., Zhang, X., and Kuriyan, J. (2009). Mechanism for Activation of the EGF Receptor Catalytic Domain by the Juxtamembrane Segment. Cell *137*, 1293-1307.

Jura, N., Zhang, X., Nicholas, Markus, Schindler, T., and Kuriyan, J. (2011). Catalytic Control in the EGF Receptor and Its Connection to General Kinase Regulatory Mechanisms. Molecular Cell *42*, 9-22.

Kamikura, D.M., Naujokas, M.A., and Park, M. (1996). Identification of Tyrosine 489 in the Carboxy Terminus of the Tpr-Met Oncoprotein as a Major Site of Autophosphorylation[†]. Biochemistry *35*, 1010-1017.

Kaneko, T., Huang, H., Zhao, B., Li, L., Liu, H., Voss, C.K., Wu, C., Schiller, M.R., and Li, S.S.C. (2010). Loops Govern SH2 Domain Specificity by Controlling Access to Binding Pockets. *3*, ra34-ra34.

Kanshin, E., Michnick, S.W., and Thibault, P. (2013). Displacement of N/Q-rich Peptides on TiO 2 Beads Enhances the Depth and Coverage of Yeast Phosphoproteome Analyses. *12*, 2905-2913. Kasikara, C., Davra, V., Calianese, D., Geng, K., Spires, T.E., Quigley, M., Wichroski, M., Sriram, G., Suarez-Lopez, L., Yaffe, M.B., *et al.* (2019). Pan-TAM Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor BMS-777607 Enhances Anti–PD-1 mAb Efficacy in a Murine Model of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Cancer Research *79*, 2669-2683.

Kazandjian, D., Blumenthal, G.M., Chen, H.Y., He, K., Patel, M., Justice, R., Keegan, P., and Pazdur, R. (2014). FDA Approval Summary: Crizotinib for the Treatment of Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer With Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Rearrangements. *19*, e5-e11.

Kazlauskas, A., and Cooper, J.A. (1989). Autophosphorylation of the PDGF receptor in the kinase insert region regulates interactions with cell proteins. Cell *58*, 1121-1133.

Kazlauskas, A., Ellis, C., Pawson, T., and Cooper, J. (1990). Binding of GAP to activated PDGF receptors. Science *247*, 1578-1581.

Kentsis, A., Reed, C., Rice, K.L., Sanda, T., Rodig, S.J., Tholouli, E., Christie, A., Valk, P.J.M., Delwel, R., Ngo, V., *et al.* (2012). Autocrine activation of the MET receptor tyrosine kinase in acute myeloid leukemia. Nature Medicine *18*, 1118-1122.

Kim, B., Wang, S., Lee, J.M., Jeong, Y., Ahn, T., Son, D.S., Park, H.W., Yoo, H.S., Song, Y.J., Lee, E., *et al.* (2015). Synthetic lethal screening reveals FGFR as one of the combinatorial targets to overcome resistance to Met-targeted therapy. Oncogene *34*, 1083-1093.

Kim, J., Ahuja, L.G., Chao, F.-A., Xia, Y., McClendon, C.L., Kornev, A.P., Taylor, S.S., and Veglia, G. (2017). A dynamic hydrophobic core orchestrates allostery in protein kinases. Science Advances *3*, e1600663.

Kim, S., Kim, T.M., Kim, D.-W., Kim, S., Kim, M., Ahn, Y.-O., Keam, B., and Heo, D.S. (2019). Acquired Resistance of MET-Amplified Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Cells to the MET Inhibitor Capmatinib. Cancer Research and Treatment *51*, 951-962.

Klein, A.D., Kessel, A.G.V., Grosveld, G., Bartram, C.R., Hagemeijer, A., Bootsma, D., Spurr, N.K., Heisterkamp, N., Groffen, J., and Stephenson, J.R. (1982). A cellular oncogene is translocated to the Philadelphia chromosome in chronic myelocytic leukaemia. *300*, 765-767.

Knight, Z.A., and Shokat, K.M. (2005). Features of Selective Kinase Inhibitors. Chemistry & Biology *12*, 621-637.

Knighton, D., Zheng, J., Ten Eyck, L., Ashford, V., Xuong, N., Taylor, S., and Sowadski, J. (1991a). Crystal structure of the catalytic subunit of cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase. Science *253*, 407-414.

Knighton, D., Zheng, J., Ten Eyck, L., Xuong, N., Taylor, S., and Sowadski, J. (1991b). Structure of a peptide inhibitor bound to the catalytic subunit of cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase. *253*, 414-420.

Koch, C., Anderson, D., Moran, M., Ellis, C., and Pawson, T. (1991). SH2 and SH3 domains: elements that control interactions of cytoplasmic signaling proteins. Science *252*, 668-674. Komada, M., Hatsuzawa, K., Shibamoto, S., Ito, F., Nakayama, K., and Kitamura, N. (1993). Proteolytic processing of the hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor receptor by furin. FEBS Letters *328*, 25-29.

Kong-Beltran, M., Seshagiri, S., Zha, J., Zhu, W., Bhawe, K., Mendoza, N., Holcomb, T., Pujara, K., Stinson, J., Fu, L., *et al.* (2006). Somatic Mutations Lead to an Oncogenic Deletion of Met in Lung Cancer. Cancer Research *66*, 283-289.

Konopka, J.B., Watanabe, S.M., and Witte, O.N. (1984). An alteration of the human c-abl protein in K562 leukemia cells unmasks associated tyrosine kinase activity. *37*, 1035-1042.

Kovacs, E., Das, R., Wang, Q., Collier, T.S., Cantor, A., Huang, Y., Wong, K., Mirza, A., Barros, T., Grob, P., *et al.* (2015). Analysis of the Role of the C-Terminal Tail in the Regulation of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor. Mol Cell Biol *35*, 3083-3102.

Kozlov, G., Perreault, A., Schrag, J.D., Park, M., Cygler, M., Gehring, K., and Ekiel, I. (2004). Insights into function of PSI domains from structure of the Met receptor PSI domain. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications *321*, 234-240.

Kraus, M.H., Issing, W., Miki, T., Popescu, N.C., and Aaronson, S.A. (1989). Isolation and characterization of ERBB3, a third member of the ERBB/epidermal growth factor receptor family: evidence for overexpression in a subset of human mammary tumors. *86*, 9193-9197. Kraybill, B.C., Elkin, L.L., Blethrow, J.D., Morgan, D.O., and Shokat, K.M. (2002). Inhibitor Scaffolds as New Allele Specific Kinase Substrates. *124*, 12118-12128.

Kuniyasu, H., Yasui, W., Kitadai, Y., Yokozaki, H., Ito, H., and Tahara, E. (1992). Frequent amplification of the c-met gene in scirrhous type stomach cancer. *189*, 227-232. Kypta, R.M., Goldberg, Y., Ulug, E.T., and Courtneidge, S.A. (1990). Association between the PDGF receptor and members of the src family of tyrosine kinases. Cell *62*, 481-492. Lahiry, P., Torkamani, A., Schork, N.J., and Hegele, R.A. (2010). Kinase mutations in human disease: interpreting genotype–phenotype relationships. Nature Reviews Genetics *11*, 60-74. Lai, A.Z., Abella, J.V., and Park, M. (2009). Crosstalk in Met receptor oncogenesis. Trends Cell

Biol 19, 542-551.

Lai, A.Z., Cory, S., Zhao, H., Gigoux, M., Monast, A., Guiot, M.C., Huang, S., Tofigh, A., Thompson, C., Naujokas, M., *et al.* (2014). Dynamic reprogramming of signaling upon met inhibition reveals a mechanism of drug resistance in gastric cancer. Sci Signal *7*, ra38.

Lai, A.Z., Durrant, M., Zuo, D., Ratcliffe, C.D., and Park, M. (2012). Met kinase-dependent loss of the E3 ligase Cbl in gastric cancer. J Biol Chem *287*, 8048-8059.

Lai, G.G.Y., Lim, T.H., Lim, J., Liew, P.J.R., Kwang, X.L., Nahar, R., Aung, Z.W., Takano, A., Lee, Y.Y., Lau, D.P.X., *et al.* (2019). Clonal MET Amplification as a Determinant of Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Resistance in Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor–Mutant Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology *37*, 876-884.

Lambros, L., and Uguen, A. (2019). MET Immunohistochemistry Should Be Avoided in Selecting Non-small-cell Lung Cancers Requiring MET Exon 14 Skipping Mutation Analysis. Clin Lung Cancer *20*, e418-e420.

Lamorte, L., Kamikura, D.M., and Park, M. (2000). A switch from p130Cas/Crk to Gab1/Crk signaling correlates with anchorage independent growth and JNK activation in cells transformed by the Met receptor oncoprotein. *19*, 5973-5981.

Lamorte, L., Rodrigues, S., Naujokas, M., and Park, M. (2002a). Crk synergizes with epidermal growth factor for epithelial invasion and morphogenesis and is required for the met morphogenic program. J Biol Chem *277*, 37904-37911.

Lamorte, L., Royal, I., Naujokas, M., and Park, M. (2002b). Crk adapter proteins promote an epithelial-mesenchymal-like transition and are required for HGF-mediated cell spreading and breakdown of epithelial adherens junctions. Mol Biol Cell *13*, 1449-1461.

Landi, L., Chiari, R., Tiseo, M., D'Incà, F., Dazzi, C., Chella, A., Delmonte, A., Bonanno, L., Giannarelli, D., Cortinovis, D.L., *et al.* (2019). Crizotinib in MET deregulated or ROS1 rearranged pretreated non-small-cell lung cancer (METROS): a phase II, prospective, multicentre, two-arms trial. Clinical Cancer Research, clincanres.0994.

Landis, J., and Shaw, L.M. (2014). Insulin Receptor Substrate 2-mediated Phosphatidylinositol 3kinase Signaling Selectively Inhibits Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3β to Regulate Aerobic Glycolysis. Journal of Biological Chemistry *289*, 18603-18613.

Lapin, V., Shirdel, E.A., Wei, X., Mason, J.M., Jurisica, I., and Mak, T.W. (2014). Kinome-wide screening of HER2+ breast cancer cells for molecules that mediate cell proliferation or sensitize cells to trastuzumab therapy. Oncogenesis *3*, e133-e133.

Leatherbarrow, J.R., and Halfon, M.S. (2009). Identification of Receptor-Tyrosine-Kinase-Signaling Target Genes Reveals Receptor-Specific Activities and Pathway Branchpoints During Drosophila Development. *181*, 1335-1345.

Lee, B.S., Park, M., Cha, H.Y., and Lee, J.H. (2009). Hepatocyte growth factor induces delayed STAT3 phosphorylation through interleukin-6 expression. Cell Signal *21*, 419-427.

Lee, J.-H., Han, S.-U., Cho, H., Jennings, B., Gerrard, B., Dean, M., Schmidt, L., Zbar, B., and Vande Woude, G.F. (2000). A novel germ line juxtamembrane Met mutation in human gastric cancer. *19*, 4947-4953.

Lee, J.Y.W., and McGrath, J.A. (2020). Mutations in genes encoding desmosomal proteins: spectrum of cutaneous and extracutaneous abnormalities. British Journal of Dermatology. Lee, K.-F., Simon, H., Chen, H., Bates, B., Hung, M.-C., and Hauser, C. (1995). Requirement for neuregulin receptor erbB2 in neural and cardiac development. Nature *378*, 394-398.

Leiva, A.G., Chen, A.L., Devarajan, P., Chen, Z., Damanpour, S., Hall, J.A., Bianco, A.C., Li, J., Badiavas, E.V., Zaias, J., *et al.* (2014). Loss of Mpzl3 function causes various skin abnormalities and greatly reduced adipose depots. J Invest Dermatol *134*, 1817-1827.

Lemmon, M.A., and Schlessinger, J. (2010). Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell *141*, 1117-1134.

Lennerz, J.K., Kwak, E.L., Ackerman, A., Michael, M., Fox, S.B., Bergethon, K., Lauwers, G.Y., Christensen, J.G., Wilner, K.D., Haber, D.A., *et al.* (2011). MET Amplification Identifies a Small and Aggressive Subgroup of Esophagogastric Adenocarcinoma With Evidence of Responsiveness to Crizotinib. Journal of Clinical Oncology *29*, 4803-4810.

Levinson, A.D., Oppermann, H., Levintow, L., Varmus, H.E., and Bishop, J.M. (1978). Evidence that the transforming gene of avian sarcoma virus encodes a protein kinase associated with a phosphoprotein. Cell *15*, 561-572.

Li, G., Schaider, H., Satyamoorthy, K., Hanakawa, Y., Hashimoto, K., and Herlyn, M. (2001). Downregulation of E-cadherin and Desmoglein 1 by autocrine hepatocyte growth factor during melanoma development. *20*, 8125-8135.

Li, J., Choi, E., Yu, H., and Bai, X.-C. (2019). Structural basis of the activation of type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor. Nature Communications *10*.

Liao, Y., Smyth, G.K., and Shi, W. (2014). featureCounts: an efficient general purpose program for assigning sequence reads to genomic features. Bioinformatics *30*, 923-930.

Lilly (2019). Lilly to Establish an Access Program for Patients as it Prepares to Withdraw Lartruvo from the

Global Market.

Littlefield, P., Liu, L., Mysore, V., Shan, Y., Shaw, D.E., and Jura, N. (2014). Structural analysis of the EGFR/HER3 heterodimer reveals the molecular basis for activating HER3 mutations. Science Signaling *7*, ra114-ra114.

Liu, X., Brodeur, S.R., Gish, G., Songyang, Z., Cantley, L.C., Laudano, A.P., and Pawson, T. (1993). Regulation of c-Src tyrosine kinase activity by the Src SH2 domain. Oncogene *8*, 1119-1126. Liu, X., Wang, Q., Yang, G., Marando, C., Koblish, H.K., Hall, L.M., Fridman, J.S., Behshad, E., Wynn, R., Li, Y., *et al.* (2011). A Novel Kinase Inhibitor, INCB28060, Blocks c-MET-Dependent Signaling, Neoplastic Activities, and Cross-Talk with EGFR and HER-3. *17*, 7127-7138.

Liu, Y., and Rohrschneider, L.R. (2002). The gift of Gab. 515, 1-7.

Liu, Y., Shah, K., Yang, F., Witucki, L., and Shokat, K.M. (1998). A molecular gate which controls unnatural ATP analogue recognition by the tyrosine kinase v-Src. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry *6*, 1219-1226.

Lock, L.S., Frigault, M.M., Saucier, C., and Park, M. (2003). Grb2-independent Recruitment of Gab1 Requires the C-terminal Lobe and Structural Integrity of the Met Receptor Kinase Domain. Journal of Biological Chemistry *278*, 30083-30090.

Lock, L.S., Maroun, C.R., Naujokas, M.A., and Park, M. (2002). Distinct recruitment and function of Gab1 and Gab2 in Met receptor-mediated epithelial morphogenesis. Mol Biol Cell *13*, 2132-2146.

Lock, L.S., Royal, I., Naujokas, M.A., and Park, M. (2000). Identification of an atypical Grb2 carboxyl-terminal SH3 domain binding site in Gab docking proteins reveals Grb2-dependent and -independent recruitment of Gab1 to receptor tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem *275*, 31536-31545. Longo, P.A., Kavran, J.M., Kim, M.-S., and Leahy, D.J. (2013). Transient mammalian cell transfection with polyethylenimine (PEI). Methods Enzymol *529*, 227-240.

Love, M.I., Huber, W., and Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol *15*, 550.

Lu, K.V., Chang, J.P., Parachoniak, C.A., Pandika, M.M., Aghi, M.K., Meyronet, D., Isachenko, N., Fouse, S.D., Phillips, J.J., Cheresh, D.A., *et al.* (2012). VEGF inhibits tumor cell invasion and mesenchymal transition through a MET/VEGFR2 complex. Cancer Cell *22*, 21-35.

Lutterbach, B., Zeng, Q., Davis, L.J., Hatch, H., Hang, G., Kohl, N.E., Gibbs, J.B., and Pan, B.-S. (2007). Lung Cancer Cell Lines Harboring MET Gene Amplification Are Dependent on Met for Growth and Survival. Cancer Research *67*, 2081-2088.

Lynch, T.J., Bell, D.W., Sordella, R., Gurubhagavatula, S., Okimoto, R.A., Brannigan, B.W., Harris, P.L., Haserlat, S.M., Supko, J.G., Haluska, F.G., *et al.* (2004). Activating Mutations in the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Underlying Responsiveness of Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer to Gefitinib. New England Journal of Medicine *350*, 2129-2139.

Maa, M.C., Leu, T.H., McCarley, D.J., Schatzman, R.C., and Parsons, S.J. (1995). Potentiation of epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated oncogenesis by c-Src: implications for the etiology of multiple human cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 6981-6985.

Mahamdallie, S., Yost, S., Poyastro-Pearson, E., Holt, E., Zachariou, A., Seal, S., Elliott, A., Clarke, M., Warren-Perry, M., Hanks, S., *et al.* (2019). Identification of new Wilms tumour

predisposition genes: an exome sequencing study. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health *3*, 322-331.

Mancini, M., Gaborit, N., Lindzen, M., Salame, T.M., Dall'Ora, M., Sevilla-Sharon, M., Abdul-Hai, A., Downward, J., and Yarden, Y. (2015). Combining three antibodies nullifies feedbackmediated resistance to erlotinib in lung cancer. Sci Signal *8*, ra53.

Manning, G. (2002). The Protein Kinase Complement of the Human Genome. Science 298, 1912-1934.

Margolis, B., Rhee, S.G., Felder, S., Mervic, M., Lyall, R., Levitzki, A., Ullrich, A., Zilberstein, A., and Schlessinger, J. (1989). EGF induces tyrosine phosphorylation of phospholipase C-II: a potential mechanism for EGF receptor signaling. Cell *57*, 1101-1107.

Maroun, C.R., Holgado-Madruga, M., Royal, I., Naujokas, M.A., Fournier, T.M., Wong, A.J., and Park, M. (1999a). The Gab1 PH Domain Is Required for Localization of Gab1 at Sites of Cell-Cell Contact and Epithelial Morphogenesis Downstream from the Met Receptor Tyrosine Kinase. *19*, 1784-1799. Maroun, C.R., Moscatello, D.K., Naujokas, M.A., Holgado-Madruga, M., Wong, A.J., and Park, M. (1999b). A Conserved Inositol Phospholipid Binding Site within the Pleckstrin Homology Domain of the Gab1 Docking Protein Is Required for Epithelial Morphogenesis. *274*, 31719-31726. Maroun, C.R., Naujokas, M.A., Holgado-Madruga, M., Wong, A.J., and Park, M. (2000). The Tyrosine Phosphatase SHP-2 Is Required for Sustained Activation of Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase and Epithelial Morphogenesis Downstream from the Met Receptor Tyrosine Kinase. Molecular and Cellular Biology *20*, 8513-8525.

Matsumoto, R., Tsuda, M., Wang, L., Maishi, N., Abe, T., Kimura, T., Tanino, M., Nishihara, H., Hida, K., Ohba, Y., *et al.* (2015). Adaptor protein CRK induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis of bladder cancer cells through HGF/c-Met feedback loop. *106*, 709-717. McGlade, C.J., Ellis, C., Reedijk, M., Anderson, D., Mbamalu, G., Reith, A.D., Panayotou, G., End, P., Bernstein, A., and Kazlauskas, A. (1992). SH2 domains of the p85 alpha subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase regulate binding to growth factor receptors. *12*, 991-997. Meisenhelder, J., Suh, P.-G., Rhee, S.G., and Hunter, T. (1989a). Phospholipase C-γ is a substrate for the PDGF and EGF receptor protein-tyrosine kinases in vivo and in vitro. Cell *57*, 1109-1122. Meisenhelder, J., Suh, P.G., Rhee, S.G., and Hunter, T. (1989b). Phospholipase C-gamma is a substrate for the PDGF and EGF receptor protein-tyrosine kinases in vivo and in vitro. Cell *57*, 1109-1122.

Mi, H., Muruganujan, A., Ebert, D., Huang, X., and Thomas, P.D. (2019). PANTHER version 14: more genomes, a new PANTHER GO-slim and improvements in enrichment analysis tools. Nucleic Acids Research *47*, D419-D426.

Michailidis, I.E., Rusinova, R., Georgakopoulos, A., Chen, Y., Iyengar, R., Robakis, N.K., Logothetis, D.E., and Baki, L. (2011). Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate regulates epidermal growth factor receptor activation. Pflügers Archiv - European Journal of Physiology *461*, 387-397.

Miettinen, P.J., Berger, J.E., Meneses, J., Phung, Y., Pedersen, R.A., Werb, Z., and Derynck, R. (1995). Epithelial immaturity and multiorgan failure in mice lacking epidermal growth factor receptor. Nature *376*, 337-341.

Mignard, X., Ruppert, A.M., Antoine, M., Vasseur, J., Girard, N., Mazieres, J., Moro-Sibilot, D., Fallet, V., Rabbe, N., Thivolet-Bejui, F., *et al.* (2018). c-MET Overexpression as a Poor Predictor of MET Amplifications or Exon 14 Mutations in Lung Sarcomatoid Carcinomas. J Thorac Oncol *13*, 1962-1967.

Modi, V., and Dunbrack, R.L. (2019). Defining a new nomenclature for the structures of active and inactive kinases. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *116*, 6818.

Mohanty, S., Spinas, G., Maedler, K., Zuellig, R., Lehmann, R., Donath, M., Trub, T., and Niessen, M. (2005). Overexpression of IRS2 in isolated pancreatic islets causes proliferation and protects human ?-cells from hyperglycemia-induced apoptosis. Experimental Cell Research *303*, 68-78.

Mok, T.S.K., Geater, S.L., Su, W.-C., Tan, E.-H., Yang, J.C.-H., Chang, G.-C., Han, M., Komarnitsky, P., Payumo, F., Garrus, J.E., *et al.* (2016). A Randomized Phase 2 Study Comparing the

Combination of Ficlatuzumab and Gefitinib with Gefitinib Alone in Asian Patients with Advanced Stage Pulmonary Adenocarcinoma. *11*, 1736-1744.

Montesano, R., Matsumoto, K., Nakamura, T., and Orci, L. (1991). Identification of a fibroblastderived epithelial morphogen as hepatocyte growth factor. Cell *67*, 901-908. Moores, S.L., Chiu, M.L., Bushey, B.S., Chevalier, K., Luistro, L., Dorn, K., Brezski, R.J., Haytko, P., Kelly, T., Wu, S.J., *et al.* (2016). A Novel Bispecific Antibody Targeting EGFR and cMet Is Effective against EGFR Inhibitor-Resistant Lung Tumors. Cancer Res *76*, 3942-3953.

Morrison, D.K., Kaplan, D.R., Rhee, S.G., and Williams, L.T. (1990). Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-dependent association of phospholipase C-gamma with the PDGF receptor signaling complex. *10*, 2359-2366.

Muller, W.J., Sinn, E., Pattengale, P.K., Wallace, R., and Leder, P. (1988). Single-step induction of mammary adenocarcinoma in transgenic mice bearing the activated c-neu oncogene. Cell *54*, 105-115.

Nakada, M., Kita, D., Teng, L., Pyko, I.V., Watanabe, T., Hayashi, Y., and Hamada, J.I. (2020). Receptor Tyrosine Kinases: Principles and Functions in Glioma Invasion. Adv Exp Med Biol *1202*, 151-178.

Nakamura, T., Nishizawa, T., Hagiya, M., Seki, T., Shimonishi, M., Sugimura, A., Tashiro, K., and Shimizu, S. (1989). Molecular cloning and expression of human hepatocyte growth factor. Nature *342*, 440-443.

Nakamura, T., Teramoto, H., and Ichihara, A. (1986). Purification and characterization of a growth factor from rat platelets for mature parenchymal hepatocytes in primary cultures. *83*, 6489-6493.

Naldini, L., Weidner, K.M., Vigna, E., Gaudino, G., Bardelli, A., Ponzetto, C., Narsimhan, R.P., Hartmann, G., Zarnegar, R., Michalopoulos, G.K., *et al.* (1991). Scatter factor and hepatocyte growth factor are indistinguishable ligands for the MET receptor. EMBO J *10*, 2867-2878. Nguyen, A.T.Q., Lee, S.Y., Chin, H.J., Le, Q.V.C., and Lee, D. (2020). Kinase activity of ERBB3 contributes to intestinal organoids growth and intestinal tumorigenesis. Cancer Science *111*, 137-147.

Nguyen, L., Holgado-Madruga, M., Maroun, C., Fixman, E.D., Kamikura, D., Fournier, T., Charest, A., Tremblay, M.L., Wong, A.J., and Park, M. (1997). Association of the Multisubstrate Docking Protein Gab1 with the Hepatocyte Growth Factor Receptor Requires a Functional Grb2 Binding Site Involving Tyrosine 1356. *272*, 20811-20819.

Nicholas, Das, R., Adam, Arkhipov, A., Kovacs, E., Huang, Y., Jeffrey, Shan, Y., David, David, *et al.* (2013). Conformational Coupling across the Plasma Membrane in Activation of the EGF Receptor. Cell *152*, 543-556.

NIH clinicaltrials.gov. (US National Library of Medicine).

Noble, M.E., Endicott, J.A., and Johnson, L.N. (2004). Protein kinase inhibitors: insights into drug design from structure. Science *303*, 1800-1805.

Noonan, S.A., Berry, L., Lu, X., Gao, D., Barón, A.E., Chesnut, P., Sheren, J., Aisner, D.L., Merrick, D., Doebele, R.C., *et al.* (2016). Identifying the Appropriate FISH Criteria for Defining MET Copy Number–Driven Lung Adenocarcinoma through Oncogene Overlap Analysis. *11*, 1293-1304. Northrup, A.B., Katcher, M.H., Altman, M.D., Chenard, M., Daniels, M.H., Deshmukh, S.V., Falcone, D., Guerin, D.J., Hatch, H., Li, C., *et al.* (2013). Discovery of 1-[3-(1-Methyl-1H-pyrazol-4-yl)-5-oxo-5H-benzo[4,5]cyclohepta[1,2-b]pyridin-7-yl]-N-(pyridin-2-

ylmethyl)methanesulfonamide (MK-8033): A Specific c-Met/Ron Dual Kinase Inhibitor with Preferential Affinity for the Activated State of c-Met. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry *56*, 2294-2310. Nowell, P.C., and Hungerford, D.A. (1960). A minute chromosome in human chronic granulocytic leukemia. Science *132*, 1497.

Oda, Y., Sakamoto, A., Saito, T., Kinukawa, N., Iwamoto, Y., and Tsuneyoshi, M. (2000). Expression of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)/scatter factor and its receptor c-MET correlates with poor prognosis in synovial sarcoma. Hum Pathol *31*, 185-192.

Ong, S.-E., Blagoev, B., Kratchmarova, I., Kristensen, D.B., Steen, H., Pandey, A., and Mann, M. (2002). Stable Isotope Labeling by Amino Acids in Cell Culture, SILAC, as a Simple and Accurate Approach to Expression Proteomics. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics *1*, 376-386.

Ou, S.H., Kwak, E.L., Siwak-Tapp, C., Dy, J., Bergethon, K., Clark, J.W., Camidge, D.R., Solomon, B.J., Maki, R.G., Bang, Y.J., *et al.* (2011). Activity of crizotinib (PF02341066), a dual

mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET) and anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) inhibitor, in a non-small cell lung cancer patient with de novo MET amplification. J Thorac Oncol *6*, 942-946. Overbeck, A.F., Brtva, T.R., Cox, A.D., Graham, S.M., Huff, S.Y., Khosravi-Far, R., Quilliam, L.A., Solski, P.A., and Der, C.J. (1995). Guanine nucleotide exchange factors: Activators of Ras superfamily proteins. Molecular Reproduction and Development *42*, 468-476.

Ow, J.R., Tan, Y.H., Jin, Y., Bahirvani, A.G., and Taneja, R. (2014). Stra13 and Sharp-1, the nongrouchy regulators of development and disease. Curr Top Dev Biol *110*, 317-338.

Padhy, L.C., Shih, C., Cowing, D., Finkelstein, R., and Weinberg, R.A. (1982). Identification of a phosphoprotein specifically induced by the transforming DNA of rat neuroblastomas. Cell *28*, 865-871.

Palanza, K.M., Radden, L.A., Rabah, M.A., Nguyen, T.V., Kohm, A.C., Connor, M.E., Ricci, M.M., Stewart, J.J., Eragene, S., and King, T.R. (2017). The rough fur (ruf) mutation in mice is an allele of myelin protein zero-like 3 (Mpzl3). Cogent Biology *3*, 1370058.

Paliouras, G.N., Naujokas, M.A., and Park, M. (2009). Pak4, a Novel Gab1 Binding Partner, Modulates Cell Migration and Invasion by the Met Receptor. *29*, 3018-3032.

Parachoniak, C.A., Luo, Y., Abella, J.V., Keen, J.H., and Park, M. (2011). GGA3 functions as a switch to promote Met receptor recycling, essential for sustained ERK and cell migration. Dev Cell *20*, 751-763.

Park, M., Dean, M., Cooper, C.S., Schmidt, M., O'Brien, S.J., Blair, D.G., and Vande Woude, G.F. (1986). Mechanism of met oncogene activation. Cell *45*, 895-904.

Park, M., Dean, M., Kaul, K., Braun, M.J., Gonda, M.A., and Vande Woude, G. (1987). Sequence of MET protooncogene cDNA has features characteristic of the tyrosine kinase family of growth-factor receptors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *84*, 6379-6383.

Pasdar, M., Li, Z., Marreli, M., Nguyen, B.T., Park, M., and Wong, K. (1997). Inhibition of junction assembly in cultured epithelial cells by hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor is concomitant with increased stability and altered phosphorylation of the soluble junctional molecules. Cell Growth Differ *8*, 451-462.

Patnaik, A., Weiss, G.J., Papadopoulos, K.P., Hofmeister, C.C., Tibes, R., Tolcher, A., Isaacs, R., Jac, J., Han, M., Payumo, F.C., *et al.* (2014). Phase I ficlatuzumab monotherapy or with erlotinib for refractory advanced solid tumours and multiple myeloma. *111*, 272-280.

Paul, M.D., and Hristova, K. (2019). The RTK Interactome: Overview and Perspective on RTK Heterointeractions. Chem Rev *119*, 5881-5921.

Pellon-Cardenas, O., Clancy, J., Uwimpuhwe, H., and D'Souza-Schorey, C. (2013). ARF6-Regulated Endocytosis of Growth Factor Receptors Links Cadherin-Based Adhesion to Canonical Wnt Signaling in Epithelia. *33*, 2963-2975.

Peng, J., and He, L. (2018). IRS posttranslational modifications in regulating insulin signaling. J Mol Endocrinol *60*, R1-R8.

Peng, L., and Luo, D.Y. (2018). Identification of key genes and construction of microRNA-mRNA regulatory networks in bladder smooth muscle cell response to mechanical stimuli using microarray expression profiles and bioinformatics analysis. World J Urol *36*, 241-247.

Pennacchietti, S., Cazzanti, M., Bertotti, A., Rideout, W.M., Han, M., Gyuris, J., Perera, T., Comoglio, P.M., Trusolino, L., and Michieli, P. (2014). Microenvironment-Derived HGF Overcomes Genetically Determined Sensitivity to Anti-MET Drugs. Cancer Research *74*, 6598-6609.

Peschard, P., Fournier, T.M., Lamorte, L., Naujokas, M.A., Band, H., Langdon, W.Y., and Park, M. (2001). Mutation of the c-Cbl TKB domain binding site on the Met receptor tyrosine kinase converts it into a transforming protein. Mol Cell *8*, 995-1004.

Peschard, P., Ishiyama, N., Lin, T., Lipkowitz, S., and Park, M. (2004). A Conserved DpYR Motif in the Juxtamembrane Domain of the Met Receptor Family Forms an Atypical c-Cbl/Cbl-b Tyrosine Kinase Binding Domain Binding Site Required for Suppression of Oncogenic Activation. *279*, 29565-29571.

Peschard, P., and Park, M. (2003). Escape from Cbl-mediated downregulation: a recurrent theme for oncogenic deregulation of receptor tyrosine kinases. Cancer Cell *3*, 519-523.

Petruzzelli, L.M., Ganguly, S., Smith, C.J., Cobb, M.H., Rubin, C.S., and Rosen, O.M. (1982). Insulin activates a tyrosine-specific protein kinase in extracts of 3T3-L1 adipocytes and human placenta. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *79*, 6792.

Pinkas-Kramarski, R., Soussan, L., Waterman, H., Levkowitz, G., Alroy, I., Klapper, L., Lavi, S., Seger, R., Ratzkin, B.J., Sela, M., *et al.* (1996). Diversification of Neu differentiation factor and epidermal growth factor signaling by combinatorial receptor interactions. The EMBO Journal *15*, 2452-2467.

Plowman, G.D., Whitney, G.S., Neubauer, M.G., Green, J.M., McDonald, V.L., Todaro, G.J., and Shoyab, M. (1990). Molecular cloning and expression of an additional epidermal growth factor receptor-related gene. *87*, 4905-4909.

Ponzetto, C., Bardelli, A., Zhen, Z., Maina, F., dalla Zonca, P., Giordano, S., Graziani, A., Panayotou, G., and Comoglio, P.M. (1994). A multifunctional docking site mediates signaling and transformation by the hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor receptor family. Cell 77, 261-271.

Poulsen, T.T., Grandal, M.M., Skartved, N.J.O., Hald, R., Alifrangis, L., Koefoed, K., Lindsted, T., Frohlich, C., Pollmann, S.E., Eriksen, K.W., *et al.* (2017). Sym015: A Highly Efficacious Antibody Mixture against MET-Amplified Tumors. Clin Cancer Res *23*, 5923-5935.

Racz, P., Mink, M., Ordas, A., Cao, T., Szalma, S., Szauter, K.M., and Csiszar, K. (2009). The human orthologue of murine Mpzl3 with predicted adhesive and immune functions is a potential candidate gene for immune-related hereditary hair loss. Exp Dermatol *18*, 261-263. Rajadurai, C.V., Havrylov, S., Zaoui, K., Vaillancourt, R., Stuible, M., Naujokas, M., Zuo, D., Tremblay, M.L., and Park, M. (2012). Met receptor tyrosine kinase signals through a cortactin-Gab1 scaffold complex, to mediate invadopodia. *125*, 2940-2953. Ratcliffe, C.D.H., Siddiqui, N., Coelho, P.P., Laterreur, N., Cookey, T.N., Sonenberg, N., and Park, M. (2019). HGF-induced migration depends on the PI(3,4,5)P3-binding microexon-spliced variant of the Arf6 exchange factor cytohesin-1. J Cell Biol *218*, 285-298.

Recondo, G., Bahcall, M., Spurr, L.F., Che, J., Ricciuti, B., Leonardi, G.C., Lo, Y.C., Li, Y.Y., Lamberti, G., Nguyen, T., *et al.* (2020a). Molecular mechanisms of acquired resistance to MET tyrosine kinase inhibitors in patients with MET exon 14 mutant NSCLC. Clin Cancer Res. Recondo, G., Che, J., Jänne, P.A., and Awad, M.M. (2020b). Targeting MET Dysregulation in Cancer. Cancer Discovery *10*, 922-934.

Reddy, E.P., Reynolds, R.K., Santos, E., and Barbacid, M. (1982). A point mutation is responsible for the acquisition of transforming properties by the T24 human bladder carcinoma oncogene. Nature *300*, 149-152.

Rhoades Smith, K.E., and Bilen, M.A. (2019). A Review of Papillary Renal Cell Carcinoma and MET Inhibitors. Kidney Cancer *3*, 151-161.

Riedel, H., Dull, T.J., Honegger, A.M., Schlessinger, J., and Ullrich, A. (1989). Cytoplasmic domains determine signal specificity, cellular routing characteristics and influence ligand binding of epidermal growth factor and insulin receptors. The EMBO journal *8*, 2943-2954. Robinson, D.R., Wu, Y.-M., and Lin, S.-F. (2000). The protein tyrosine kinase family of the human genome. Oncogene *19*, 5548-5557.

Rodrigues, G.A., Naujokas, M.A., and Park, M. (1991). Alternative splicing generates isoforms of the met receptor tyrosine kinase which undergo differential processing. Molecular and Cellular Biology *11*, 2962-2970.

Rodrigues, G.A., and Park, M. (1993). Dimerization mediated through a leucine zipper activates the oncogenic potential of the met receptor tyrosine kinase. Mol Cell Biol *13*, 6711-6722. Rodrigues, G.A., and Park, M. (1994). Autophosphorylation modulates the kinase activity and oncogenic potential of the Met receptor tyrosine kinase. Oncogene *9*, 2019-2027.

Rohrbeck, L., Gong, J.-N., Lee, E.F., Kueh, A.J., Behren, A., Tai, L., Lessene, G., Huang, D.C.S., Fairlie, W.D., Strasser, A., *et al.* (2016). Hepatocyte growth factor renders BRAF mutant human melanoma cell lines resistant to PLX4032 by downregulating the pro-apoptotic BH3-only proteins PUMA and BIM. Cell Death & Differentiation *23*, 2054-2062.

Rong, S., Bodescot, M., Blair, D., Dunn, J., Nakamura, T., Mizuno, K., Park, M., Chan, A., Aaronson, S., and Vande Woude, G.F. (1992). Tumorigenicity of the met proto-oncogene and the gene for hepatocyte growth factor. *12*, 5152-5158.

Roper, N., Brown, A.-L., Wei, J.S., Pack, S., Trindade, C., Kim, C., Restifo, O., Gao, S., Sindiri, S., Mehrabadi, F., *et al.* (2020). Clonal Evolution and Heterogeneity of Osimertinib Acquired Resistance Mechanisms in EGFR Mutant Lung Cancer. Cell Reports Medicine *1*, 100007. Rosen, E.M., and Goldberg, I.D. (1997). Regulation of angiogenesis by scatter factor. Exs *79*, 193-208.

Roskoski, R. (2019). Properties of FDA-approved small molecule protein kinase inhibitors. Pharmacological Research 144, 19-50.

Roskoski, R.J. (2010). List of FDA-approved targeted small molecule protein kinase inhibitors. (brimr.org/PKI/PKIs.htm, Blue Ridge Institute for Medical Research).

Rowley, J.D. (1973). A New Consistent Chromosomal Abnormality in Chronic Myelogenous Leukaemia identified by Quinacrine Fluorescence and Giemsa Staining. Nature *243*, 290-293. Royal, I., and Park, M. (1995). Hepatocyte Growth Factor-induced Scatter of Madin-Darby Canine Kidney Cells Requires Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase. Journal of Biological Chemistry *270*, 27780-27787.

Sachs, M., Brohmann, H., Zechner, D., Müller, T., Hülsken, J., Walther, I., Schaeper, U., Birchmeier, C., and Birchmeier, W. (2000). Essential Role of Gab1 for Signaling by the C-Met Receptor in Vivo. The Journal of Cell Biology *150*, 1375-1384.

Sadowski, I., Stone, J.C., and Pawson, T. (1986). A noncatalytic domain conserved among cytoplasmic protein-tyrosine kinases modifies the kinase function and transforming activity of Fujinami sarcoma virus P130gag-fps. Molecular and Cellular Biology *6*, 4396-4408.

Sakamoto, O., Iwama, A., Amitani, R., Takehara, T., Yamaguchi, N., Yamamoto, T., Masuyama, K., Yamanaka, T., Ando, M., and Suda, T. (1997). Role of macrophage-stimulating protein and its receptor, RON tyrosine kinase, in ciliary motility. J Clin Invest *99*, 701-709.

Sameni, M., Tovar, E.A., Essenburg, C.J., Chalasani, A., Linklater, E.S., Borgman, A., Cherba, D.M., Anbalagan, A., Winn, M.E., Graveel, C.R., *et al.* (2016). Cabozantinib (XL184) Inhibits Growth and Invasion of Preclinical TNBC Models. Clin Cancer Res *22*, 923-934.

Sangwan, V., Abella, J., Lai, A., Bertos, N., Stuible, M., Tremblay, M.L., and Park, M. (2011). Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase 1B Modulates Early Endosome Fusion and Trafficking of Met and Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors. *286*, 45000-45013.

Sangwan, V., Paliouras, G.N., Abella, J.V., Dubé, N., Monast, A., Tremblay, M.L., and Park, M. (2008). Regulation of the Met Receptor-tyrosine Kinase by the Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase 1B and T-cell Phosphatase. Journal of Biological Chemistry *283*, 34374-34383.

Saucier, C., Papavasiliou, V., Palazzo, A., Naujokas, M.A., Kremer, R., and Park, M. (2002). Use of signal specific receptor tyrosine kinase oncoproteins reveals that pathways downstream from Grb2 or Shc are sufficient for cell transformation and metastasis. *21*, 1800-1811.

Scagliotti, G.V., Novello, S., and Von Pawel, J. (2013). The emerging role of MET/HGF inhibitors in oncology. *39*, 793-801.

Schaeper, U., Gehring, N.H., Fuchs, K.P., Sachs, M., Kempkes, B., and Birchmeier, W. (2000). Coupling of Gab1 to C-Met, Grb2, and Shp2 Mediates Biological Responses. *149*, 1419-1432. Schaffer, B.E., Levin, R.S., Hertz, N.T., Maures, T.J., Schoof, M.L., Hollstein, P.E., Benayoun, B.A., Banko, M.R., Shaw, R.J., Shokat, K.M., *et al.* (2015). Identification of AMPK Phosphorylation Sites Reveals a Network of Proteins Involved in Cell Invasion and Facilitates Large-Scale Substrate Prediction. Cell Metab *22*, 907-921.

Schlessinger, J. (2014). Receptor tyrosine kinases: legacy of the first two decades. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol *6*.

Schmidt, C., Bladt, F., Goedecke, S., Brinkmann, V., Zschiesche, W., Sharpe, M., Gherardi, E., and Birchmeier, C. (1995). Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor is essential for liver development. Nature *373*, 699-702.

Schmidt, L., Duh, F.-M., Chen, F., Kishida, T., Glenn, G., Choyke, P., Scherer, S.W., Zhuang, Z., Lubensky, I., Dean, M., *et al.* (1997). Germline and somatic mutations in the tyrosine kinase domain of the MET proto-oncogene in papillary renal carcinomas. Nature Genetics *16*, 68-73. Scolnick, E.M., and Parks, W.P. (1973). Isolation and characterization of a primate sarcoma virus: Mechanism of rescue. *12*, 138-147.

Sefton, B.M., and Hunter, T. (1986). From c-src to v-src, or the case of the missing C terminus. Cancer Surv *5*, 159-172. Sekiya, F., Poulin, B., Kim, Y.J., and Rhee, S.G. (2004). Mechanism of Tyrosine Phosphorylation and Activation of Phospholipase C-γ1. Journal of Biological Chemistry *279*, 32181-32190. Sequist, L.V., Han, J.Y., Ahn, M.J., Cho, B.C., Yu, H., Kim, S.W., Yang, J.C., Lee, J.S., Su, W.C., Kowalski, D., *et al.* (2020). Osimertinib plus savolitinib in patients with EGFR mutation-positive, MET-amplified, non-small-cell lung cancer after progression on EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors: interim results from a multicentre, open-label, phase 1b study. Lancet Oncol *21*, 373-386. Shah, K., Liu, Y., Deirmengian, C., and Shokat, K.M. (1997). Engineering unnatural nucleotide specificity for Rous sarcoma virus tyrosine kinase to uniquely label its direct substrates. *94*, 3565-3570.

Shah, N.H., Wang, Q., Yan, Q., Karandur, D., Kadlecek, T.A., Fallahee, I.R., Russ, W.P., Ranganathan, R., Weiss, A., and Kuriyan, J. (2016). An electrostatic selection mechanism controls sequential kinase signaling downstream of the T cell receptor. *5*.

Shalloway, D., and Taylor, S.J. (1997). Src: more than the sum of its parts. Trends in Cell Biology 7, 215-217.

Shi, F., Telesco, S.E., Liu, Y., Radhakrishnan, R., and Lemmon, M.A. (2010). ErbB3/HER3 intracellular domain is competent to bind ATP and catalyze autophosphorylation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *107*, 7692-7697.

Shibuya, M., and Claessonwelsh, L. (2006). Signal transduction by VEGF receptors in regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Experimental Cell Research *312*, 549-560.

Shih, C., and Weinberg, R.A. (1982). Isolation of a transforming sequence from a human bladder carcinoma cell line. Cell *29*, 161-169.

Sicheri, F., Moarefi, I., and Kuriyan, J. (1997). Crystal structure of the Src family tyrosine kinase Hck. *385*, 602-609.

Siegfried, J.M., Weissfeld, L.A., Singh-Kaw, P., Weyant, R.J., Testa, J.R., and Landreneau, R.J. (1997). Association of immunoreactive hepatocyte growth factor with poor survival in resectable non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res *57*, 433-439.

Simister, P.C., and Feller, S.M. (2012). Order and disorder in large multi-site docking proteins of the Gab family—implications for signalling complex formation and inhibitor design strategies. *8*, 33-46.

Slamon, D., Clark, G., Wong, S., Levin, W., Ullrich, A., and McGuire, W. (1987). Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. Science *235*, 177-182.

Sliwkowski, M.X., Schaefer, G., Akita, R.W., Lofgren, J.A., Fitzpatrick, V.D., Nuijens, A., Fendly, B.M., Cerione, R.A., Vandlen, R.L., and Carraway, K.L., 3rd (1994). Coexpression of erbB2 and erbB3 proteins reconstitutes a high affinity receptor for heregulin. J Biol Chem *269*, 14661-14665.

Smith, D.R., Vogt, P.K., and Hayman, M.J. (1989). The v-sea oncogene of avian erythroblastosis retrovirus S13: Another member of the protein-tyrosine kinase gene family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *86*, 5291-5295.

Smolen, G.A., Sordella, R., Muir, B., Mohapatra, G., Barmettler, A., Archibald, H., Kim, W.J., Okimoto, R.A., Bell, D.W., Sgroi, D.C., *et al.* (2006). Amplification of MET may identify a subset of cancers with extreme sensitivity to the selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor PHA-665752. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 2316-2321.

Sohn, J., Liu, S., Parinyanitikul, N., Lee, J., Hortobagyi, G.N., Mills, G.B., Ueno, N.T., and Gonzalez-Angulo, A.M. (2014). cMET Activation and EGFR-Directed Therapy Resistance in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. J Cancer *5*, 745-753.

Solomon, B.J., Kim, D.-W., Wu, Y.-L., Nakagawa, K., Mekhail, T., Felip, E., Cappuzzo, F., Paolini, J., Usari, T., Tang, Y., *et al.* (2018). Final Overall Survival Analysis From a Study Comparing First-Line Crizotinib Versus Chemotherapy in ALK-Mutation-Positive Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology *36*, 2251-2258.

Soltoff, S.P., Carraway, K.L., Prigent, S.A., Gullick, W.G., and Cantley, L.C. (1994). ErbB3 is involved in activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase by epidermal growth factor. Molecular and Cellular Biology *14*, 3550-3558.

Soo, R.A., Lim, S.M., Syn, N.L., Teng, R., Soong, R., Mok, T.S.K., and Cho, B.C. (2018). Immune checkpoint inhibitors in epidermal growth factor receptor mutant non-small cell lung cancer: Current controversies and future directions. Lung Cancer *115*, 12-20.

Soong, J., and Scott, G. (2013). Plexin B1 inhibits MET through direct association and regulates Shp2 expression in melanocytes. J Cell Sci *126*, 688-695.

Spigel, D.R., Edelman, M.J., Mok, T., O'Byrne, K., Paz-Ares, L., Yu, W., Rittweger, K., and Thurm, H. (2012). Treatment Rationale Study Design for the MetLung Trial: A Randomized, Double-Blind Phase III Study of Onartuzumab (MetMAb) in Combination With Erlotinib Versus Erlotinib Alone in Patients Who Have Received Standard Chemotherapy for Stage IIIB or IV Met-Positive Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *13*, 500-504.

Spigel, D.R., Edelman, M.J., O'Byrne, K., Paz-Ares, L., Mocci, S., Phan, S., Shames, D.S., Smith, D., Yu, W., Paton, V.E., *et al.* (2017). Results From the Phase III Randomized Trial of Onartuzumab Plus Erlotinib Versus Erlotinib in Previously Treated Stage IIIB or IV Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer: METLung. Journal of Clinical Oncology *35*, 412-420.

Spigel, D.R., Ervin, T.J., Ramlau, R.A., Daniel, D.B., Goldschmidt, J.H., Jr., Blumenschein, G.R., Jr., Krzakowski, M.J., Robinet, G., Godbert, B., Barlesi, F., *et al.* (2013). Randomized phase II trial of Onartuzumab in combination with erlotinib in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol *31*, 4105-4114.

Stamateris, R.E., Sharma, R.B., Kong, Y., Ebrahimpour, P., Panday, D., Ranganath, P., Zou, B., Levitt, H., Parambil, N.A., O'Donnell, C.P., *et al.* (2016). Glucose Induces Mouse β -Cell Proliferation via IRS2, MTOR, and Cyclin D2 but Not the Insulin Receptor. Diabetes *65*, 981-995. Stamos, J., Lazarus, R.A., Yao, X., Kirchhofer, D., and Wiesmann, C. (2004). Crystal structure of the HGF β -chain in complex with the Sema domain of the Met receptor. The EMBO Journal *23*, 2325-2335.

Stehelin, D., Varmus, H.E., Bishop, J.M., and Vogt, P.K. (1976). DNA related to the transforming gene(s) of avian sarcoma viruses is present in normal avian DNA. Nature *260*, 170-173.

Steinkamp, M.P., Low-Nam, S.T., Yang, S., Lidke, K.A., Lidke, D.S., and Wilson, B.S. (2014). erbB3 Is an Active Tyrosine Kinase Capable of Homo- and Heterointeractions. *34*, 965-977.

Stocklin, E., Botteri, F., and Groner, B. (1993). An activated allele of the c-erbB-2 oncogene impairs kidney and lung function and causes early death of transgenic mice. J Cell Biol *122*, 199-208.

Stoker, M., Gherardi, E., Perryman, M., and Gray, J. (1987). Scatter factor is a fibroblast-derived modulator of epithelial cell mobility. *327*, 239-242.

Stuible, M., Abella, J.V., Feldhammer, M., Nossov, M., Sangwan, V., Blagoev, B., Park, M., and Tremblay, M.L. (2010). PTP1B Targets the Endosomal Sorting Machinery. Journal of Biological Chemistry *285*, 23899-23907.

Su, M., Hu, R., Song, Y., Liu, Y., and Lai, L. (2018). Targeted deletion of c-Met in thymic epithelial cells leads to an autoimmune phenotype. Immunology and Cell Biology *96*, 229-235.

Sung, V.Y.C. (2019). Mechanisms of MET-dependent tumour initiation and progression. In Biochemistry (Montreal, QC Canada, McGill University), p. 149.

Sung, V.Y.C., Duhamel, S., Knight, J.F., Johnson, R.M., Stern, Y.E., Saleh, S.M., Savage, P., Monast, A., Zuo, D., and Park, M. (In press). Co-dependency for MET and FGFR1 in mesenchymal basal triple negative breast cancers. npj Breast Cancer.

Sweeney, C., Fambrough, D., Huard, C., Diamonti, A.J., Lander, E.S., Cantley, L.C., and Carraway, K.L. (2001). Growth Factor-specific Signaling Pathway Stimulation and Gene Expression

Mediated by ErbB Receptors. Journal of Biological Chemistry *276*, 22685-22698. Sweet, L.J., Morrison, B.D., Wilden, P.A., and Pessin, J.E. (1987). Insulin-dependent intermolecular subunit communication between isolated alpha beta heterodimeric insulin receptor complexes. J Biol Chem *262*, 16730-16738.

Szabolcs, M., Keniry, M., Simpson, L., Reid, L.J., Koujak, S., Schiff, S.C., Davidian, G., Licata, S., Gruvberger-Saal, S., Murty, V.V., *et al.* (2009). Irs2 inactivation suppresses tumor progression in Pten+/- mice. Am J Pathol *174*, 276-286.

Szklarczyk, D., Gable, A.L., Lyon, D., Junge, A., Wyder, S., Huerta-Cepas, J., Simonovic, M., Doncheva, N.T., Morris, J.H., Bork, P., *et al.* (2019a). STRING v11: protein–protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. Nucleic Acids Research *47*, D607-D613.

Szklarczyk, D., Gable, A.L., Lyon, D., Junge, A., Wyder, S., Huerta-Cepas, J., Simonovic, M., Doncheva, N.T., Morris, J.H., Bork, P., *et al.* (2019b). STRING v11: protein-protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. Nucleic Acids Res *47*, D607-d613.

Tabernero, J., Elez, M.E., Herranz, M., Rico, I., Prudkin, L., Andreu, J., Mateos, J., Carreras, M.J., Han, M., Gifford, J., *et al.* (2014). A Pharmacodynamic/Pharmacokinetic Study of Ficlatuzumab in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors and Liver Metastases. Clinical Cancer Research *20*, 2793-2804.

Tammela, T., Zarkada, G., Wallgard, E., Murtomäki, A., Suchting, S., Wirzenius, M., Waltari, M., Hellström, M., Schomber, T., Peltonen, R., *et al.* (2008). Blocking VEGFR-3 suppresses angiogenic sprouting and vascular network formation. Nature *454*, 656-660.

Tan, P.B.O., and Kim, S.K. (1999). Signaling specificity: the RTK/RAS/MAP kinase pathway in metazoans. Trends in Genetics *15*, 145-149.

Tanizaki, J., Okamoto, I., Okamoto, K., Takezawa, K., Kuwata, K., Yamaguchi, H., and Nakagawa, K. (2011a). MET tyrosine kinase inhibitor crizotinib (PF-02341066) shows differential antitumor effects in non-small cell lung cancer according to MET alterations. J Thorac Oncol *6*, 1624-1631. Tanizaki, J., Okamoto, I., Sakai, K., and Nakagawa, K. (2011b). Differential roles of transphosphorylated EGFR, HER2, HER3, and RET as heterodimerisation partners of MET in lung cancer with MET amplification. Br J Cancer *105*, 807-813.

Tarasov, A., Vilella, A.J., Cuppen, E., Nijman, I.J., and Prins, P. (2015). Sambamba: fast processing of NGS alignment formats. *31*, 2032-2034.

Tashiro, K., Tsunematsu, T., Okubo, H., Ohta, T., Sano, E., Yamauchi, E., Taniguchi, H., and Konishi, H. (2009). GAREM, a Novel Adaptor Protein for Growth Factor Receptor-bound Protein 2, Contributes to Cellular Transformation through the Activation of Extracellular Signalregulated Kinase Signaling. *284*, 20206-20214.

Taylor, H., Campbell, J., and Nobes, C.D. (2017). Ephs and ephrins. Current Biology *27*, R90-R95. Tice, D.A., Biscardi, J.S., Nickles, A.L., and Parsons, S.J. (1999). Mechanism of biological synergy between cellular Src and epidermal growth factor receptor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *96*, 1415-1420.

Tong, J.H., Yeung, S.F., Chan, A.W.H., Chung, L.Y., Chau, S.L., Lung, R.W.M., Tong, C.Y., Chow, C., Tin, E.K.Y., Yu, Y.H., *et al.* (2016). MET Amplification and Exon 14 Splice Site Mutation Define Unique Molecular Subgroups of Non–Small Cell Lung Carcinoma with Poor Prognosis. Clinical Cancer Research *22*, 3048.

Treisman, R., Novak, U., Favaloro, J., and Kamen, R. (1981). Transformation of rat cells by an altered polyoma virus genome expressing only the middle-T protein. Nature *292*, 595-600. Tuck, A.B., Park, M., Sterns, E.E., Boag, A., and Elliott, B.E. (1996). Coexpression of hepatocyte growth factor and receptor (Met) in human breast carcinoma. Am J Pathol *148*, 225-232. Tukey, J.W. (1949). Comparing Individual Means in the Analysis of Variance. Biometrics *5*, 99-114.

Turler, H. (1980). The tumor antigens and the early functions of polyoma virus. Mol Cell Biochem *32*, 63-93.

Uehara, Y., Minowa, O., Mori, C., Shiota, K., Kuno, J., Noda, T., and Kitamura, N. (1995). Placental defect and embryonic lethality in mice lacking hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. *373*, 702-705.

Uemura, S., Wang, L., Tsuda, M., Suzuka, J., Tanikawa, S., Sugino, H., Nakamura, T., Mitsuhashi, T., Hirano, S., and Tanaka, S. (2020). Signaling adaptor protein Crk is involved in malignant feature of pancreatic cancer associated with phosphorylation of c-Met. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *524*, 378-384.

Ullrich, A., Bell, J.R., Chen, E.Y., Herrera, R., Petruzzelli, L.M., Dull, T.J., Gray, A., Coussens, L., Liao, Y.C., Tsubokawa, M., *et al.* (1985). Human insulin receptor and its relationship to the tyrosine kinase family of oncogenes. Nature *313*, 756-761.

Ullrich, A., and Schlessinger, J. (1990). Signal transduction by receptors with tyrosine kinase activity. Cell *61*, 203-212.

Ushiro, H., and Cohen, S. (1980). Identification of phosphotyrosine as a product of epidermal growth factor-activated protein kinase in A-431 cell membranes. J Biol Chem *255*, 8363-8365. Valiathan, R.R., Marco, M., Leitinger, B., Kleer, C.G., and Fridman, R. (2012). Discoidin domain receptor tyrosine kinases: new players in cancer progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev *31*, 295-321.

Van Lengerich, B., Agnew, C., Puchner, E.M., Huang, B., and Jura, N. (2017). EGF and NRG induce phosphorylation of HER3/ERBB3 by EGFR using distinct oligomeric mechanisms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *114*, E2836-E2845.

Wang, S.X.Y., Zhang, B.M., Wakelee, H.A., Koontz, M.Z., Pan, M., Diehn, M., Kunder, C.A., and Neal, J.W. (2019). Case series of MET exon 14 skipping mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancers with response to crizotinib and cabozantinib. Anti-Cancer Drugs *30*, 537-541.

Waskow, C., Paul, S., Haller, C., Gassmann, M., and Rodewald, H.-R. (2002). Viable c-KitW/W Mutants Reveal Pivotal Role for c-Kit in the Maintenance of Lymphopoiesis. *17*, 277-288. Watanabe, T. (2006). Adaptor Molecule Crk Is Required for Sustained Phosphorylation of Grb2-Associated Binder 1 and Hepatocyte Growth Factor-Induced Cell Motility of Human Synovial Sarcoma Cell Lines. *4*, 499-510.

Waterfield, M.D., Scrace, G.T., Whittle, N., Stroobant, P., Johnsson, A., Wasteson, Å., Westermark, B., Heldin, C.-H., Huang, J.S., and Deuel, T.F. (1983). Platelet-derived growth factor is structurally related to the putative transforming protein p28sis of simian sarcoma virus. Nature *304*, 35-39.

Weidner, K.M., Behrens, J., Vandekerckhove, J., and Birchmeier, W. (1990). Scatter factor: molecular characteristics and effect on the invasiveness of epithelial cells. The Journal of Cell Biology *111*, 2097-2108.

Weidner, K.M., Di Cesare, S., Sachs, M., Brinkmann, V., Behrens, J., and Birchmeier, W. (1996). Interaction between Gab1 and the c-Met receptor tyrosine kinase is responsible for epithelial morphogenesis. *384*, 173-176.

Weinberg, R.A. (1983). Transforming Genes of Tumor Cells. (Elsevier), pp. 191-202. Weinstein, J.N., Collisson, E.A., Mills, G.B., Shaw, K.R.M., Ozenberger, B.A., Ellrott, K., Shmulevich, I., Sander, C., and Stuart, J.M. (2013). The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer analysis project. Nature Genetics *45*, 1113-1120.

Welsh, N., Makeeva, N., and Welsh, M. (2002). Overexpression of the Shb SH2 Domain-Protein in Insulin-Producing Cells Leads to Altered Signaling Through the IRS-1 and IRS-2 Proteins. Molecular Medicine *8*, 695-704.

White, M.F., Shoelson, S.E., Keutmann, H., and Kahn, C.R. (1988). A cascade of tyrosine autophosphorylation in the beta-subunit activates the phosphotransferase of the insulin receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry *263*, 2969-2980.

Wikramanayake, T.C., Borda, L.J., Kirsner, R.S., Wang, Y., Duffort, S., Reyes-Capo, A., Barsam, A., Urbieta, M., and Perez, V.L. (2017). Loss of MPZL3 function causes seborrhoeic dermatitis-like phenotype in mice. Exp Dermatol *26*, 736-738.

Witte, O.N., Dasgupta, A., and Baltimore, D. (1980a). Abelson murine leukaemia virus protein is phosphorylated in vitro to form phosphotyrosine. Nature *283*, 826-831.

Witte, O.N., Goff, S., Rosenberg, N., and Baltimore, D. (1980b). A transformation-defective mutant of Abelson murine leukemia virus lacks protein kinase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77, 4993-4997.

Witte, O.N., Rosenberg, N.E., and Baltimore, D. (1979). A normal cell protein cross-reactive to the major Abelson murine leukaemia virus gene product. *281*, 396-398.

Witucki, L.A., Huang, X., Shah, K., Liu, Y., Kyin, S., Eck, M.J., and Shokat, K.M. (2002). Mutant tyrosine kinases with unnatural nucleotide specificity retain the structure and phosphoacceptor specificity of the wild-type enzyme. Chem Biol *9*, 25-33.

Woodgett, J.R. (1989). Early gene induction by growth factors. Br Med Bull *45*, 529-540. Woolfrey, J.R., and Weston, G.S. (2002). The use of computational methods in the discovery and design of kinase inhibitors. Curr Pharm Des *8*, 1527-1545.

Wullich, B., Müller, H.-W., Fischer, U., Zang, K.-D., and Meese, E. (1993). Amplified met gene linked to double minutes in human glioblastoma. *29*, 1991-1995.

Xiang, Q., Chen, W., Ren, M., Wang, J., Zhang, H., Deng, D.Y.B., Zhang, L., Shang, C., and Chen, Y. (2014). Cabozantinib Suppresses Tumor Growth and Metastasis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma by a Dual Blockade of VEGFR2 and MET. Clinical Cancer Research *20*, 2959-2970.

Xie, Q., Bradley, R., Kang, L., Koeman, J., Ascierto, M.L., Worschech, A., De Giorgi, V., Wang, E., Kefene, L., Su, Y., *et al.* (2012). Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) autocrine activation predicts sensitivity to MET inhibition in glioblastoma. *109*, 570-575.

Xin, X., Yang, S., Ingle, G., Zlot, C., Rangell, L., Kowalski, J., Schwall, R., Ferrara, N., and Gerritsen, M.E. (2001). Hepatocyte Growth Factor Enhances Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-Induced Angiogenesis in Vitro and in Vivo. *158*, 1111-1120.

Xu, L., Kikuchi, E., Xu, C., Ebi, H., Ercan, D., Cheng, K.A., Padera, R., Engelman, J.A., Janne, P.A., Shapiro, G.I., *et al.* (2012). Combined EGFR/MET or EGFR/HSP90 inhibition is effective in the treatment of lung cancers codriven by mutant EGFR containing T790M and MET. Cancer Res *72*, 3302-3311.

Xu, W., Harrison, S.C., and Eck, M.J. (1997). Three-dimensional structure of the tyrosine kinase c-Src. Nature *385*, 595-602.

Yakes, F.M., Chen, J., Tan, J., Yamaguchi, K., Shi, Y., Yu, P., Qian, F., Chu, F., Bentzien, F., Cancilla, B., *et al.* (2011). Cabozantinib (XL184), a Novel MET and VEGFR2 Inhibitor, Simultaneously Suppresses Metastasis, Angiogenesis, and Tumor Growth. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics *10*, 2298-2308.

Yamaoka, T., Kusumoto, S., Ando, K., Ohba, M., and Ohmori, T. (2018). Receptor Tyrosine Kinase-Targeted Cancer Therapy. Int J Mol Sci *19*.

Yamaoka, T., Ohmori, T., Ohba, M., Arata, S., Kishino, Y., Murata, Y., Kusumoto, S., Ishida, H., Shirai, T., Hirose, T., *et al.* (2016). Acquired Resistance Mechanisms to Combination Met-TKI/EGFR-TKI Exposure in Met-Amplified EGFR-TKI–Resistant Lung Adenocarcinoma Harboring an Activating EGFR Mutation. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics *15*, 3040-3054.

Yamashita, J., Ogawa, M., Yamashita, S., Nomura, K., Kuramoto, M., Saishoji, T., and Shin, S. (1994). Immunoreactive hepatocyte growth factor is a strong and independent predictor of recurrence and survival in human breast cancer. Cancer Res *54*, 1630-1633.

Yang, X.M., Vogan, K., Gros, P., and Park, M. (1996). Expression of the met receptor tyrosine kinase in muscle progenitor cells in somites and limbs is absent in Splotch mice. Development *122*, 2163.

Yao, Z., Aboualizadeh, F., Kroll, J., Akula, I., Snider, J., Lyakisheva, A., Tang, P., Kotlyar, M., Jurisica, I., Boxem, M., *et al.* (2020). Split Intein-Mediated Protein Ligation for detecting protein-protein interactions and their inhibition. Nature Communications *11*.

Yarden, Y., and Schlessinger, J. (1987). Epidermal growth factor induces rapid, reversible aggregation of the purified epidermal growth factor receptor. Biochemistry *26*, 1443-1451. Yarden, Y., and Sliwkowski, M.X. (2001). Untangling the ErbB signalling network. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *2*, 127-137.

Yonemura, Y., Nojima, N., Kaji, M., Kawamura, T., Fushida, S., Fujimura, T., Itoh, H., Fujita, H., Miyazaki, J., Endou, Y., *et al.* (1997). E-cadherin and c-met expression as a prognostic factor in gastric cancer. Oncol Rep *4*, 743-748.

Zanetti-Domingues, L.C., Korovesis, D., Needham, S.R., Tynan, C.J., Sagawa, S., Roberts, S.K., Kuzmanic, A., Ortiz-Zapater, E., Jain, P., Roovers, R.C., *et al.* (2018). The architecture of EGFR's

basal complexes reveals autoinhibition mechanisms in dimers and oligomers. Nature Communications 9.

Zaoui, K., Duhamel, S., Parachoniak, C.A., and Park, M. (2019a). CLIP-170 spatially modulates receptor tyrosine kinase recycling to coordinate cell migration. Traffic *20*, 187-201. Zaoui, K., Rajadurai, C.V., Duhamel, S., and Park, M. (2019b). Arf6 regulates RhoB subcellular localization to control cancer cell invasion. The Journal of Cell Biology, jcb.201806111. Zhang, G., and Neubert, T.A. (2009). Use of Stable Isotope Labeling by Amino Acids in Cell Culture (SILAC) for Phosphotyrosine Protein Identification and Quantitation. (Humana Press), pp. 79-92.

Zhang, X., Gureasko, J., Shen, K., Cole, P.A., and Kuriyan, J. (2006). An allosteric mechanism for activation of the kinase domain of epidermal growth factor receptor. Cell *125*, 1137-1149. Zhang, X., Zhang, S., Yang, X., Yang, J., Zhou, Q., Yin, L., An, S., Lin, J., Chen, S., Xie, Z., *et al.* (2010). Fusion of EML4 and ALK is associated with development of lung adenocarcinomas lacking EGFR and KRAS mutations and is correlated with ALK expression. *9*, 188.

Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Wang, Y., Xu, Y., Tian, Y., Huang, M., and Lu, Y. (2015). Response to Crizotinib Observed in Lung Adenocarcinoma with MET Copy Number Gain but without a High-Level MET/CEP7 Ratio, MET Overexpression, or Exon 14 Splicing Mutations.

Zhang, Y.-W., Su, Y., Lanning, N., Gustafson, M., Shinomiya, N., Zhao, P., Cao, B., Tsarfaty, G., Wang, L.-M., Hay, R., *et al.* (2005). Enhanced growth of human met-expressing xenografts in a new strain of immunocompromised mice transgenic for human hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. *24*, 101-106.

Zhang, Y.W., Staal, B., Essenburg, C., Lewis, S., Kaufman, D., and Vande Woude, G.F. (2013). Strengthening context-dependent anticancer effects on non-small cell lung carcinoma by inhibition of both MET and EGFR. Mol Cancer Ther *12*, 1429-1441.

Zhao, R., and Zhao, Z.J. (2000). Dissecting the interaction of SHP-2 with PZR, an immunoglobulin family protein containing immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs. J Biol Chem *275*, 5453-5459.

Zhao, Z.J., and Zhao, R. (1998). Purification and cloning of PZR, a binding protein and putative physiological substrate of tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2. J Biol Chem *273*, 29367-29372. Zhou, M.M., and Fesik, S.W. (1995). Structure and function of the phosphotyrosine binding (PTB) domain. Prog Biophys Mol Biol *64*, 221-235.

Zhu, H., Naujokas, M.A., Fixman, E.D., Torossian, K., and Park, M. (1994). Tyrosine 1356 in the carboxyl-terminal tail of the HGF/SF receptor is essential for the transduction of signals for cell motility and morphogenesis. Journal of Biological Chemistry *269*, 29943-29948.

Zou, H.Y., Li, Q., Lee, J.H., Arango, M.E., McDonnell, S.R., Yamazaki, S., Koudriakova, T.B., Alton, G., Cui, J.J., Kung, P.P., *et al.* (2007). An Orally Available Small-Molecule Inhibitor of c-Met, PF-2341066, Exhibits Cytoreductive Antitumor Efficacy through Antiproliferative and Antiangiogenic Mechanisms. Cancer Research *67*, 4408-4417.

Zsebo, K.M., Williams, D.A., Geissler, E.N., Broudy, V.C., Martin, F.H., Atkins, H.L., Hsu, R.-Y., Birkett, N.C., Okino, K.H., Murdock, D.C., *et al.* (1990). Stem cell factor is encoded at the SI locus of the mouse and is the ligand for the c-kit tyrosine kinase receptor. Cell *63*, 213-224.